
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

October 7, 2020 
2:00 p.m. 

Dial:  301-715-8592 
Meeting ID: 870 1348 8257 

Password: 362173 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

I. Call to Order Taylor Jones 

A. Roll Call  

B. Pledge of Allegiance   

C. Our Mission and Vision Barbara Sowada 

D. Mission Moment Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer 

II. Agenda (For Approval) Taylor Jones 

III. Minutes (For Approval) Taylor Jones 

IV. Community Communication  Taylor Jones 

V. Old Business  Taylor Jones 

A. COVID-19 Preparation and Recovery 

1. Incident Command Team Update Kim White, Incident Commander 

B. Outstanding – Not Ready for Board Consideration (Placed on the agenda as a reminder of 
uncompleted business) 

1. Credentialing Criteria (presented following approval of new medical staff bylaws) 

2. Employee Policies (from the Human Resources Committee) 

a. Employee Corrective Action Richard Mathey 

b. Introductory Period Richard Mathey 

VI. New Business  Taylor Jones  

A. FY20 Audit Report (For Approval) Darryn McGarvey and Dan Deyle/CliftonLarsonAllen 

B. Board Policy (from the Governance Committee) (For Review)       Barbara Sowada 

1. Maintenance of Board and Board Committee Meeting Minutes 

C. Employee Policy (from the Human Resources Committee) (For Review)  Ed Tardoni  

1. Political Activity 

VII. Chief Executive Officer Report  Irene Richardson 

VIII.  Committee Reports 

A. Quality Committee Marty Kelsey 

B. Human Resources Committee  Ed Tardoni 

C. Finance & Audit Committee Richard Mathey  

1. Capital Expenditure Requests (For Approval) 

2. State Loan and Investment Board Capital Expenditure Requests (For Ratification) 

3. Bad Debt (For Approval) 

1/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

October 7, 2020 
2:00 p.m. 

Dial:  301-715-8592 
Meeting ID: 870 1348 8257 

Password: 362173 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

September Committee Meeting Information 

D. Building & Grounds Committee Marty Kelsey 

E. Foundation Board Taylor Jones 

F. Compliance Committee Ed Tardoni 

G. Governance Committee Barbara Sowada 

H. Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee Taylor Jones 

I. Joint Conference Committee Richard Mathey 

IX. Contract Review Suzan Campbell, In-House Counsel 

A. Contract Consent Agenda (For Approval)  

1. Experian Health Master Customer Agreement 

X. Medical Staff Report Dr. Lawrence Lauridsen, Medical Staff President  

XI. Good of the Order Taylor Jones 

XII. Executive Session (W.S. §16-4-405(a)(ix)) Taylor Jones 

XIII. Action Following Executive Session Taylor Jones  

XIV. Adjourn Taylor Jones 

2/250



 

Our Mission 

Compassionate care for every 
life we touch. 

 

Our Vision 

To be our community’s trusted 
healthcare leader. 

 

Our Values 

Be Kind 

Be Respectful 

Be Accountable 

Work Collaboratively 

Embrace Excellence 
 

Our Strategies 

Patient Experience 

Workplace Experience 

Quality & Safety 

Growth, Opportunity & Community 

Financial Stewardship 

 

 

3/250



 

MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

September 2, 2020 
 

 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met via Zoom in regular 

session on September 2, 2020, at 2:00 PM with Mr. Taylor Jones, President, presiding. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Mr. Jones called the meeting to order and announced there was a quorum. The following Trustees 

were present online: Mr. Taylor Jones, Mr. Marty Kelsey, Mr. Richard Mathey, Dr. Barbara 

Sowada, and Mr. Ed Tardoni. 

 

Officially present: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer; Dr. Lawrence Lauridsen, 

Medical Staff President; and Mr. Jim Phillips, Legal Counsel. 

 

Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Mr. Jones led the attendees in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Our Mission and Vision 

 

Mr. Mathey read aloud the mission and vision statements.  

 

Mission Moment 

 

Ms. Richardson said we received a call from the husband of a patient who called to say some very 

kind words about Dr. Banu Symington. The husband called to let us know that his wife is doing 

fantastic and how much they both love Dr. Symington and appreciate her. He said she is a “doctor” 

and emphasized the word doctor, said, “love her” and she has done amazing things for his wife. 

He said we are very lucky to have Dr. Symington here. Ms. Richardson said this story goes right 

along with our mission. Mr. Jones said he knows there are lots of good things going on and it is 

always good to hear about it. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

The motion to approve the agenda as presented was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Mathey. 

Motion carried. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

The motion to approve the minutes of the August 5, 2020, regular meeting as presented was made 

by Mr. Mathey; second by Dr. Sowada. Motion carried. The motion to approve the minutes of the 

August 12, 2020, special meeting as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. Tardoni.  

Dr. Sowada said Mr. Jake Blevins from ST&B Engineering was in attendance at the meeting and 

requested he be listed as a guest at the meeting. Mr. Kelsey amended his motion to include Mr. 

4/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 2, 2020 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 2 

Blevins as a guest at the meeting and Mr. Tardoni amended his second. Motion carried. The 

minutes were approved as corrected. 

 

COMMUNITY COMMUNICATION 

 

There were no comments. 

 

OLD BUSINESS 
 

COVID-19 Preparation and Recovery - Incident Command Team Update 

Ms. Kim White, Incident Command, said we have some good news. She said we have not been 

able to purchase any of our normal N95 masks, however we have been able to order reusable Envo 

masks and we have 320 in our supply. They have disposable filters and we feel good about having 

those.  Ms. White said that so far we have performed 6,440 tests with a 4.4% positive rate. In the 

last two weeks, we have done 757 tests with only 16 positive. Our positive rate dropped to 2.2% 

in the past two weeks. She said this is great for our community especially with school starting. Ms. 

White gave a shout out to Dr. Cielette Karn who is working very hard with public health and school 

districts and that is working very well. Dr. Sowada asked if everyone saw in the Rocket-Miner last 

week that Ms. White and a couple of additional nurses received awards. Ms. White said the whole 

team received the Collaborative Practice Award. She said the brainpower on that team has been 

phenomenal and they have been working hard. Mr. Jones said we appreciate everything they are 

doing. Mr. Kelsey said he spent the last couple of weeks at Rock Springs High School. He said the 

students and the staff are very obedient to the requirement of mask wearing, there has been a lot 

of cooperation, and he thinks that bodes well for our community. Ms. White said she has kids in 

school and they said they don’t really mind wearing the masks. She said everyone wants everything 

to be open so they are willing to wear the masks.  

 

Employee Policy – Cultural Diversity 

 

Mr. Tardoni said this policy originated with the hospital staff. The Human Resources Committee 

voted on it and it is up for approval by the Board at this time. Motion to approve the policy was 

made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Dr. Sowada. Motion carried. 

 

Board Policy – Attendance at Board Committee Meetings 
 

Dr. Sowada said this policy basically speaks to our ability to attend other committee meetings as 

desired and to substitute for people who are not able to attend. The substitution is at the pleasure 

of the President of the Board. She said she thinks the policy is straightforward and does comply 

with the Wyoming Meetings Act. She said this is the second reading. The motion to approve the 

policy as written was made by Dr. Sowada; second by Mr. Mathey. Mr. Kelsey said he thinks this 

is a big improvement over the way it was previously worded and thinks the changes made reflect 

the concerns he had so he is supportive of the new policy. Mr. Mathey noted a typo in paragraph 

4 “all board and committee meetings.” Dr. Sowada amended her motion to include the correction; 

Mr. Mathey amended his second. Motion carried. The policy was approved with the spelling 

correction. 

 

  

5/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 2, 2020 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 3 

Termination and Appeal Policy Update 
 

Mr. Mathey said the policy remains pretty much as it was the last time the Board looked at it. He 

said the Medical Staff Bylaws are in the works and have been for quite some time. He said it is 

down to some narrow issues and one is how to treat non-physician practitioners and whether they 

should be members of the Medical Staff or not. Mr. Mathey said that has ramifications for the 

Termination and Appeal Policy. He said the other question has to do with complaints against 

employed physicians and whether those complaints fall under medial executive, HR, contract 

rights – that is a matter for the Medical Staff to decide. Mr. Mathey said he doesn’t think that 

particular matter will make any difference on the Termination and Appeal Policy. The part this 

policy plays both under Medical Staff Bylaws and under the case of employed physicians is if 

there is a defense inserted based on a constitutionally supported category. If a doctor has an action 

against his or her privileges taken, there is a hearing and appeal process but that hearing and appeal 

process in the Medical Staff Bylaws at no time is a constitutional defense asserted by the 

practitioner. Mr. Mathey said when the bylaws are finally adopted by the Board then this policy 

and several others (corrective action, intro period, policies regarding physician and np contracting, 

physician contract form) all of these things will have to be coordinated ultimately with the Medical 

Staff Bylaws. He said the alternative is to take action on these now and then, not wanting to send 

the wrong message to the Medical Staff, amend them to comply with the Medical Staff Bylaws 

down the road. Mr. Mathey said we don’t want to look like we are making decisions now that 

dictate to them how to amend the Medical Staff Bylaws. Mr. Mathey said this same report is going 

to serve as his report in the Joint Conference Committee section in the committee reports section. 

Mr. Tardoni said he agreed and if we can get the language coordinated, these things can move very 

quickly. Mr. Kelsey said he agrees with Mr. Mathey, as well. Mr. Mathey said he will keep 

everyone advised.  

 

NEW BUSINESS 

Board Policy – Contracts Requiring Board Approval Policy 

 

Dr. Sowada said this is the second or third time the policy has come before the Governance 

Committee. She said the changes are highlighted in yellow. The motion to approve the policy as 

presented was made by Dr. Sowada; second by Mr. Mathey. Mr. Jones asked in paragraph four 

and five why would all consultant and management contracts from Ms. Richardson come to the 

Board when all along we have been saying in paragraph 2 that anything over $25,000 would come 

to the Board. Mr. Mathey said the policy was amended from how it appeared last month based on 

Mr. Kelsey’s questioning whether the $25,000 limit applied to some of these classes of contracts. 

Mr. Mathey said it was tested out in Governance and he was not the only one confused therefore 

the “all’s” were added. He said the hospital consultant contracts and hospital management 

contracts were inserted in this policy in direct response to the previous CEO’s behavior. Mr. 

Mathey said perhaps that is no longer appropriate. He said we have a new CEO and we don’t have 

the same issues as we did with the previous one. He said it was the intent to say what it says when 

enacted. Whether we want to continue with that, that is open to debate. Mr. Jones said he would 

say no because it’s conflicting to him in his mind. He said one of the things we have to remember 

6/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 2, 2020 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 4 

is Ms. Richardson is our CEO, she runs things, steers the ship, is in charge of it, and has to have 

some flexibility. Mr. Jones said she is running a business and needs to have some flexibility and 

needs to react and if it’s for the good of the Hospital, we are hindering her ability to do her job. He 

said the flipside is we have already said we trust her to spend up to $25,000 on her own and we 

should do that. Dr. Sowada said she agrees with what Mr. Jones has put forward. Mr. Mathey 

asked for an example of a management contract. Ms. Richardson said previously we did have 

contracts to manage the clinic and that would be an example. For her, an example of a potential 

agreement would be in April of this year when Covid hit and our volume had decreased. We talked 

with CliftonLarsonAllen and they had a model and met with us quite regularly to discuss 

projections and their model helped us make plans to how we were going to move into the future 

financially. Ms. Richardson said she thought she had the authority to enter into that agreement. 

Mr. Jones said that is her job and what the Board hired her for. Mr. Tardoni said our procedures 

are already set up. Anything under $25,000 that Ms. Richardson approves is what she shares with 

the Board at meetings. He said he would support removing that language from the policy. Dr. 

Sowada said “all” is a new addition. Those that are highlighted are new language. In the original 

document with the exception of real estate “all” was not included. Mr. Kelsey said in the spirit of 

compromise here he would like to make a motion roman numerals four and five be eliminated 

from the policy and suggested the other items remain. He said he thinks the Board ought to be 

aware of those and approve those other items. Dr. Sowada rescinded her motion that we approve 

the policy as written. Mr. Mathey rescinded his second to Dr. Sowada’s motion and provided the 

second to Mr. Kelsey’s motion. Mr. Mathey said what it will say to him with those two items 

deleted is that hospital consultant contracts and employment contracts in excess of $25,000 will 

be brought to the Board. Motion carried. 

 

Letters of Appointment 

 

Mr. Jones said these items are new and did not come through the typical process of two readings.  

  

Antimicrobial Stewardship Program (ASP): Ms. Kari Quickenden, Chief Clinical Officer, said 

we recently had a quality program review. A consultant reviewed our program and accreditation 

standards. The applicable standard is included on the bottom of the letter. The Joint Commission 

(TJC) standard says the governing body must appoint the ASP. Ms. Quickenden said we are asking 

the Board to join us in appointing Ms. Sarah Romero as the ASP. She heads our committee, has 

obtained training, and communicates well with staff. We were reached out to from TJC on the 

Covid outreach call list. We responded to TJC earlier in the day and we expect they will be coming 

for survey anytime from the next couple of weeks to the next month. Ms. Quickenden said we are 

asking the Board to take action at this time. The motion to approve the ASP Letter of Appointment 

as presented was made by Dr. Sowada; second by Mr. Mathey. Motion carried. 

 

Infection Prevention Program (IP): Dr. Kristy Nielson, Chief Nursing Officer, said we have a 

similar request for formal appointment of Ms. Noreen Hove as the professional preventionist. The 

motion to approve the IP Letter of Appointment as presented was made by Dr. Sowada; second by 

Mr. Mathey. Motion carried 

 

  

7/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 2, 2020 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 5 

Utilization Management Plan 

 

Dr. Nielson said the Plan is up for annual review. She said it is a Centers for Medicare and 

Medicaid Services (CMS) regulation. She said we use Utilization Management and the Plan as the 

way to evaluate the appropriateness, necessity, and effectiveness of medical care. Dr. Nielson said 

we have a committee which is actually not required by CMS. She said the Plan is something the 

Board will see every year and it has been reviewed by everyone else in need of review. Mr. Kelsey 

reported the Plan was discussed at the Quality Committee meeting in August. The motion to 

approve the Utilization Management Plan as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. 

Mathey. Motion carried.     

 

Performance Improvement and Patient Safety (PIPS) Plan Priorities 

 

Ms. Kara Jackson, Director of Quality, Accreditation, and Patient Safety, said the PIPS Committee 

is tasked with the role of evaluating opportunities for improvement and trying to prioritize those 

opportunities for improvement. The group ran through the matrix and looked at trends in data. 

They looked at the strategic plan, as well as CMS and TJC standards. The Committee talked about 

several different topics for improvement. We are recommending three distinct priorities: HCAHPs, 

culture of safety action plans, and high-level sterilization. Ms. Jackson said the methods and goal 

setting are in development. She said if data is trending in the wrong way or if something is 

identified as higher priority, we can run through the matrix during the year. This will help suffice 

TJC standard. The Hospital chooses a distinct number of improvement projects for the year. Our 

consultant recommended that for our organization size we stick with two or three. The plan 

priorities have been approved by PIPS, the Quality Committee of the Board, and the Medical 

Executive Committee. Ms. Jackson said it is a requirement that it be approved by the Board. She 

said just because something was not identified as a priority does not mean that work on efforts 

stops. The motion to approve the PIPS Plan Priorities as presented was made by Mr. Mathey; 

second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried. 

 

CARES Act Lab Project, Construction Manager at Risk, and Contract from the Architect 

Approval 

 

Ms. Richardson said she wanted to talk a little bit about the CARES Act funding we received. We 

have received CARES Act funds. The money must be used and spent by July 31, 2021. Ms. 

Richardson said we have done a lot of research and met frequently to come up with a good project. 

The criteria with CARES is similar to the State Loan and Investment Board (SLIB) process. Our 

current lab waiting area does not allow for much social distancing so when Covid first hit we 

needed to offer outpatient lab services in an area where proper social distancing could occur. We 

identified the Foundation as that area and it is only a temporary solution. Ms. Richardson said 

patients like that location. We serve 250-300 lab patients per day. We like the idea of patients 

being able to receive their services in an area that would allow for social distancing and be 

convenient. We worked with Plan 1 for plans to give the Foundation space back to them and look 

at new lab space. We looked at a SLIB grant but the deadline to use those funds is December 30, 

2020. Ms. Richardson said we could not have the project complete by then. We asked Plan 1 to 

send us a lab remodel project within a certain range. It is projected to take 8-12 months to complete. 

We feel time is of the essence. Ms. Richardson asked the Board for their approval to use the 

CARES act money to move forward with this project. She said we hope for approval for a 

8/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 2, 2020 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 6 

Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) and receive approval for the contract with the architect so 

we can start the project as soon as possible. Alternatively, when we did receive the contract from 

Plan 1 we would have to come back to the Board for approval. Ms. Richardson said we are asking 

for approval now so we can start moving forward. She said that leaves us with some funds in the 

CARES Act money. We don’t know what our volume will look like. Our rebound was good for 

July but August was not as much as July. Ms. Richardson said we want to keep some funds 

available just in case we have to off-set expenses. She said she would like the authority to move 

forward with the project for $4M-4.5M for a lab remodel and to use CARES Act money for that 

project. She requested the authority to approve a CMAR and the authority to approve the contract 

with the architect to move forward with the project. She said the approval would be to not exceed 

$4.5M. She said if it does then she would bring it back to the Board for further review. Mr. Tardoni 

noted the drive-thru vaccination area in the plans. Mr. Kelsey asked if we will have somewhat of 

a contingency in case we need funds for the SLIB projects. Ms. Richardson said he is absolutely 

right and we do have a contingency for that as well. She said we talked about the potential that  

may be $1.2M that we may have to fund. Ms. Richardson said she knows Mr. Blevins is trying 

very hard to expedite that project so we can have finished by December 30 but if not we do have 

that built in. She said she can bring architect plans to the October meeting for review. The motion 

to approve Ms. Richardson’s procurement of a CMAR was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. 

Tardoni. Motion carried. The motion to approve a budget for this lab renovation and addition to 

fall between $4-$4.5M of CARES Act funds knowing there are contingency plans in the 

background was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. Tardoni. Motion carried. The motion to give 

Ms. Richardson the authority to contract with Plan 1 Architects regarding plans for the lab 

renovation was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. Tardoni. Motion carried.  

 

Mr. Jones said the whole new business section was a little unorthodox of how we do things but he 

appreciates everyone’s flexibility to get things done. 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT 

 

Ms. Richardson thanked the Board for approval of the project and said we will work very hard to 

get it going as soon as possible. She reported 452 staff, trustees, and physicians have attended the 

Person-Centered Care (PCC) training workshops. We are trying to accommodate staff, physicians 

and trustees by offering Friday afternoons and Saturdays. She said our goal is to have everyone 

trained by June 2021. Ms. Richardson said as soon as everyone is trained we can move forward 

with other modules of the PCC training and we are excited about that. In Quality & Safety, we are  

preparing for TJC to be here anytime. Ms. Richardson commended leaders and staff in preparing 

for the survey. We have been rounding on staff. Several of our grants have been approved by SLIB 

and they are projects that will help us tremendously with the treatment of Covid and we are very 

grateful. Our projects have all been separate and specific. Ms. Tiffany Marshall, Foundation 

Director, has done a great job with organizing everything. SLIB is looking at a better process to 

get this money out to different groups. They have passed the allocation model for some of the 

remainder of the $2.5B received. We calculated our allocation was going to be $5.8M. We have 

received $5.5 in grants. The stipulation is nothing previously approved would be taken back. We 

are moving forward with the $5.5 approved. Ms. Richardson said this is kind of a wait-and-see-

what-happens with how this process goes. People continue to apply for grants. We do not have 

any grants we will be requesting at their next meeting on September 17. We may submit some 

requests in October based on how things go with the allocation process. One project is for some 

9/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 2, 2020 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 7 

IT equipment, one for vents in Respiratory Therapy, and one is for new furniture that would be 

easier to maintain through a pandemic. At that point, we would probably move away from the 

grants and focus on CARES Act monies. Ms. Ann Clevenger will be joining us as Chief Nursing 

Officer on September 14. Dr. Nielson is staying on until September 30 and we are trying to see if 

she will be available to us depending on when TJC comes to help us with that transition. Dr. Lex 

Auguiste, OB/GYN, started yesterday. We welcome him to our hospital family. He is so excited 

to be here and said he already has patients scheduled. Ms. Richardson said we have an annual 

quality workshop scheduled Thursday, October 29 pending a couple of responses back from the 

Board to confirm an acceptable date and time. This workshop will be in lieu of the November 

regular board meeting. Ms. Richardson thanked the Board for all of their support. She said she 

really appreciates the Board being available to us at a moment’s notice and available to us for 

board meetings to help us move forward with projects. She thanked them for their help and 

guidance. She gave a shout out to staff, physicians, and everyone helping to keep our patients and 

staff safe. Mr. Jones said Ms. Richardson always keeps the Board informed and that is appreciated. 

 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 

Quality Committee 
 

Mr. Kelsey said the chair report and minutes are in the packet. He said he and Mr. Mathey will 

soon be receiving a briefing on the consultant, Ms. Mella Grainger’s, report. Mr. Kelsey said Ms. 

Jackson is doing a great job.  

Human Resources Committee 

 

Mr. Tardoni said everything is in the packet. After he submitted his chair report, staff asked that 

the communication system policy be removed from the packet at this time so staff could re-

examine the policy. 

 

Finance and Audit Committee 

 

Mr. Mathey said he deferred to the packet and draft minutes. 

 

Cerner Electronic Medical Record:  Ms. Tami Love, Chief Financial Officer, reviewed a short 

presentation. She said members of the Electronic Medical Record (EMR) Steering Committee are 

on the call to help answer questions. Dr. Lauridsen said he is so excited for this new EMR. Ms. 

Megan Gilbert from Informatics said she cannot stress enough about the importance of data 

collection. She said we cannot improve the care we are giving until we know where we have been 

and this will be a huge improvement. Mr. Tardoni said our current system will not be supported in 

the future. Dr. Brianne Crofts, Surgery, said we spent a lot of time looking at systems and did a 

very good job of making a very good decision. She thinks Cerner will give what we need as 

physicians, patients, and staff, and said she thinks we have longevity. Dr. Crofts said we know it’s 

a lot of money but thinks it will make everybody’s experience better here from the patient to the 

provider to the billing provider and said she thinks it’s very important. She thanked the Board for 

their time and consideration. Ms. Bethany Bettolo from Informatics added the EMR Steering 

Committee wanted to focus on end users. She said staff have had input on this. It was a facility-

wide decision. She said it is exciting that adoption is from the floor all the way up. Dr. Nielson  

10/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 2, 2020 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 8 

said the nursing and clinical staff cannot thank the Board enough. Mr. Jones thanked everyone for 

their comments. The motion to approve the capital request for the Cerner EMR was made by Mr. 

Mathey; second by Mr. Tardoni. Motion carried. Mr. Jones thanked everyone for their work and 

endless hours. 

 

Capital Expenditure Requests:  Mr. Mathey reviewed capital expenditure request FY21-2 from 

Dr. Cody Christensen, Urologist. The motion to approve FY21-2 as presented was made by Mr. 

Mathey; second by Mr. Tardoni. Motion carried. Mr. Mathey reviewed capital expenditure request 

FY21-3 from Dr. Prachi Pawar, Neurologist. Ms. Richardson said she joins us at the end of October 

or early November. The motion to approve FY21-3 as presented was made by Mr. Mathey; second 

by Mr. Tardoni. Motion carried. Mr. Mathey reviewed capital expenditure request FY21-4 from 

Facilities. The motion to approve FY21-3 as presented was made by Mr. Mathey; second by Mr. 

Tardoni. Motion carried. Mr. Mathey reviewed capital expenditure request FY21-10 from Medical 

Imaging. The motion to approve FY21-10 as presented was made by Mr. Mathey; second by Mr. 

Tardoni. Motion carried. Mr. Mathey reviewed capital expenditure request FY21-14 from Surgical 

Services. The motion to approve FY21-14 as presented was made by Mr. Mathey; second by Mr. 

Tardoni. Motion carried.  

 

Bad Debt:  The motion to approve the net potential bad debt of $1,042,680.09 as presented was 

made by Mr. Mathey; second by Mr. Tardoni. Motion carried. Mr. Ron Cheese, Director of Patient 

Financial Services, said we expect to see self-pay grow in the month of November or December. 

Mr. Tardoni said he is wondering if our Walk-In Clinic will have any impact on the amount 

showing from the Emergency Department (ED). Mr. Cheese said it will really curb our losses if 

we can push patients through the Walk-In Clinic instead of the ED. He said we, as a team, need to 

work on this together and focus on this. Mr. Tardoni said it is probably more convenient for 

patients as well. Ms. Leslie Taylor, Clinic Director, said we have seen an increase in the Walk-In 

Clinic and she thinks it will increase in October and November.  

 

Building & Grounds Committee 

 

Mr. Kelsey said he did not have anything to add. He said he thinks everything that needs to be 

brought forward is in the chair report or minutes in the packet. He offered to answer any questions.  

 

Foundation Board 

 

Ms. Marshall said the Foundation Board has two new board members and we are excited to have 

them. The Board met and will move forward with the Red Tie Gala. Ms. Marshall said we will 

make adjustments as needed to do whatever we can to have a Gala next year. The Board is 

brainstorming ideas for the Christmas event. Ms. Marshall lost the connection to the call and the 

report ended. 

 

Compliance Committee 

 

Mr. Tardoni said he did not file a chair report because the information in the packet is pretty self-

explanatory. 

 

  

11/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 2, 2020 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 9 

Governance Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said she did not have anything to add.  

 

Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee 

 

Mr. Jones said the Board would handle in executive session.  

 

Joint Conference Committee 

 

Mr. Mathey said his report previously given is the Committee report as well as the Governance 

report. He said the Medical Staff Bylaws as drafted do include non-physician practitioners 

included in the Medical Staff and is contrary to the Board of Trustees Bylaws. He said we will 

deal with that when it comes up.  

 

CONTRACT REVIEW 

 

Mr. Jones said Ms. Suzan Campbell, Legal Counsel, was unable to attend the meeting and asked 

Ms. Richardson to review. The motion to approve the contracts on the consent agenda and 

authorize the CEO to sign the contracts was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Dr. Sowada. Motion 

carried.  

MEDICAL STAFF REPORT 

 

Dr. Lauridsen said most of what he was going to say has already been said. The Medical Executive 

Committee met and discussion was mostly regulatory. He said one of our doctors was published 

in the Journal of Clinical Oncology. Dr. Lauridsen said it is exciting to see our doctors’ names out 

there. He welcomed Dr. Lex Auguiste and Dr. Prachi Pawar. 

 

GOOD OF THE ORDER 
 

Mr. Tardoni said he is the rep to the State Miners Board. They have been meeting by Zoom. They 

have a new Director, Ms. Angela Oakley. Mr. Tardoni said Gillette has remained the main office 

for the time. They still have a Rock Springs office. He said there are over 8,000 miners in the state 

part of this insurance program. They spent about $7M in payments last year. He said they are 

looking at some advertisements to make sure the community understands this insurance program 

so those who qualify can take advantage. 

 

Dr. Sowada acknowledged Ms. White for the Collaborative Practice Award, Ms. Alisha Mackie, 

Director of Surgical Services, and the staff in Surgery for their award, and Ms. Rachel Harris in 

the operating room for receiving a Faces of Our Future nursing award. Dr. Sowada said there was 

a really wonderful article about Ms. Tamara Walker and her COPE program for stress management 

for kids 6-18. Dr. Sowada said in this day of multiple stresses and Covid, it sounds like Ms. Walker 

has a waiting list for this program. She said “hats off” to all of them.  

 

12/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 2, 2020 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 10 

Ms. Richardson said Dr. Auguiste was on the call, welcomed him, thanked him for joining us, and 

said we are excited he is here. She said Ms. Stacey Nutt has accepted the Interim IT Director 

position and we welcome her, as well.  

 

Mr. Jones said Ms. Marshall texted the rest of her report to him. The Foundation Board is starting 

to plan Christmas with something in the Healing Garden with Santa so they can drive through and 

get a gift. We are still trying to have some events and social distance. The Annual Gifts Committee 

has built their structure. We are working on building our donor wall. We want to recognize hospital 

staff so we will be doing something for staff in the next month or so. 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Mr. Jones said there would be an executive session for personnel. He said the Board would jump 

off the current call and be on their executive session call. The motion to go into executive session 

was made by Mr. Mathey; second by Dr. Sowada. Motion carried.  Mr. Jones said the Board would 

take a seven- minute break and convene at 4:00 PM. 

 

RECONVENE INTO REGULAR SESSION 
 

At 5:53 PM, the Board came out of executive session and the motion to go back in to regular 

session was made by Mr. Mathey; second by Dr. Sowada. Motion carried.  

 

ACTION FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

Approval of Privileges 

 

The motion to approve privileges for healthcare professionals as discussed in executive session 

was made by Mr. Mathey; second by Dr. Sowada.   

 

Credentials Committee Recommendations from August 11, 2020  

 

1. Initial Appointment to Associate Staff (1 year) 

 Dr. Lex Auguiste, OB/GYN 

2. Initial Appointment to Locum Tenens Staff (1 year) 

 Dr. David Crockett, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

3. Reappointment to Active Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Joseph Oliver, Orthopaedic Surgery 

 Dr. Sigsbee Duck, Otolaryngology 

 Dr. Israel Stewart, Internal Medicine 

 Dr. Jean Stachon, Public Health/Family Medicine 

4. Reappointment to Consulting Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Anna Catino, Cardiovascular Disease (U of U) 

 Dr. Gavin Arnett, Tele Radiology (VRC) 

5. Reappointment to Locum Tenens Staff (1 years) 

 Dr. Kamran Khan, Pulmonary Medicine 

 Dr. Astrid Haaland, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

13/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 2, 2020 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 11 

The motion to approve the CEO to execute doctor contracts and doctor contract extensions as 

discussed in executive session was made by Mr. Mathey; second by Mr. Tardoni. Motion carried.   

The motion for Board approval of the yet unnamed steering committee as discussed in executive 

session was made by Mr. Mathey; second by Dr. Sowada. Motion carried.  

 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting adjourned at 5:55 PM.   

 

 

       

 

        ___________________________________ 

        Mr. Taylor Jones, President 
 

 

Attest: 

 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Mr. Marty Kelsey, Secretary 

14/250



WEALTH ADVISORY  |  OUTSOURCING  |  AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING
Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth Advisors, LLC, an SEC-registered investment advisor

©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

2020 Audit Results and Report to the Board of Trustees

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater 
County

D
R
A
FT

15/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Table of Contents

2

Topic Page

Executive Summary

Results of Professional Services 4

Your Business

Industry Benchmark Data 6

Understanding Your Industry
Industry Trends - COVID-19 Impact on Hospitals and Health Systems 19

Understanding Your Industry - Despite COVID-19, Reform Measures Continue 25

New Accounting & Reporting Standards 29

Appendix
Required Communications

Internal Control Matters

Deliverables

D
R
A
FT

16/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

WEALTH ADVISORY  |  OUTSOURCING  |  AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING
Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth Advisors, LLC, an 
SEC-registered investment advisor

Executive Summary

3

D
R
A
FT

17/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Results of Professional Services

4

Significant Transactions
•COVID-19 Provider Relief Funds

Audit Adjustments
•One proposed audit adjustment resulting in a decrease to net position of 

approximately $114,000

Material Weaknesses
•No Material Weaknesses Identified

Upcoming Accounting Standards
•Leases
•Capitalized Interest

D
R
A
FT

18/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

WEALTH ADVISORY  |  OUTSOURCING  |  AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING
Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth Advisors, LLC, an 
SEC-registered investment advisor

Your Business

5

D
R
A
FT

19/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC)
 $85.7 Million Net Patient Service Revenue
 2017 –2020 Data, Based on Audited Financial 

Statements

CLA Benchmark (CLA)
 Hospital’s between $25M and $100M in Net Patient 

Service Revenue

Standard & Poor’s (BBB+ to BBB-)
 Median indicators from a sample of 73 non-profit 

hospitals in the United States

Industry Benchmark Data

2017-2019

2017-2019

2017-2020

6

D
R
A
FT

20/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Definition:
This ratio is operating income as a percentage of net patient service revenue plus other operating
revenues. It is used to report the facility's return on revenues which relate to the main purpose of
operations.

Operating Margin

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Profitability Ratios
Exhibit 1

7

D
R
A
FT

21/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Financial Indicators – Profitability Ratios
Exhibit 2

Total Margin
Definition:

Total margin reflects excess of revenue over expenses as a percentage of total revenues, including non-
operating revenues.

8

D
R
A
FT

22/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Definition:
Total EBIDA represents Earnings Before Interest, Depreciation, and Amortization divided by total
revenues. It is used as a rough measure of cash flow in a facility. This ratio is often used when evaluating
debt capacity.

Total EBIDA

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Profitability Ratios
Exhibit 3

9

D
R
A
FT

23/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Definition:
This is measured by dividing the amount of operating losses in the physician practices by the Provider
FTE’s worked. We would recommend not focusing necessarily on the loss position of the practice but
more the trend over a four year time horizon.

Operating Loss per Provider FTE

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Physician Specific
Exhibit 4

10

-164,119

-119,136

-88,525

-106,003

-200,000

-180,000

-160,000

-140,000

-120,000

-100,000

-80,000

-60,000

-40,000

-20,000

0

2017 2018 2019 2020

D
R
A
FT

24/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Definition:
This is measured by dividing the amount of visits (primary care and specialty care) in the physician
practices by the Provider FTE’s worked.

Visits per Provider FTE

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Physician Specific
Exhibit 5

11

845 883 874 836 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

2017 2018 2019 2020

D
R
A
FT

25/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Definition:
Days Cash on Hand measures the number of days of average cash expenses that the facility maintains in
cash and amounts reserved for capital improvements. High values usually imply a greater ability to meet
both short-term obligations and long-term capital replacement needs.

Days Cash on Hand (All Sources)

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Liquidity Ratios
Exhibit 6

12

D
R
A
FT

26/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Definition:
Days in patient accounts receivable is defined as the average time that receivables are outstanding, or
the average collection period.

Net Days in Accounts Receivable

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Liquidity Ratios
Exhibit 7

13

D
R
A
FT

27/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Definition:
This is measured by dividing the amount of patient accounts receivable over 90 days by the total
receivables in that payor category. Generally the lower this percentage is, the shorter turn around time
the facility experiences for collecting receivables.

Percentage of A/R over 90 Days Old

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Liquidity Ratios
Exhibit 8

14

D
R
A
FT

28/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Definition:
This ratio is calculated by dividing the bad debt and charity care by gross patient service revenue.

Bad Debt and Charity Care as a Percent of Gross Patient Service Revenue

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Other Ratios
Exhibit 9

15

D
R
A
FT

29/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Definition:
Debt service coverage is calculated as income available for debt service (net income + depreciation and
amortization + interest expense) divided by the annual debt service requirements (principal payments
made + interest expense).

Debt Service Coverage

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Leverage Ratios
Exhibit 10

16

D
R
A
FT

30/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Definition:
This ratio is defined as the proportion of long-term debt divided by long-term debt plus total net assets.
Higher values for this ratio imply a greater reliance on debt financing and may imply reduced ability to
carry additional debt.

Debt to Capitalization

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Leverage Ratios
Exhibit 11

17

D
R
A
FT

31/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Definition:
Average age of plant attempts to approximate the average age of an organization’s fixed assets. A low
value is considered to be desirable as it indicates a newer facility.

Average Age of Plant

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Other Ratios
Exhibit 12

18

D
R
A
FT

32/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

WEALTH ADVISORY  |  OUTSOURCING  |  AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING
Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth Advisors, LLC, an 
SEC-registered investment advisor

Industry Trends:
COVID-19 Impact on Hospitals and 
Health Systems

19

D
R
A
FT

33/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

COVID-19 Timeline & Key Events
• January 31st: Secretary of HHS declares a public health emergency under 

Section 319 of the Public Health Services Act in response to COVID-19.

• March 13th: President Trump declares COVID-19 a National Emergency.

• The vast majority of surgeries and procedures performed by health 
systems are considered to be “elective”, but are medically necessary.

• Cancelation of these procedures has equated to lost revenues ranging 
from 40% to 65% for health systems across the country, causing liquidity 
challenges for many.

20

D
R
A
FT

34/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Federal Response to Liquidity Concerns

21

• CARES Act enacted March 27, 2020 
included $2T+ economic support.

• Policies aimed at providing 
assistances business, individuals, 
states, municipalities.

• Specifically for health care providers:

– $100 billion in financial aid
– $50 billion for “General Distributions”
– Remaining paid out through “Targeted Distributions”

◊ $10B for rural providers
◊ $12B for COVID “hot spots”
◊ $4.9B for certified nursing homes
◊ ~$30 billion for uninsured care

– Additional $75 billion in Paycheck Protection & Health Care Enhancement Act

D
R
A
FT

35/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

CARES Act: Funds Targeted for Allocation To Date
(Aug 3, 2020)

22

Provider Relief Fund (Allocations as of August 3, 2020)

General $50B Medicaid/CHIP 
$15B

Uninsured 
~$30B

Targeted Distributions ~$57B+

First $30 billion – went to 
providers/suppliers who 
received Medicare FFS 
reimbursement in 2019. 
Allocation formula: (2019 
FFS/$484 B) x $30 B = 
expected distribution. 

Additional $20 billion to 
these providers/suppliers 
based on revenues from 
cost report data on file 
with HHS. 

Combined these two 
distributions (Tranche 1 & 
2) are designed to add up 
to 2% of 2018 net 
revenues.

Reopening applications 
Aug. 10-28 in two 
situations. 

On June 9, HHS 
announced the release 
of $15 billion to those 
that participate in 
Medicaid/CHIP,
including managed 
care organizations.

Providers had to 
submit annual patient 
revenue details to be 
considered for a 
distribution equal to at 
least 2% of reported 
gross revenues from 
patient care

$15 billion designated. 
Application deadline of 
August 28, 2020

These are claims-
based 
reimbursements 
for dates of service 
or admittance on 
or after Feb. 4, 
2020. 
Reimbursements 
will be made for 
qualifying testing 
for COVID-19 and 
treatment and 
services with a 
primary COVID-19 
diagnosis. Full 
details at 
www.hrsa.gov/covidun
insuredclaim

• Rural Distributions ($12B). Rural hospitals (CAHs, rural PPS), Rural Health Clinics (RHC), & Community 
Health Centers (CHC or FQHC) in rural areas received a distribution on May 10. Another $1 billion was 
released on July 10 to 500 other special rural Medicare designation hospitals in urban areas and in 
small but nonrural communities.

• High Impact ($22B – Round 1, 2). Targeted at hospitals in areas heavily impacted by COVID. Using 
hospital-submitted data, HHS awarded Round 1 on May 1 to 395 hospitals that provided inpatient 
care for 100 or more COVID-19 patients through April 10. The distribution formula was based on a 
fixed amount per COVID-19 inpatient admission, with an additional amount ($2 B total) distributed by
taking into account those hospital’s Medicare and Medicaid disproportionate share and 
uncompensated care payments. Round 2 was released on July 17 to 969 hospitals that had 161 COVID 
patients by June 10 and received $50,000/patient

• Skilled Nursing Facilities ($9.9B). On May 21, HHS released $4.9 billion to SNFs with at least six or 
more beds. Each SNF received $50,000 plus $2,500 per bed. On July 22, HHS announced an additional 
$5 billion will be released, but eligible nursing homes must complete a 23-module training program

• Indian Health Services ($500M). On May 22, Indian Health Services, tribal, and urban Indian health 
programs, including IHS and Tribal hospitals received funds

• Safety Net Hospitals ($12.8B). On June 9, HHS announcing the release of $10 billion to certain 
hospitals and on July 10, another $3 billion was distributed. All total, 958 hospital received these 
funds.

• Dentists. July 10, HHS announced dentists would be eligible for 2% of their annual reported patient 
revenue. Apply by August 28 using the Enhanced Provider Portal

Each release of funds requires attesting/certifying to a set of terms and conditions

D
R
A
FT

36/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Funding Subject to Single Audit Requirements
• Specific programs impacting health care (not comprehensive)

– Provider Relief Fund (HHS) - CFDA 93.498
– Disaster Assistance Loans (Economic Injury Disaster Loans, SBA) CFDA 

59.008
– Uninsured COVID Testing and Treatment (HHS) – CFDA 93.461
– Grants for New and Expanded Services Under the Health Center Program 

(HHA) – CFDA 93.527
– Emergency Grants to Address Mental and Substance Use Disorders During 

COVID-19 (HHS) CFDSA 93.665
– Rural Health Clinic Testing (HHS) – CFDA 93.697

• Organizations with $750,000 or more in Federal Expenditures 
during a single fiscal year will be required to have a single 
audit. 

D
R
A
FT

37/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Additional Reporting Requirements
• On July 20, HHS released information that provides additional reporting 

requirements.
• Any recipient that receives one or more payments exceeding $10,000 

(aggregate) will need to file reports demonstrating compliance 
terms/conditions.

• The requirement applies to all the PRF distributions. 
• Detailed PRF reporting instructions and a data collection template with the 

necessary data elements will be available soon.
– All recipients must report within 45 days of end of CY 2020 on expenditures 

through period ending Dec. 31, 2020. 
– Recipients who have expended funds in full prior to December 31, 2020 may 

submit a single final report at any time during the window that begins Oct. 1, 
2020, but no later than Feb. 15, 2021. 

– Recipients with funds unexpended after Dec. 31, 2020, must submit a second 
and final report no later than July 31, 2021. 

24

D
R
A
FT

38/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

WEALTH ADVISORY  |  OUTSOURCING  |  AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING
Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth Advisors, LLC, an 
SEC-registered investment advisor

Understanding Your Industry:
Despite COVID-19, Reform Measures Continue

25

D
R
A
FT

39/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

• In 2017, U.S. Health Care spending 
grew 3.9%, reaching $3.5 Trillion

• Spending Increase by Service Type:
– Hospital Care 4.6%
– Physician & Clinical Services 4.2%
– Retail Prescription Drug .4%
– Other Health, Residential & Personal 

Care 5.6%
– Nursing Care Facilities and CCRC’s 

2.0%
– Dental Services 3.2%
– Home Health 4.3%
– Other Professional Services 4.6%
– Nondurable Medical Products 2.2%
– Durable Medical Equipment 6.8%

33%

20%

10%

5%

5%

4%
3%

2% 2% 3%

2017 Distribution of Health Care 
Spending

Hospital Physician
Pres. Drugs Other Hlth., Res. P.C.
SNFs CCRCs Dental
Home Health DME

Nat’l Health Expenditures Continue to Rise *

26

* Source: National Health Care Expenditures 2017 Fact Sheet released by The CMS on 4/26/19; 
https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/NHE-Fact-Sheet.html

D
R
A
FT

40/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

Total IP OP Prof. Drugs

17.1%
15.6%

18.9%

12.4%

25.0%

-0.2%

-5.0%

0.3% 0.3%

3.1%

Price & Utilization by Service
2013 - 2017

Price

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

Total IP OP Prof. Drugs

16.7%

9.8%

19.3%

12.7%

28.9%

Total Spending
2013 - 2017

Total Spending

Price Drives Aggregate Spending Increase*

27

* Source: Health Care Cost Institute 2017 Annual Health Care Cost and Utilization Report; an analysis of spending, price, and utilization for individuals under 65 
covered by employer-sponsored insurance (ESI). Dated February 2019

D
R
A
FT

41/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Pricing Transparency: Effective 1/1/21
• Hospitals must make public online all standard charges

– Gross charges
– Payer specific negotiated charges
– De-identified min. & max. negotiated charges & discounted cash prices

• Add’l Requirement to Post “Shoppable Services”
– Display separately charge information for 300 “shoppable services”

◊ 70 services are identified by CMS and consist of E&M services, laboratory & 
pathology services, medicine and surgery services

◊ Remaining 230 can be identified by the hospital
– “Shoppable” defined as: Services that can be scheduled by a health care 

consumer in advance. 

28

“We…..continue to believe that price transparency will lead to 
lower costs for consumers and better quality of care.”

CMS Final Transparency Rule (CMS 1717-F2)

D
R
A
FT

42/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

WEALTH ADVISORY  |  OUTSOURCING  |  AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING
Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth Advisors, LLC, an 
SEC-registered investment advisor

New Accounting & 
Reporting Standards

29

D
R
A
FT

43/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Accounting Standards Update

•Addresses accounting and financial reporting for leases by
state and local governments.

•The Statement establishes a single model for lease accounting 
based on the foundational principle that leases are financings 
of the right to use an underlying asset.

•Requires the recognition of certain right to use lease assets 
and related liabilities for leases that were previously classified 
as operating leases.

•Effective for years beginning after June 15, 2021, with earlier 
application permitted.

Leases - GASB 87

•Addresses accounting requirements for interest cost incurred
before the end of a construction period.

•The Statement requires that interest cost incurred before the 
end of a construction period be recognized as an expense in the 
period in which the cost is incurred.

•Effective for years beginning after December 15, 2020, with 
earlier application permitted.

Capitalized Interest -
GASB 89

30

D
R
A
FT

44/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

WEALTH ADVISORY  |  OUTSOURCING  |  AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING
Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth Advisors, 
LLC, an SEC-registered investment advisor

Appendix

31

D
R
A
FT

45/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Required Communications

32

Topic Communication

Our responsibility under 
Generally Accepted Auditing 
Standards

• Express an opinion on the fair presentation of the combined financial statements in 
conformity with GAAP

• Plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable, non absolute assurance that the 
combined financial statements are free of material misstatement

• Evaluate internal control over financial reporting
• Utilize a risk based audit approach
• Communicate significant matters to appropriate parties

Planned Scope and Timing of 
the Audit

• Performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated

Other Information in 
Documents Containing the 
Audited Financial Statements

• Financial statements may only be used in their entirety
• Our approval is required to use our audit report in a client prepared document
• We have no responsibility to perform procedures beyond those related to the combined 

financial statementsD
R
A
FT

46/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Required Communications

33

Topic Communication
Significant Accounting Policies • Management is responsible for the accounting policies of the organization

• Accounting policies are outlined in Note 1 to the combined financial statements
• No significant changes to the accounting policies during the year
• Accounting policies deemed appropriate
• No unusual transactions occurred

Significant Accounting 
Estimates

• An area of focus under a risk based audit approach
• Significant estimates include: allowance for bad debts, contractual allowances, depreciable 

lives of fixed assets, self funded health insurance reserves, and third-party payor settlement 
estimates

• Estimates determined by management based on their knowledge and experience
• No management bias indicated
• Estimates were deemed reasonable
• Estimate uncertainty is disclosed in the combined financial statements

Significant Financial Statement 
Disclosures

Note 3 – Net Patient Service Revenue
Note 8 – Long-Term Debt

D
R
A
FT

47/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Required Communications

34

Topic Communication

Management Representation
Letter

• Management will provide signed representation letters prior to finalization of the audit 
reports

Other • No difficulties encountered in performing the audit
• No issues discussed prior to retention as independent auditors
• No disagreements with management regarding accounting, reporting, or other matters
• No Consultations with other independent auditors 
• No other findings or issues were discussed with, or communicated to, management

D
R
A
FT

48/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Internal Control Matters

35

Topic Communication

Purpose • Express an opinion on the financial statements, not on the effectiveness of internal controls.
• Our consideration of internal controls was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 

internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. In 
addition, because of inherent limitations in internal control, including the possibility of 
management override of controls, misstatements due to fraud or error may occur and not 
be detected by such controls.

Material Weakness • Reasonable possibility that a material misstatement would not be prevented, or detected 
and corrected on a timely basis.

Significant Deficiencies • Less significant than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit the attention of 
governance.

Restricted Use • This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the 
audit committee, and others within the Organization, and is not intended to be, and should 
not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Results • No material weaknesses identified

D
R
A
FT

49/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

Create Opportunities  |  We promise to know you and help you.

Deliverables

36

Report on the Financial 
Statements

Board Packet including 
Required 

Communications and 
Internal Control 
CommunicationsD

R
A
FT

50/250



©
20

20
 C

lif
to

nL
ar

so
nA

lle
n 

LL
P

CLAconnect.com

Darryn McGarvey, CPA
Principal
darryn.mcgarvey@CLAconnect.com
612-376-4624

Daniel Deyle, CPA
Manager
daniel.deyle@CLAconnect.com
612-397-3305 D

R
A
FT

51/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 

D
R
A
FT

52/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 1 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 3 

COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 12 

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES 
IN NET POSITION 14 

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 15 

NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 17 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING 
STANDARDS 32 

 
 

D
R
A
FT

53/250



 

(1) 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
 
 
Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Rock Springs, Wyoming 
 
 

Report on the Combined Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying combined financial statements of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater 
County (the Hospital), which comprise the combined statements of net position as of June 30, 2020 and 
2019, and the related combined statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the combined financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Combined Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these combined financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of combined financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these combined financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the combined financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the combined financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the combined financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the combined financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 

D
R
A
FT

54/250



Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

(2) 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the combined financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County as of June 30, 2020 and 
2019, and the changes in its net position and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the combined financial statements as 
a whole. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis information on pages 3 through 11 be presented to supplement 
the basic combined financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the combined 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the combined financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to 
the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing 
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the combined financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
combined financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated REPORT 
DATE, on our consideration of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County‘s internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the result of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County‘s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 
REPORT DATE 
 
 

D
R
A
FT

55/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(3) 

 
INTRODUCTION 

This is management’s discussion and analysis of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County‘s (the 
Hospital) financial performance and provides an overview of the Hospital’s financial activities for the 
years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. It should be read in conjunction with the Hospital’s combined 
financial statements, which begin on page 12. 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County is a Joint Commission accredited, 99-bed rural acute-care 
facility located in Southwest Wyoming, which services a region exceeding 10,000 square miles. The 
Hospital serves a population in excess of 45,000 in Sweetwater County alone as well as surrounding 
areas. The Hospital provides a vast array of inpatient and outpatient services, emergent care, dialysis, 
occupational medicine, radiation oncology, and hematology oncology services. In addition, the Hospital 
employs over thirty physicians and mid-level providers; successfully building a vibrant list of family, 
internal and specialty medicine clinics. Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County continues to maintain 
a strong, viable presence in the community. Recognizing the need to create a collaborative focus for 
the future and by identifying the opportunity and accountability in the delivery of healthcare for the 
communities the Hospital serves, the following goals and objectives continue to serve as our roadmap 
to guide the Hospital into the future: 
 

Regional Referral Center: Continue efforts to increase presence in Sweetwater County and 
surrounding areas and becoming a regional referral center. 
 
Growth in Services and Programs: Being responsive to the needs of the community by 
maintaining care locally whenever possible by growing service lines and offering new programs, 
which include: 
 

 Radiation and Hematology Oncology 

 Enhanced Orthopedic Surgery 

 Pulmonology 

 Occupational Medicine 

 Telemedicine 

 Neurology 

 Onsite visiting specialty clinics 
 
Medical Staff Development Plan: Work to meet the needs of the community by developing a 
medical staff that will enhance current programs and effectively deliver new services and 
programs. The facility continues to invest in new physicians and analyze replacement positions as 
they become vacant. In 2020 we opened our Pediatric practice with a new Pediatrician and Mid-
level and we added a new Orthopedic surgeon to enhance our surgery services. We also filled our 
Hospitalist program with employed physicians in order to cut the higher cost of locum coverage. 
We continued with locum coverage for OB/Gynecology and Pulmonology while looking at the 
feasibility of full-time providers in these areas. Recognizing the need to balance growth with 
financial stability, the Hospital continues to streamline operations by researching new service 
lines. In fiscal year 2021, we will be adding Neurology to our services offered and will be 
enhancing our cancer center with a fulltime Radiation Oncologist. 
 
Information Technology: Continued adoption of health information technology to improve quality, 
enhance security and meet required measurements while lowering costs. 

D
R
A
FT

56/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(4) 

 
INTRODUCTION (CONTINUED) 

Joint Board/Medical Staff Decision Making: Create a culture with the board of trustees and the 
Medical Staff that is collaborative and will allow the Hospital to move forward with partnerships 
and/or affiliations that will provide the most comprehensive care for Sweetwater County and its 
surrounding areas. 
 
Strategic Plan: The Hospital implemented its 3-year strategic plan in 2018. The plan includes 
strategic pillars in Patient Experience, Workplace Experience, Quality & Safety, Growth & 
Community and Financial Stewardship. These are the drivers that deliver value to the patient. The 
dynamics of health care is changing to focus more on improving the quality of health care rather 
than on the cost of health care. The benefit of delivering quality health care and better customer 
service helps to drive costs down, which creates more value for the patient. Providing the highest 
value of care to the patient through improved quality and better customer service, all at a lower 
cost, is our number one priority. We will begin working on another 3-year strategic plan in early 
fiscal year 2021. 
 

Patient Experience: The Hospital has been diligent in striving to provide our patients with 
excellent customer service. We have begun implementing the Planetree initiatives surrounding 
patient centered care and are working on training all 500 of our employees over the next two 
years. Our patient satisfaction scores continue to increase with the ongoing efforts of 
improvement. 

 
Workplace Experience:  Through improved communication, professional development and the 
new patient-based culture program, the Hospital strives to be the employer of choice in 
Sweetwater County. 
 
Quality & Safety: The Hospital continues to meet the increasing quality initiatives. Recognizing 
that reimbursement is driven by these efforts, we have created a specialized team to ensure our 
quality measures meet and exceed the standards. We have started implementing LEAN 
process improvements across the house to help with efficiencies and identify waste. 

 
Community & Growth:  The Hospital is building on community partnerships by implementing 
clinic improvements, including better access to care. A Community Health Needs Assessment 
was completed in FY2019 which will be considered in making decisions on new service lines 
and specialties and potential new community relationships. 
 
Financial Stewardship: The Hospital strives to provide quality health care at a lower cost by 
managing expenses and maximizing reimbursement. 
 

These strategies will serve as a compass to help guide us to achieve our Mission, Vision and Values 
newly adopted in 2018: 

 
Mission: Compassionate care for every life we touch. 
 
Vision: To be our community’s trusted health care leader. 
 
Values: Be kind. Be respectful. Be accountable. Work collaboratively. Embrace excellence. 
 

D
R
A
FT

57/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(5) 

 
INTRODUCTION (CONTINUED) 

The affiliation with the University of Utah allows the Hospital to expand its service line without 
investment into full time staff, facilities and equipment for highly specialized procedures and services 
that would not be economically justifiable given the population size of the primary service area. In 
addition, the affiliation limits outmigration of patients by keeping them close to home, provides a high 
level of specialty care and allows the Hospital to retain revenue that might have otherwise gone to other 
hospitals. Presently, the Hospital is providing telemedicine services for stroke, burn, and ICU services 
to the community as a result of the University of Utah affiliation. The affiliation was renewed in 2018 
and has added services including Maternal Fetal Medicine and expanded Cardiology and Vascular 
services. Dermatology services through the affiliation began in July 2019. The Hospital staff have been 
able to gain knowledge and skills through education and shadowing at the University of Utah. Specialty 
physicians continue to hold visiting clinics onsite in our Hospital so our patients do not need to travel 
out of state for services. The Hospital plans to expand these services in the next year by adding 
additional services like Endocrinology. The Hospital continues our affiliations with the Huntsman 
Cancer Center through the University of Utah and the Shriner’s Hospital. 
 
Fiscal year 2020 continued to focus on growing our existing providers and continuing to stabilize our 
financial position. The Hospital’s employed physicians can be found in three different locations; 
including the Hospital, the attached medical office building (MOB) and offsite at the Family and 
Occupational Medicine Clinic. The Hospital continues to grow its services to local industry in 
Sweetwater County through our Occupational Health service line established in 2017. We opened a 
Walk-In Clinic at the Family Practice building and have seen it steadily grow as we offer this new option 
to our Community. 
 
The current Electronic Medical Record (EMR), provides patients with a secure, confidential medical 
record that will work with other systems to share information. We spent most of the current year 
researching and exploring the purchase of a new electronic medical record. The primary goal was for 
the organization to select and implement an EMR solution that will allow each patient across the 
Hospital and Clinics to have one integrated health record. We hope to make a final decision in early 
fiscal year 2021. 
 
Quality and patient satisfaction will continue to play a role in hospital reimbursement in the future. The 
Executive Team has been proactive in ensuring that quality outcomes are the best they can be and that 
patient satisfaction scores are in the top percentile.  
 
The Hospital is striving to realize our Vision for the future of providing exceptional patient care by 
focusing on quality and safety of patient care, providing excellent customer service through teamwork 
and a positive culture, increasing market share and service growth and enhanced medical staff 
development. 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Foundation (Foundation) was created to help support the 
Hospital. The Foundation’s financial statements are included in the combined financial statements. The 
Hospital and the Foundation are collectively referred to as the Hospital throughout the combined 
financial statements. 
 

D
R
A
FT

58/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(6) 

 
COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County was not isolated from the COVID-19 pandemic. While we 
didn’t see much of an increase of inpatients and positive patients, we did see our laboratory services 
increase immensely as one of the only testing facilities in the County. However, we did experience a 
decrease in overall outpatient visits, including emergency room, imaging, surgery and clinic visits, as 
our community stayed home and social distanced. We also cancelled elective surgeries in an attempt to 
preserve personal protective equipment (PPE) for our staff to remain safe. Revenues were decreased 
by as much as 25% for the last four months of the fiscal year. We applied for and received Accelerated 
Medicare payments to insure our cash flow was stable. We also received CARES Act funds to offset 
lost revenue and our COVID related expenses. 
 
USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT 

The Hospital’s combined financial statements consist of three statements – a combined statement of 
net position; a combined statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position; and a 
combined statement of cash flows. These combined financial statements and related notes provide 
information about the activities of the Hospital, including resources held by the Hospital, but restricted 
for specific purposes by contributors, grantors, or enabling legislation. 
 
FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 The Hospital recorded an operating loss of $1,534,551 and an operating gain of $40,558 in 
2020 and 2019, respectively. 

 The Hospital recorded an increase in overall net position of $5,278,189 and $1,218,947 in 2020 
and 2019, respectively. 

 The days in net patient accounts receivable are 44 and 55 in 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

 The Hospital has experienced significant growth and change since 2014. The investment in 
hiring physicians resulted in accelerated startup costs that significantly increased total 
expenses. Typically, providers do not realize their full income potential until their practice 
matures, which may take several years. In 2020, the Hospital continued to concentrate on 
stabilizing the business. Operations were streamlined by eliminating unprofitable service lines 
and right sizing provider practices.  

 The Hospital’s payer mix remained stable due to a decline in the statewide economy and the 
aging population. We have seen a growth in Medicare, Medicaid and uninsured patients with a 
corresponding decrease in commercial insurance patients.  

 In mid-March, the COVID-19 pandemic caused revenues to decrease and expenses to 
increase. We received CARES Act funds to assist with the lost revenue and higher costs. This 
resulted in an increase in our days cash on hand and is also reflected in the variance between 
operating and total margin. 
 

D
R
A
FT

59/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(7) 

 
THE COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION AND COMBINED STATEMENTS OF 
REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

One of the most important questions asked about the Hospital’s finances is “Is the Hospital as a whole 
better or worse off as a result of the year’s activities?” The combined statements of net position and the 
combined statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position report information about the 
Hospital’s resources and its activities in a way that helps answer this question. These combined 
statements include all restricted and unrestricted assets and all liabilities using the accrual basis of 
accounting. All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when 
cash is received or paid. 
 
These two combined statements report the Hospital’s net position and changes in them. You can think 
of the Hospital’s net position – the difference between assets and liabilities – as one way to measure 
the Hospital’s financial health, or financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in the Hospital’s 
net position are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. You will need 
to consider other nonfinancial factors, however, such as changes in the Hospital’s patient base and 
measures of the quality of service it provides to the community, as well as local economic factors to 
assess the overall health of the Hospital. 
 
THE COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW 

The final required statement is the combined statement of cash flows. The combined statement reports 
cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash resulting from operations, investing, and 
financing activities. It provides answers to such questions as “Where did cash come from?”, “What was 
cash used for?”, and “What was the change in cash balance during the reporting period?” 
 

D
R
A
FT

60/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(8) 

 
THE HOSPITAL’S COMBINED NET POSITION 

The Hospital’s combined net position is the difference between its assets and liabilities reported in the 
statement of net position. The Hospital’s net position has increased by $5,278,189 and $1,218,947 in 
2020 and 2019, respectively, as shown in Table 1. 
 
TABLE 1: COMBINED ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 

2020 2019 2018

ASSETS

Current Assets 49,377,465$      30,543,486$      34,181,561$      

Noncurrent Cash and Investments and Other 23,355,505        22,818,770        15,666,767        

Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation 62,969,217        63,375,283        67,846,486        

Total Assets 135,702,187      116,737,539      117,694,814      

Deferred Outflow from Long-Term Debt Refinancing 222,356             234,709 247,062

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 135,924,543$    116,972,248$    117,941,876$    

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities 21,951,770$      7,911,971$        9,745,507$        

Long-Term Debt 28,265,970        28,631,663        28,986,702        

Total Liabilities 50,217,740        36,543,634        38,732,209        

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 33,708,054        34,387,646        37,049,153        

Restricted for Debt Service Reserve 3,030,616          3,059,212          3,034,341          

Restricted by Contributions and Grantors for 

  Capital Acquisition 420,981             323,907             425,109             

Unrestricted 48,547,152        42,657,849        38,701,064        

Total Net Position 85,706,803        80,428,614        79,209,667        

Total Liabilities and Net Position 135,924,543$    116,972,248$    117,941,876$    
 

D
R
A
FT

61/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(9) 

 
COMBINED OPERATING RESULTS AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

In 2020, the Hospital’s net position increased by $5,278,189 as shown in Table 2. This increase is 
made up of the following components: 
 
TABLE 2: OPERATING RESULTS AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

2020 2019 2018

OPERATING REVENUE
Operating Revenues 89,215,233$    86,773,661$    87,108,849$    

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating Expenses 90,749,784      86,733,103      87,125,692      

OPERATING GAIN (LOSS) (1,534,551)       40,558             (16,843)           

Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses, Net 6,239,585        (349,015)          2,458,136        

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES 4,705,034        (308,457)          2,441,293        

Other Changes in Net Position 573,155           1,527,404        -                      

INCREASE IN NET POSITION 5,278,189        1,218,947        2,441,293        

Net Position - Beginning of Year 80,428,614      79,209,667      76,768,374      

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR 85,706,803$    80,428,614$    79,209,667$    

 
OPERATING INCOME 

The first component of the overall change in the Hospital’s net assets is its operating income, generally, 
the difference between net patient service revenue and other operating revenues and the expenses 
incurred to perform those services. In fiscal year 2020 the Hospital reported an operating loss of 
$1,534,551 and in fiscal year 2019 the Hospital reported an operating gain of $40,558. 
 
The Hospital provides charity care to the patients who meet Hospital set guidelines. Charges foregone 
for charity care of $2,335,514 and $2,234,140 were provided in 2020 and 2019, respectively. Because 
there is no expectation of payment, charity care is not reported as patient service revenues of the 
Hospital. In 2020 and 2019, assistance funds of $1,440,000 and $660,000, respectively, were received 
from Sweetwater County to help offset the cost of maintenance in the Hospital. 
 
NONOPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES 

Nonoperating revenues and expenses consist primarily of CARES Act funds, rental revenue and 
expenses from Hospital property, investment income, interest expense and residual amounts still 
collected from the special purpose sales tax. The sales tax revenues make up approximately 2.1% and 
27.3% of the total nonoperating revenue for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

D
R
A
FT

62/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(10) 

 
THE HOSPITAL’S CASH FLOWS 

Changes in the Hospital’s cash flows are consistent with changes in operating gains, nonoperating 
revenues and expenses, discussed earlier. The Hospital’s cash and cash equivalents, including 
restricted and designated cash and investments, increased from $18,575,422 in 2019 to $39,304,366 in 
2020. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital Assets 

At the end of 2020, the Hospital had $62,969,217 invested in capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation. In 2020 and 2019, the Hospital had disbursements of approximately $5,600,000 and 
$2,600,000, respectively, for new equipment and construction-related costs. 
 
Long-Term Debt 

Refinancing: The Hospital had two Variable Rate Demand Notes (VRDNs) outstanding in the amount of 
$25,550,000. These bonds were originally issued in 2006 and 2008 in the aggregate amount of $48.6 
million for the purpose of the Hospital’s major renovation and expansion which was completed in 2009. 
A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2013 bonds were used to refinance the remaining bonds and 
convert them to fixed rate bonds. 
 
Financing Plan: The Series 2013 Bonds are comprised of two components: The first is financing the 
construction and equipping of a medical office building adjacent to the Hospital and the second portion 
was refinancing the Hospital’s approximately $25 million of Variable Rate Demand Notes outstanding, 
backed by a letter of credit from Key Bank, to a fixed rate. 
 
The financing for the MOB was issued as privately placed variable rate bonds to one or more 
commercial banks (the Bank Bonds). While on a parity with other indebtedness, these bonds will largely 
be paid from the recently voter approved Specific Purpose Tax. In November 2012, authorized voters in 
Sweetwater County approved the enactment of a $0.01 Specific Purpose Tax (SPT) in the aggregate 
amount of $81.8 million for qualifying projects. The portion allocable to the Hospital is $18.9 million. As 
part of the structure of the Bank Bonds, the County Treasurer will enter into an agreement to send the 
monthly SPT receipts directly to the Bond Trustee with instructions to pay interest due and to redeem 
as much principal of outstanding bonds as such collected receipts permit until the Bonds are paid in full. 
The 2013B Bonds were paid in full as of September 2018. There have been some minimal amounts 
received from the County from late tax collection that remains on the books as a receivable.  
 

D
R
A
FT

63/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(11) 

 
2021 OUTLOOK 

The outlook for 2021 remains stable. The Hospital experienced significant growth in fiscal years 2016 
and 2017 and was successful in decreasing expenses and growing cash in 2018 and 2019. The 
Executive Team of the Hospital has established a physician recruitment plan to sustain both needed 
specialties and an adequate number of practices in our area. The plan for 2021 is to remain vigil of the 
effects of the pandemic. The fiscal year budget reflects a 10% decrease in gross revenue, similar to the 
last four months of 2020. Through the first couple months of 2021, we have exceeded the reduced 
budget and are optimistic this will continue. Despite the pandemic, we will continue to focus on growing 
new and established physician practices, physician retention, increasing revenue through new and 
expanded services and adapting to the change in payer mix by focusing on the revenue cycle. 
 
The Hospital continues to adjust to the changing landscape of the health care industry. The transition 
from inpatient care to outpatient care will affect reimbursement which will require continued monitoring 
and adjusting of expenses and resources. Opportunities to increase outpatient market share and new 
service lines will be the focus in 2021. The Hospital’s goal is to capitalize on the growth in the existing 
physician practices, while expanding health care services that have been absent in Sweetwater County 
and Southwest Wyoming. Depending on the ongoing pandemic, the hospital is in the position to deliver 
quality patient care, excellent patient satisfaction and continue to increase market share; while striving 
to be fiscally responsible in order to achieve a positive operating margin in fiscal year 2021. 
 
CONTACTING THE HOSPITAL’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

This financial report is designed to provide our patients, suppliers, taxpayers, and creditors with a 
general overview of the Hospital’s finances and to the Hospital’s accountability for the money it 
receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact the 
Hospital’s Chief Financial Officer at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County, 1200 College Drive, Rock 
Springs, Wyoming 82901. 
 
 
 
 D

R
A
FT

64/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(12) 

 
2020 2019

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 31,046,417$    10,426,602$    

Restricted by Bond Indenture Agreements 488,905           505,871           

Receivables:

Patients, Net of Estimated Uncollectibles of Approximately

  $5,320,000 in 2020 and $4,571,000 in 2019 10,356,082      12,679,266      

Current Maturities of Notes Receivable 175,609           71,932             

Other 1,966,495        1,657,638        

Supplies 3,208,540        2,917,250        

Prepaid Expenses 2,135,417        2,284,927        

Total Current Assets 49,377,465      30,543,486      

NONCURRENT CASH AND INVESTMENTS

Restricted by Contributors and Grantors 420,981           323,907           

Restricted by Bond Indenture Agreements 2,541,711        2,553,341        

Designated by Board for Capital Improvements 19,780,525      19,400,940      

Total Noncurrent Cash and Investments 22,743,217      22,278,188      

CAPITAL ASSETS, NET 62,969,217      63,375,283      

OTHER ASSETS

Rental Property, Net 323,521           350,818           

Notes Receivable, Less Current Maturities 211,868           112,865           

Other Assets 76,899             76,899             

Total Other Assets 612,288           540,582           

Total Assets 135,702,187    116,737,539    

DEFERRED OUTFLOW FROM LONG-TERM DEBT REFINANCING 222,356           234,709           

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 135,924,543$  116,972,248$  

 
 

D
R
A
FT

65/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(13) 

 
2020 2019

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt 308,044$         297,399$         

Accounts Payable 3,381,532        3,015,392        

Construction Payables 687,149           58,575             

Estimated Third-Party Payor Settlements 150,000           148,198           

Other Current Liabilities 7,436,021 -                      

Unearned Revenue 5,280,466 -                      

Accrued Expenses:

Salaries, Wages and Payroll Taxes 1,377,652        1,481,174        

Vacation 2,483,631        2,114,225        

Health Insurance Claims 400,000           400,000           

Interest 447,275           397,008           

Total Current Liabilities 21,951,770      7,911,971        

LONG-TERM DEBT, LESS CURRENT MATURITIES 28,265,970      28,631,663      

Total Liabilities 50,217,740      36,543,634      

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 33,708,054      34,387,646      

Restricted for Debt Service Reserve 3,030,616        3,059,212        

Restricted by Contributors and Grantors 420,981           323,907           

Unrestricted 48,547,152      42,657,849      

Total Net Position 85,706,803      80,428,614      

Total Liabilities and Net Position 135,924,543$  116,972,248$  

 
 

D
R
A
FT

66/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND 

CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 

 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(14) 

 
2020 2019

OPERATING REVENUES

Net Patient Service Revenue (Net of Provision for Bad Debts of

  Approximately $11,483,000 in 2020 and $11,254,000 in 2019) 85,701,160$    83,600,180$    

Other Operating Revenues 3,514,073 3,173,481

Total Operating Revenues 89,215,233      86,773,661      

OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries and Wages 39,015,352 37,637,273

Employee Benefits 10,980,551 9,547,757

Professional Fees - Physicians 4,211,430 4,011,305

Purchased Services 5,474,249 5,050,400

Supplies 14,831,493 13,919,389

Repairs and Maintenance 5,270,887 4,787,486

Insurance 631,258 750,289

Utilities 1,138,134 1,094,312

Leases and Rental 839,052 1,020,803

Depreciation 6,711,216 7,208,682

Other Expenses 1,646,162 1,705,407

Total Operating Expenses 90,749,784      86,733,103      

OPERATING GAIN (LOSS) (1,534,551)       40,558             

NONOPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES

Interest Income 441,509 293,052

Interest Expense (1,341,691) (1,285,361)

Rent and Other 226,783 220,345

Gain on Disposal of Capital Assets 52,845 112,947

Sales Tax Revenues 14,177 193,149

Unrealized Gain on Investments 176,293           215,748           

Grant Revenue 6,572,344 -                      

Restricted Gifts and Grants 302,103           64,696

Expended for Operations (204,778)          (163,591)          

Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses, Net 6,239,585        (349,015)          

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES 4,705,034        (308,457)          

Capital Grants and Contributions 573,155 1,527,404        

INCREASE IN NET POSITION 5,278,189        1,218,947        

Net Position - Beginning of Year 80,428,614      79,209,667      

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR 85,706,803$    80,428,614$    
 

 

D
R
A
FT

67/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(15) 

 
2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from and on Behalf of Patients 88,026,146$    82,941,372$   

Other Receipts 15,935,880      3,163,418       

Cash Paid to Employees (49,730,019)     (46,284,493)    

Cash Paid to Suppliers and Others (33,818,305)     (34,169,020)    

  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 20,413,702      5,651,277       

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Restricted, Gifts, Grants, and Other Changes, 

  Net of Expended for Operations 6,669,669        (98,895)           

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND CAPITAL RELATED

  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Construction and Purchase of Capital Assets (5,596,434)       (2,597,235)      

Capital Grants and Contributions 573,155           1,527,404       

Sales Tax Revenue -                      3,645,932       

Principal Paid on Long-Term Debt (297,305)          (1,810,528)      

Interest Paid on Long-Term Debt (1,336,814)       (1,366,374)      

Net Cash Used by Capital and Capital

  Related Financing Activities (6,657,398)       (600,801)         

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment Income 617,802           508,800          

Rent and Other 226,783           220,345          

(Increase) Decrease of Notes Receivable (202,680)          48,230            

Purchases of Investments (11,052,274)     (12,695,194)    

Proceeds from Sale of Investments 10,713,340      8,838,011       

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities 302,971           (3,079,808)      

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20,728,944      1,871,773       

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 18,575,422      16,703,649     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR 39,304,366$    18,575,422$   
 

 

D
R
A
FT

68/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(16) 

 
2020 2019

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TO

  THE STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

Cash and Cash Equivalents in Current Assets 31,046,417$    10,426,602$   

Cash and Cash Equivalents in Restricted by Bond

  Indenture Agreements (Current and Noncurrent) 3,030,616     3,059,212    

Cash and Cash Equivalents in Designated by Board

  for Capital Improvements 4,806,352     4,765,701    

Cash and Cash Equivalents Restricted

  by Contributors and Grantors 420,981        323,907       

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 39,304,366$    18,575,422$   

Total Noncurrent Cash and Investments Included Above 7,769,044$      7,642,949$     

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING GAIN (LOSS) TO NET 

  CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating Gain (Loss) (1,534,551)$     40,558$          

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Gain (Loss)

  to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 6,711,216        7,208,682       

Provision for Bad Debts 11,483,336      11,253,829     

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Receivables (9,454,832)       (11,920,900)    

Supplies (291,290)          (88,028)           

Prepaid Expenses 149,510           (558,183)         

Accounts Payable 366,140           (1,183,418)      

Accrued Expenses 265,884           900,537          

Other Current Liabilities 7,436,021        -                     

Unearned Revenue 5,280,466        -                     

Estimated Third-Party Payor Settlements 1,802               (1,800)             
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 20,413,702$    5,651,277$     

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Fixed Assets Included in Accounts Payable 687,149$         58,575$          

D
R
A
FT

69/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(17) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (Hospital) is a 99-bed general acute care facility 
located in Rock Springs, Wyoming. The Hospital’s primary mission is to provide health care 
to the residents of Sweetwater County through its acute care services. The Hospital is a 
component unit of Sweetwater County, Wyoming (County) and participates in the County’s 
tax levies. The Hospital, as a component unit of the County, is exempt from income taxes 
under current regulations. 
 
The Hospital is governed by a board of trustees, which has all of the powers necessary and 
convenient to provide for the acquisition, betterment, operation, maintenance, and 
administration of the facilities as the board of trustees determines to be necessary and 
expedient. 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Foundation (Foundation) is a Wyoming nonprofit 
corporation that is reported as a blended component unit of the Hospital. The Foundation’s 
sole purpose is to support the Hospital. The Foundation is a nonprofit corporation as 
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) and is exempt from 
federal income taxes on related income pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the IRC. The 
Foundation has $3,098,134 and $3,177,855 of assets and $584,447 and $750,524 of 
revenue for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
Collectively, Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County and Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater 
County Foundation are referred to as the Hospital in the combined financial statements. 
 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenses are recognized in the accounts 
and reported in the combined financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing 
of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied. The Hospital’s 
combined financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America as prescribed by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The accompanying combined financial statements 
have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when 
earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is incurred. 
 
The Hospital uses enterprise fund accounting. Revenues and expenses are recognized on 
the accrual basis, using the economic resources measurement focus, based on GASB 
Codification Topic 1600, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and 
Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, as amended. 
 

D
R
A
FT

70/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(18) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Estimates also affect 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits and highly liquid investments with an original 
maturity of three months or less, unless otherwise designated or restricted. 
 
Patient Receivables 

Patient receivables are uncollateralized patient and third-party payor obligations. Payments 
of patient receivables are allocated to the specific claims identified in the remittance advice 
or, if unspecified, are applied to the earliest unpaid claim. 
 
The carrying amount of patient receivables is reduced by a valuation allowance that reflects 
management’s estimate of amounts that will not be collected from patients and third-party 
payors. Management reviews patient receivables by payor class and applies percentages to 
determine estimated amounts that will not be collected from third parties under contractual 
agreements and amounts that will not be collected from patients due to bad debts. 
Management considers historical write-off and recovery information in determining the 
estimated bad debt provision. 
 
Supplies 

Supplies are stated at lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. 
 
Noncurrent Cash and Investments 

Interest and dividends are included in nonoperating revenues when earned. Interest 
earnings on borrowed proceeds for capital acquisition are capitalized. 
 
The Hospital’s investments are maintained in accordance with Wyoming Statute 9-4-831. 
This statute limits the types of investments the Hospital may invest in as listed in 
Section 9-4-831(a). The Hospital has adopted an investment policy as directed under 
Section 9-4-831(h). 
 
Restricted investments consist of funds restricted in accordance with bond indenture 
agreements, funds restricted by donor for an endowment and purchase of equipment, and 
funds restricted by the board for capital improvements. Restricted investments that are 
available for obligations classified as current liabilities are reported in current assets. All 
investments are carried at fair value. Fair value is determined using quoted market prices. 

D
R
A
FT

71/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(19) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Capital Assets 

Capital assets acquisitions in excess of $5,000 are capitalized and recorded at historical 
cost. Contributed capital assets are reported at their estimated fair value at the time of their 
donation. All capital assets other than land are depreciated or amortized (in the case of 
capital leases) using the straight-line method of depreciation using these asset lives: 
 

Land Improvements 5 to 20 Years

Buildings 5 to 40 Years

Moveable Equipment 3 to 20 Years  
 
Notes Receivable 

Notes receivable are stated at principal amounts and are uncollateralized. Payments on 
notes receivable are allocated to the outstanding principal and accrued interest balances. 
Management reviews all notes receivable periodically and estimates a portion, if any, of the 
balance that will not be collected. 
 

Trust Funds 

The Hospital acts as custodian for the funds of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Auxiliary. Trust funds and the related liability are included in cash and accounts payable in 
the combined financial statements. The balance of these funds was $110,911 and $109,122 
at June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 

Compensated Absences 

The Hospital’s employees earn paid-time-off and sick leave at varying rates depending on 
years of service. Paid-time-off and sick leave accumulate up to a specified maximum 
depending upon length of service. Employees are paid for accumulated paid-time-off upon 
termination. Sick leave accumulated is forfeited upon termination. 
 

Self-Funded Health Insurance 

The provision for estimated health insurance claims includes estimates of the ultimate costs 
for both reported claims and claims incurred but not reported. 
 

Restricted Resources 

When the Hospital has both restricted and unrestricted resources available to finance a 
particular program, it is the Hospital’s policy to use restricted resources before unrestricted 
resources. 
 

Net Position 

Net position of the Hospital is classified in four components. Net position invested in capital 
assets consist of capital assets net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the current 
balances of any outstanding borrowings used to finance the purchase or construction of 
those assets. Restricted for debt service reserve and restricted by contributors and grantors 
is the noncapital net position that must be used for a particular purpose, as specified by 
creditors, grantors, or contributors external to the Hospital. Unrestricted net position is the 
remaining net position that does not meet the definition of invested in capital assets or 
restricted. 

D
R
A
FT

72/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(20) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Operating Revenues and Expenses 

The Hospital’s combined statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position 
distinguishes between operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses. Operating 
revenues result from exchange transactions associated with providing health care services – 
the Hospital’s principal activity. Nonexchange revenues, including taxes, grants, and 
contributions received for purposes other than capital asset acquisition, are reported as 
nonoperating revenues. Operating expenses are all expenses incurred to provide health 
care services, other than financing costs. 
 
Net Patient Service Revenue 

The Hospital has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments to the 
Hospital at amounts different from its established rates. Payment arrangements include 
prospectively determined rates, reimbursed costs, discounted charges, and per diem 
payments. Net patient service revenue is reported at the estimated net realizable amounts 
from patients, third-party payors, and others for services rendered, including estimated 
retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-party payors. 
Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an estimated basis in the period the related 
services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as final settlements are determined. 
 
Charity Care 

To fulfill its mission of community service, the Hospital provides care to patients who meet 
certain criteria under its charity care policy without charge or at amounts less than its 
established rates. Because the Hospital does not pursue collection of amounts determined 
to qualify as charity care, they are not reported as net patient service revenue. 
 
Sales and Use Tax 

The County imposed a 1% Sales and Use Tax beginning April 1, 2013 to provide support for 
capital infrastructure projects in the County. The Hospital’s portion of the proceeds was 
designated for payment of the principal on the Hospital Revenue Bonds, Series 2013B. 
Sales and use tax proceeds are recognized as revenue by the Hospital on the accrual basis 
as dictated by GASB Statement No. 22. For the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the 
Hospital recorded nonoperating revenue related to the Sales and Use tax of $14,177 and 
$193,149, respectively. The Sales and Use Tax ended during fiscal year 2019.   
 
Unearned Revenue 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the spread of Coronavirus Disease 
(COVID-19) a worldwide pandemic. Given the significant impact the pandemic had on global 
markets, supply chains, businesses and communities, the U.S. Department of Health and 
Human Services (HHS) made available emergency relief grant funds to health care 
providers. Total grant funds approved and received by the Hospital from these grants was 
$11,852,810. The HHS grant funds are subject to certain restrictions on eligible expenses or 
uses, and reporting requirements. Of the total amount received, $6,572,344 is reported as 
Grant Revenue in the combined statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net 
position and the remaining $5,280,466 is reported as Unearned Revenue in the combined 
statements of net position.  

D
R
A
FT

73/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(21) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Other Current Liabilities 

As part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act the Centers for 
Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) administered an Accelerated and Advanced Payment 
Program to provide additional relief funds to providers. During the year ended June 30, 2020 
the Hospital received total advanced funds through the Accelerated and Advanced Payment 
Program of $7,436,021, which is to be recouped by CMS starting 120 days from the date the 
funds were received, all of which is to be paid back within one year of receipt of the funds. 
These amounts are reflected as Other Current Liabilities on the combined statements of net 
position. 
 
County Support 

The Hospital received approximately $1,440,000 and $660,000 or 1.6% and 0.8% of total 
operating and nonoperating revenue in direct financial support from the County, for the 
years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The primary source of the funds is from 
the general funds of the County. The Hospital applies to the County for these funds, which 
the County distributes through resolution. For both years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, 
these funds were used to reimburse the Hospital for maintenance expenses. 
 
Grants and Contributions 

From time to time, the Hospital receives grants and contributions from individuals and 
private organizations. Revenues from grants and contributions (including contributions of 
capital assets) are recognized when all eligibility requirements, including time requirements, 
are met. Grants and contributions may be restricted for either specific operating purposes or 
for capital purposes. Amounts that are unrestricted or that are restricted to a specific 
operating purpose are reported as nonoperating revenues. Amounts restricted for capital 
acquisitions are reported after nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
Advertising Costs 

The Hospital expenses advertising costs as incurred. 
 
Risk Management 

The Hospital is exposed to various risks of loss from torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; business interruption; errors and omissions; employee injuries and 
illnesses; natural disasters; medical malpractice; and employee health, dental, and accident 
benefits. Commercial insurance coverage is purchased for claims arising from such matters. 
Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the three preceding 
years. 

D
R
A
FT

74/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(22) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Fair Value Measurements 

To the extent available, the Hospital’s investments are recorded at fair value. GASB 
Statement No. 72 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. This statement establishes a hierarchy of valuation inputs based on the 
extent to which inputs are observable in the marketplace. Inputs are used in applying the 
various valuation techniques and take in to account the assumptions that market 
participants use to make valuation decisions. Inputs may include price information, credit 
data, interest and yield curve data, and other factors specific to the financial instrument. 
Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources. 
 
In contrast, unobservable inputs reflect an entity’s assumptions about how market 
participants would value the financial instrument. Valuation techniques should maximize the 
use of observable inputs to the extent available. A financial instrument’s level within the fair 
value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 
 
The following describes the hierarchy of inputs used to measure fair value and the primary 
valuation methodologies used for financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis: 
 

Level 1 – Inputs that utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the Hospital has the ability to access. 
 
Level 2 – Inputs that include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active 
markets and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument. Fair values for these 
instruments are estimated using pricing models, quoted prices of securities with similar 
characteristics, or discounted cash flows. 
 
Level 3 – Inputs that are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, which are typically 
based on an entity’s own assumptions, as there is little, if any, related market activity. 

 
 

D
R
A
FT

75/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(23) 

 
NOTE 2 CHARITY CARE 

The Hospital maintains records to identify and monitor the level of charity care it provides. 
These records include the amount of charges foregone for services and supplies furnished 
under its charity care policy, and an estimated cost (based on cost to charge ratio) of those 
services and supplies. The estimated costs and expenses incurred to provide charity care 
for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, was approximately $974,000 and $939,000, 
respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 3 NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE 

The Hospital has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments to the 
Hospital at amounts different from its established rates. A summary of the payment 
arrangements with major third-party payors follows: 
 

Medicare 

Acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries were paid at 
prospectively determined rates per visit. These rates varied according to a patient 
classification system that was based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. The 
Hospital is entitled to certain additional payments on a sole community provider. The 
Hospital is reimbursed for these payments after submission of annual cost reports by the 
Hospital and audits thereof by the Medicare fiscal intermediary. The Hospital’s Medicare 
cost reports have been finalized by the Medicare fiscal intermediary through the year 
ended June 30, 2016. The Hospital’s classification of patients under the Medicare 
program and the appropriateness of their admission are subject to an independent 
review by a peer review organization under contract with the Hospital. 
 
Medicaid 

Acute care services provided to Medicaid program beneficiaries are paid at prospectively 
determined rates per discharge. These rates vary according to a patient classification 
system that is based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. 
 
Blue Cross 

Inpatient and outpatient services provided to Blue Cross subscribers are paid at 
established charges except for physician services that are reimbursed based on fee 
screens. 

 
Revenue from the Medicare and Medicaid programs accounted for approximately 27% and 
4%, respectively, of the Hospital’s net patient service revenue for the year ended June 30, 
2020 and 32% and 6%, respectively, of the Hospital’s net service patient revenue for the 
year ended June 30, 2019. Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid 
programs are extremely complex and subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at least a 
reasonable possibility that recorded estimates will change by a material amount in the near 
term. 

D
R
A
FT

76/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(24) 

 
NOTE 3 NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE (CONTINUED) 

The Hospital has also entered into payment agreements with certain commercial insurance 
carriers and other organizations. The basis for payment to the Hospital under these 
agreements includes charges, prospectively determined rates per discharge, and 
prospectively determined daily rates. 
 
A summary of patient service revenue, contractual adjustments, and provision for bad debts 
for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 

2020 2019

Gross Patient Service Revenue 171,217,712$  162,682,399$  

Adjustments and Discounts:

Medicare (42,983,042)     (38,438,555)     

Medicaid (10,451,904)     (10,230,601)     

Other Third-Party Payors (20,598,270)     (19,159,234)     

Provision for Bad Debts (11,483,336)     (11,253,829)     

   Total Adjustments and Discounts (85,516,552)     (79,082,219)     

Net Patient Service Revenue 85,701,160$    83,600,180$    

 
 

NOTE 4 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS  

Deposits 

The Hospital’s deposits are subject to, and in accordance with, Wyoming State Statutes. 
Under these statutes, all uninsured deposits are fully collateralized. The eligible collateral 
pledged shall be held in custody of any Federal Reserve Bank, or branch thereof, or held in 
escrow by some other bank in a manner as the banking commissioner shall prescribe be 
rules and regulations, or may be segregated from the other assets of the eligible public 
depository and held in its own trust department. All collateral so held shall be clearly 
identified as being security maintained or pledged for the aggregate amount of public 
deposits accepted and held on deposit by the eligible public depository. The depository has 
the right at any time to make substitutions of eligible collateral maintained or pledged and 
shall at all times be entitled to collect and retain all income derived from those investments 
with restrictions. The Hospital may legally invest in direct obligations of and other obligations 
guaranteed as to principal by the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies and instrumentalities. 
 
The Hospital’s investments are recorded at fair value and consist of cash and cash 
equivalents and U.S. agency obligations. As of June 30, 2020 and 2019, management 
believes the investments were in compliance with the defined rating and risk criteria set forth 
under Wyoming regulations. 

D
R
A
FT

77/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(25) 

 
NOTE 4 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Deposits (Continued) 

The Hospital provides for investment in a variety of investment funds. In general, 
investments are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit, and overall market 
volatility risk. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments, it is reasonably 
possible that changes in the values of the investments will occur in the near term and that 
such changes could materially affect the Hospital’s account balances. 
 
Investments 

The Hospital’s investments are reported at fair value as discussed in Note 1. At June 30, 
2020 and 2019, the Hospital had the following investments and maturities, all of which were 
held in the Hospital’s name by a custodial bank that is an agent of the Hospital. 
 

2020

Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 to 5 6 to 10 Credit Rating

Money Market 252,673$         252,673$         -$                     -$                     N/A

Brokered Certificates of Deposit 7,394,650        -                       7,394,650        -                       AA+ or AAA

Federal Farm Credit Bank Loan 2,257,728        -                       2,257,728        -                       AA or AAA

Federal Home Loan Bank 2,268,360        -                       2,268,360        -                       AA or AAA

Federal National Mortgage 2,800,762        -                       2,800,762        -                       AA or AAA

Total Investments 14,974,173$    252,673$         14,721,500$    -$                     

Investment Maturity (in Years)

2019

Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 to 5 6 to 10 Credit Rating

Money Market 549,472$         549,472$         -$                     -$                     N/A

Brokered Certificates of Deposit 4,056,860        -                       4,056,860        -                       AA+ or AAA

Federal Farm Credit Bank Loan 1,375,132        -                       1,245,154        129,978           AA or AAA

Federal Home Loan Bank 6,683,950        -                       6,683,950        -                       AA or AAA

Federal National Mortgage 1,969,825        -                       1,969,825        -                       AA or AAA

Total Investments 14,635,239$    549,472$         13,955,789$    129,978$         

Investment Maturity (in Years)

 
The carrying values of deposits shown above are included in the combined statements of 
net position as follows: 
 

2020 2019

Carrying Value:

Deposits 39,193,413$    18,466,259$    

WYO-STAR State Pooled Funds 110,953           109,163           

Investments 14,974,173      14,635,239      

Total Deposits and Investments 54,278,539$    33,210,661$    

Included in the Following Balance Sheet Captions:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 31,046,417$    10,426,602$    

Restricted by Contributors and Grantors 420,981           323,907           

Restricted by Bond Indenture Agreements 3,030,616        3,059,212        

Designated by Board for Capital Improvements 19,780,525      19,400,940

Total Deposits and Investments 54,278,539$    33,210,661$    
 

D
R
A
FT

78/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(26) 

 
NOTE 4 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Fair Value Measurements 

The Hospital uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain 
assets and liabilities and to determine fair value disclosures. For additional information on 
how the Hospital measures fair value refer to Note 1 – Organization and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies. The following table presents the fair value hierarchy for the 
balances of the assets and liabilities of the Hospital measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis as of June 30, 2020 and 2019 : 
 

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Brokered Certificates of Deposit 7,394,650$      -$                     -$                     7,394,650$      

U.S. Government Agencies -                       7,326,850        -                       7,326,850        

Total 7,394,650$      7,326,850$      -$                     14,721,500$    

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Brokered Certificates of Deposit 4,056,860$      -$                     -$                     4,056,860$      

U.S. Government Agencies -                       10,028,907      -                       10,028,907      

Total 4,056,860$      10,028,907$    -$                     14,085,767$    

2019

2020

 
Interest Income 

Interest income of $441,509 and $293,052 for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively, is made up entirely of interest income from deposits and patient accounts at 
collection. 
 
 

NOTE 5 PATIENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Patient accounts receivable for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 consists of the 
following: 
 

2020 2019

Receivable from Patients and Their Insurance Carriers 13,818,110$    14,974,313$    

Receivable from Medicare 1,666,269        1,904,291        

Receivable from Medicaid 248,703           371,662           

Total Patient Accounts Receivable 15,733,082      17,250,266      

Less: Estimated Allowance for Uncollectible Amounts (5,377,000)       (4,571,000)       

Net Patient Accounts Receivable 10,356,082$    12,679,266$    

 
 

NOTE 6 DESIGNATED NET POSITION 

Of the $44,545,002 and $42,657,849 of unrestricted net position reported in 2020 and 2019, 
$38,835,630 and $17,846,854, respectively, has been designated by the Hospital’s board of 
trustees for capital acquisitions. Designated funds remain under the control of the board of 
trustees, which may at its discretion later use the funds for other purposes. 
 

D
R
A
FT

79/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(27) 

 
NOTE 7 CAPITAL ASSETS 

Capital assets additions, retirements, and balances for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 
2019 are as follows: 
 

Balance Balance

June 30, Transfers June 30,

 2019 Additions Retirements  2020 

Land   18,245$           -$                     -$                     18,245$           

Land Improvements 2,939,428        -                       570,014           3,509,442        

Buildings 37,531,523      -                       556,139           38,087,662      

Equipment 110,331,703    19,864             (276,851)          110,074,716    

Totals at Historical Cost 150,820,899    19,864             849,302           151,690,065    

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation for:

Land Improvements (2,670,113)       (137,563)          -                       (2,807,676)       

Buildings (15,178,534)     (1,000,256)       -                       (16,178,790)     

Equipment (71,013,498)     (5,546,098)       2,981,550        (73,578,046)     

Total Accumulated Depreciation (88,862,145)     (6,683,917)       2,981,550        (92,564,512)     

Capital Assets, Net before Construction

  in Progress 61,958,754      (6,664,053)       3,830,852        59,125,553      

Construction in Progress 1,416,529        6,294,663        (3,867,528)       3,843,664        

Capital Assets, Net 63,375,283$    (369,390)$        (36,676)$          62,969,217$    

Balance Balance

June 30, Transfers June 30,

 2018 Additions Retirements  2019 

Land   18,245$           -$                     -$                     18,245$           

Land Improvements 2,909,812        -                       29,616             2,939,428        

Buildings 37,357,556      -                       173,967           37,531,523      

Equipment 108,114,801    6,285               2,210,617        110,331,703    

Totals at Historical Cost 148,400,414    6,285               2,414,200        150,820,899    

Less: Accumulated Depreciation for:

Land Improvements (2,444,024)       (226,089)          -                       (2,670,113)       

Buildings (14,136,081)     (1,042,453)       -                       (15,178,534)     

Equipment (65,172,981)     (5,911,359)       70,842             (71,013,498)     

Total Accumulated Depreciation (81,753,086)     (7,179,901)       70,842             (88,862,145)     

Capital Assets, Net before Construction

  in Progress 66,647,328      (7,173,616)       2,485,042        61,958,754      

Construction in Progress 1,199,158        2,714,298        (2,496,927)       1,416,529        

Capital Assets, Net 67,846,486$    (4,459,318)$     (11,885)$          63,375,283$    

 
Construction in progress at June 30, 2020 is related to the Central Plant Upgrade. The 
Central Plant Upgrade has an estimated total cost of $3.4 million and will be financed with 
internal funds. The project is expected to be completed in October 2020. 
 
Assets held under capital leases were as follows as of June 30, 2020 and 2019: 
 

2020 2019

Equipment 1,669,255$      1,669,255$      

Less: Accumulated Amortization (862,696)          (613,770)          

   Total 806,559$         1,055,485$      

 

D
R
A
FT

80/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(28) 

 
NOTE 8 LONG-TERM DEBT 

Long-term debt at June 30, 2020 and 2019 consists of the following: 
 

Balance Balance Amount

June 30, June 30, Due Within

 2019 Additions Reductions  2020  One Year 

Hospital Revenue Bonds:

Series 2013A 26,790,000$      -$                      -$                      26,790,000$      -$                      

Siemen's Note Payable 297,230             -                        (94,407)             202,823             99,004               

Capital Lease Obligations 773,593             -                        (202,898)           570,695             209,040             

Series 2013A Bond Premium 1,068,239          -                        (57,743)             1,010,496          -                        

Total 28,929,062$      -$                      (355,048)$         28,574,014$      308,044$           

Balance Balance Amount

June 30, June 30, Due Within

2018 Additions Reductions 2019 One Year

Hospital Revenue Bonds:

Series 2013A 26,790,000$      -$                      -$                      26,790,000$      -$                      

Series 2013B 1,235,000          -                        (1,235,000)        -                        -                        

Siemen's Note Payable 387,255             -                        (90,025)             297,230             94,407               

Capital Lease Obligations 1,259,096          -                        (485,503)           773,593             202,992             

Series 2013A Bond Premium 1,125,982          -                        (57,743)             1,068,239          -                        

Total 30,797,333$      -$                      (1,868,271)$      28,929,062$      297,399$           
 

 
The terms and due dates of the Hospital’s long-term debt at June 30, 2020 are as follows: 
 

 Sweetwater County, Wyoming (Memorial Hospital) Hospital Revenue Refunding 
Bonds Series 2013A, dated June 20, 2013. Interest is due annually to September 
2037 at a 5% rate. Bonds are secured by Hospital revenues. 

 Sweetwater County, Wyoming (Memorial Hospital) Hospital Revenue Bonds Series 
2013B, dated June 20, 2013. Interest was due annually at a 3.5% rate. Bonds were 
secured by Hospital revenues. Bonds were paid off in fiscal year 2019. 

 Siemen’s Note Payable, payable in monthly installments of $8,877, including 
interest at 4.76%, through January 2021. 

 Capital Lease Obligation, payable in monthly installments of $12,788, including 
interest at 0.77%, through October 2018. 

 Capital Lease Obligation, payable in monthly installments of $9,580, including 
interest at 1.78%, through April 2019. 

 Capital Lease Obligation, payable in monthly installments of $12,391, including 
interest at 1.38%, through May 2019. 

 Capital Lease Obligation, payable in monthly installments of $18,230, including 
interest at 2.68%, through February 2023. 
 

Restrictive Covenants 

The Hospital is required to meet certain financial and nonfinancial covenants. Management 
believes the Hospital was in compliance with the restrictive covenants as of June 30, 2020 
and 2019, respectively. 

D
R
A
FT

81/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(29) 

 
NOTE 8 LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 

Scheduled principal and interest payments on long-term debt and capital leases are as 
follows: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2021 308,044$        1,359,684$     1,667,728$     

2022 317,954          1,349,218       1,667,172       

2023 147,520          1,340,968       1,488,488       

2024 1,230,000       1,308,750       2,538,750       

2025 1,295,000       1,245,625       2,540,625       

2026 to 2030 7,530,000       5,162,500       12,692,500     

2031 to 2035 9,665,000       3,023,625       12,688,625     

2036 to 2038 7,070,000       542,000          7,612,000       

Total 27,563,518$   15,332,370$   42,895,888$   

 
 

NOTE 9 PENSION PLANS 

The Hospital has a Section 457 defined contribution pension plan that is available to all 
qualified Hospital employees. Employees are eligible to participate in the plan upon 
completion of three months of service. The Hospital’s matching contributions are deposited 
into the 401(a) plan described below. 
 
The Hospital has a Section 401(a) defined contribution pension plan that is available to all 
qualified Hospital employees. The Hospital’s contribution is based on a 100% match of 
employee contributions up to a maximum of 7% of participant salaries. Employees are 
eligible to participate in the plan upon completion of one year of service. 
 
The pension expense for the years ended June 30, 2020, 2019, and 2018 was $1,608,185, 
$1,462,556, and $1,479,411, respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 10 CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 

The Hospital grants credit without collateral to its patients, most of who are insured under 
third-party payor agreements. The mix of patient receivables from third-party payors and 
patients at June 30, 2020 and 2019 was as follows: 
 

2020 2019

Medicare 25 % 24 %

Medicaid 6 8

Blue Cross 11 19

Other Third-Party Payors 26 19

Patients 32 30
Total 100 % 100 %

 

D
R
A
FT

82/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(30) 

 
NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Operating Leases 

The Hospital leases certain facilities and equipment under long-term operating lease 
agreements for the year ended June 30, 2020. Total lease expense for all operating leases 
for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $839,000 and $1,021,000, 
respectively. 

 
Minimum future lease payments for these operating leases are as follows: 
 

Year Ending June 30,

 Operating 

Leases 

2021 204,204$        
 

 
Malpractice Insurance 

The Hospital has malpractice insurance coverage to provide protection for professional 
liability losses on a claims-made basis subject to a limit of $1 million per claim and an annual 
aggregate limit of $3 million. There is additional excess coverage above this limit up to $10 
million. Effective May 1, 2020 this excess coverage was decreased to $5 million. Should the 
claims-made policy not be renewed or replaced with equivalent insurance, claims based on 
occurrences during its term, but reported subsequently, would be uninsured. 
 
Self-Funded Health Insurance 

The Hospital self-funds health benefits for eligible employees and their dependents. Health 
insurance expense is recorded on an accrual basis. An accrued liability is recorded in the 
combined financial statements, which estimates the claims incurred but not yet reported and 
claims reported but not yet paid. The Hospital has stop loss insurance to cover catastrophic 
claims. The Hospital expensed amounts representing the employer’s portion of actual claims 
paid, adjusted for the actuarially determined estimates of liabilities relating to claims 
resulting from services provided prior to the respective fiscal period-end. The Hospital 
recognized approximately $6,298,000 and $5,170,000 of expense during the years ended 
June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The estimated liability relating to self-funded health 
insurance was $400,000 as of June 30, 2020 and 2019. 
 
Litigations, Claims, and Disputes 

The Hospital is subject to the usual contingencies in the normal course of operations relating 
to the performance of its tasks under its various programs. In the opinion of management, 
the ultimate settlement of litigation, claims, and disputes in process will not be material to 
the combined financial position of the Hospital. 

D
R
A
FT

83/250



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019 
 
 
 

(31) 

 
NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 

Litigations, Claims, and Disputes (Continued) 

The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state, and 
local governments. Compliance with these laws and regulations, specifically those relating 
to the Medicare and Medicaid programs, can be subject to government review and 
interpretation, as well as regulatory actions unknown and unasserted at this time. Federal 
government activity has increased with respect to investigations and allegations concerning 
possible violations by health care providers of regulations, which could result in the 
imposition of significant fines and penalties, as well as significant repayments of previously 
billed and collected revenues from patient services. Management believes that the Hospital 
is in substantial compliance with current laws and regulations. 
 
 

D
R
A
FT

84/250



 

(32) 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 
 
Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Rock Springs, Wyoming 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the combined financial statements of Memorial 
Hospital of Sweetwater County (the Hospital), which comprise the combined statement of net position 
as of June 30, 2020, and the related combined statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net 
position, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the combined financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated REPORT DATE. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the combined financial statements, we considered the 
Hospital’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the combined 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Hospital’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Hospital’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 

D
R
A
FT

85/250



Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
 

(33) 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Hospital’s combined financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express 
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that 
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Hospital’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Hospital’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 
REPORT DATE 
 
 

D
R
A
FT

86/250



 

1 
 

Maintenance of Board and Board Committee Meeting Minutes 
 

Statement of Purpose 
By law and regulatory requirements, the Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

(Hospital) is responsible for the maintenance and retention of their records. Effective records 

management includes timely access to accurate and reliable information, assures transparency and 

accountability to the public, preserves the Hospital’s history, and preserves essential information.  

Definitions 
Board means Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

Committee means any standing or ad hoc committee of the Board  

Custodian means the executive assistant of the CEO, who is responsible for the maintenance, care, and 

keeping of the public records. 

Meeting means any meeting duly convened, constituted and held by the Board; meetings convened by 

another entity to which the Board has been invited; and any meeting by one of the Board’s Committees. 

Minutes means the written record of the proceedings of the meeting, including actions, decisions, 

commitments and major discussion points  

Maintenance means the permanent and orderly preservation of minutes in either physical or digital 

mode  

Retention means the time period the minutes are required to be maintained. 

 

Policy 
Meeting minutes of the Board are the legal and official record of the Board’s actions and provide 

evidence of the Board’s interactions. Meeting minutes of Board Committees also provide a lasting 

record of actions and decisions by these Committees. 

It is the policy of the Board that its meeting minutes and those of its Committees shall be recorded and 

maintained in a manner that complies with Wyoming State statute and other regulatory requirements 

pertinent to governmental hospitals.1  

Procedure 
1. There shall be an official record, or minutes, of the proceedings of every meeting.  

2. Meeting minutes should include:  

a. Date of the meeting  

b. Time the meeting was called to order  

c. Names of the meeting participants and absentees  

d. Corrections and amendments to previous meeting minutes  

                                                           
1 W.S. 16-4-401 to 16-4-408 (2011) 

87/250



 

2 
 

e. Additions to the current agenda  

f. Whether a quorum is present  

g. Motions taken or rejected  

h. Voting-that there was a motion and second, and the outcome of the vote  

i. Actions taken or agreed to be taken  

j. Next steps  

k. Items to be held over  

l. New business 

m. Open discussion or public participation 

n. Next meeting date and time  

o. Time of adjournment 

3. The Board Secretary shall delegate the recording and drafting of Board meeting minutes to the 

executive assistant of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). 

4. For committees where someone other than the executive assistant of the CEO takes the 

minutes, the Committee chair is responsible for assuring that the CEO’s executive assistant has 

all the Committee meeting material for the upcoming Board meeting packet.  

5. Board meeting minutes are official once they have been approved by the Board and signed by 

the Board Secretary. Committee meeting minutes are official once they have been approved by 

Committee members.  

6. The minutes of executive sessions are confidential and are in the custody of the executive 

assistant of the CEO. 

7. Public meeting notice, as well as the meeting agenda, handouts and documents that were 

referred to during the meeting shall be attached to the official copy of the minutes. 

8. Storage and retention of all official records of the Board shall comply with Wyoming State 

statutes2 and are delegated to the executive assistant of the CEO. 

a. Minutes of all Board meetings shall be permanently retained in physical form. 

i. To protect from damage and destruction, physical copies of the minutes and 

their attached documents shall be retained in a safe, secure file cabinet in the 

office of the Hospital’s administration. 

ii. Digital copies of the minutes and their attached documents shall be uploaded 

and retained in the board portal. 

b. Minutes of all Committee meetings shall be retained for three years. 

i. Digital copies of the minutes and their attached documents shall be uploaded 

and retained in the appropriate Committee section of the board portal.  

ii. The administrative staff associated with the Committee shall be responsible for 

uploading each month’s meeting material into the board portal for storage. 

9. Board and Committee minutes are controlled from unauthorized access. 

a. Digital minutes are protected from unauthorized access through passwords. 

b. Access to paper minutes is under the purview of the executive assistant of the CEO. 

c. Minutes that are in the public domain shall be provided for public review without 

charge on equipment made available by the Hospital in its office. Copies of the minutes 

may be requested; the Hospital may set a fee to cover costs of copying. 

                                                           
2 W.S. 17-16-1601 and 17-19-1601 (2011) 

88/250



 

3 
 

10. Official minutes of all Board meetings will be part of the public material on the Board of 

Trustee’s section of the Hospital’s website. 

 

 

89/250



DRAFT

Current Status: Draft PolicyStat ID: 8641492 

Approved: N/A 
Review Due: N/A 
Document Area: Administration 
Reg. Standards: 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES-POLITICAL ACTIVITY 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 

Policy 

 

REFERENCES 

Attachments 

No Attachments 

To provide guidelines for Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC) employees as to political activity. 

Every MHSC employee has the right to register and vote on all political issues. As employees of a Memorial 

Hospital which receives federal and state funds there are certain limits on employees political rights.  Those 

limits include but are not limited to: 

A Hospital employee may not engage in, nor may Supervisors or Directors allow employees to engage in 

campaign activities of any sort, including solicitation of political contributions while on any of the Hospital's 

campuses. 

Employees are not permitted to use Hospital property, such as copiers, printers, fax machines, computers or 

telephones for political activities. 

An employee may not campaign or participate in political activities while wearing Hospital apparel. This 

includes wearing of political buttons or signs when at work and/or on duty, and placing signs on any of the 

Hospital campuses. However, this does not exclude an employee's right to display a bumper sticker on an 

employee's personal vehicle.  

Political activity is to be kept separate and apart from the job and away from the workplace.  

 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES-POLITICAL ACTIVITY. Retrieved 09/28/2020. Official copy at

http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/8641492/. Copyright © 2020 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 1 of 1

90/250

www.princexml.com
Prince - Non-commercial License
This document was created with Prince, a great way of getting web content onto paper.



MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Board of Trustees 
From:  Wm. Marty Kelsey 
Date:  September 29, 2020 
Subject: Quality Committee…Chair’s Report…September, 2020 
 
Kari Quickenden reported that the Joint Commission Survey Readiness team is meeting weekly 
to prepare for the Joint Commission visit expected soon. 
 
The Culture of Safety survey was administered in June. After analysis, it will be presented to the 
PIPS (Performance Improvement & Patient Safety) Committee and the Quality Committee in 
October. 
 
The Patient Safety Plan is being worked on. Again, this Plan will be presented to the PIPS 
Committee and the Quality Committee in October. It will come to the Board soon. 
 
Kara Jackson reported on the Quality Reporting Program results. Regarding the Readmission 
Reduction Program and the Hospital-Acquired Condition Program results, MHSC will experience 
a slight reduction of revenues in 2020 (less than $16,000 total) based on CMS criteria. Nothing 
for the Board to be alarmed about as these reductions are quite common. Regarding the 
Hospital Value Based Purchasing Program results, MHSC performed well enough to earn a 
bonus payment estimated to be about $28,000 in 2020. Performance has decreased somewhat 
since 2018, but still positive. 
 
Regarding progress in the Star Rating domain, an opportunity exists within the safety of care 
category, specifically for the CDI (Clostridioides difficile infection) measure. The Hospital’s 
Infection Preventionist is working on improvements.  
 
An interdisciplinary team is working to create a new safety committee, which hopefully will be 
kicked off in October or November. 
 
CMS is proposing some major methodology changes for 2021 regarding the Star Rating system. 
Under the proposal, significant changes are: (1) Hospitals will be placed into one of three peer 
groups; (2) The calculation of group scores will be simplified; (3) Mortality and Safety measures 
will be emphasized more; (4) The Timely and Effective Care measure will consolidate three 
separate measure groups and will be weighted at 12%. It is estimated that if and when 
implemented, 51% of hospitals would receive the same rating; 45% of hospitals would shift by 
one star (almost twice as many hospitals will go up one star as will go down one star); 5% of 
hospitals would shift by two stars (almost four times as many hospitals in this category would 
go up two stars as would go down two stars.) 
 

91/250



The new Quality Committee agenda section called “From the Director” will be addressed at 
each Quality Committee meeting every other month commencing in October. 
 
 

92/250



 

  Page 1 of 3 

Confidential   10/4/2020 

Quality Committee Meeting 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

September 16, 2020 

 
 

Present:  Voting Members: Kara Jackson (Quality Director), Irene Richardson (CEO), Leslie 

Taylor (Clinic Director), Tami Love (CFO), Marty Kelsey (Quality Board Chair), Dr. 

Kristy Nielson (CNO), Dr. Melinda Poyer (CMO), Dr. Kari Quickenden (CCO), 

 

Non-voting Members: Noreen Hove, Karali Plonsky, Corey Worden, Jodi Corley  

 

Absent/Excused:  Voting Members: Dr. Banu Symington 

  

Non-voting Members: Kalpana Pokhrel, Gabrielle Seilbach  

 

Chair:   Mr. Marty Kelsey  

 

Mission Moment 

 

Ms. Richardson shared a wonderful email from a school nurse thanking MHSC for their help in 

providing personal protective equipment for school nurses and for an efficient swabbing station.  

 

Approval of Agenda  

Mr. Kelsey presented the Agenda for approval. Ms. Richardson motioned for approval and Dr. 

Nielson seconded the motion. Motion was unanimously approved. 

 

Approval of Minutes 

 

Mr. Kelsey presented the August 19, 2020 Quality Committee Minutes for approval. Dr. 

Quickenden motioned for approval and Dr. Neilson seconded the motion. Motion was 

unanimously approved. 

 

Old Business 

 

Update was presented by Dr. Quickenden, who explained that MHSC has not yet been 

surveyed by the Joint Commission (TJC).  Dr. Quickenden expects that TJC will be onsite next 

week to conduct their triannual survey.  In preparation for the impending survey, the Continual 

Survey Readiness (CSR) committee is meeting weekly.  Departments present action items that 

they return to for review.  In addition, Dr. Quickenden, Dr. Nielson, Ms. Jackson, Ms. Hoove, and 

additional staff are rounding daily in various departments.  

 

Ms. Jackson presented an update on the Culture of Safety survey, which was administered in 

June 2020.  MHSC received a 58% response rate from staff.  In August Ms. Plonsky and Ms.  

Seilbach complied the data and entered into a tool provided by the Agency for Healthcare 

Research and Quality(AHRQ).  They are analyzing the data, creating a PowerPoint presentation, 

and developing an executive summary.  These items will be presented to the Performance 

Improvement and Patient Safety (PIPS) committee and the Quality Committee of the Board 

meeting in October.   

 

 

93/250



 

  Page 2 of 3 

Confidential   10/4/2020 

Ms. Jackson presented an update on the Patient Safety Plan.  The new plan is almost complete 

and will be brought to PIPS and the Quality Committee of the Board in October for approval.  It 

will then be taken to the Board and Medical Executive Committee (MEC). Ms. Jackson 

explained that they are working to develop a Culture of Safety committee, committee charter, 

and identify meaningful data.  

 

New Business 

 

Ms. Jackson presented the most recent Quality Reporting Program Results.  Ms. Jackson 

explained that MHSC is moving towards a value-based organization from a volume-based 

program.   

 

Hospital Readmission Reduction Program 2020 Performance: .11% penalty (~$3,400) due to 

pneumonia. Hospital-Acquired Condition Reduction Program 2020 performance: 1% penalty 

(~$12,00), due to Clostridioides difficile Infection (CDI). Value Based Purchasing 2020 

performance: 2.33% bonus (~28,000), trending down due to pneumonia mortality, HCAHPS 

domains, MHSC did not have enough cases for Hospital Acquired Conditions (HAC)/Safety.  

Medicare Spending per Beneficiary performed slightly worse.  

 

Ms. Corley presented an updated for MHSC’s Merit-Based Incentive Payment System (MIPS) 

results.  MHSC received a score of 78.8/100 overall.  MHSC will receive a positive adjustment of 

0.35%.  MHSC scored lower this year due to EMDs as much of the reporting piece of EMDs was 

broken.  Ms. Corley has put together packets for providers showing them exactly where they 

need to document for MIPS. A very small, if any, payment adjustment is expected for next year 

due to all of the hardships MIPS will allow.  Next year the threshold to receive an incentive 

payment is increasing to 85%.  We will need to increase our score to achieve this.  

 

Medical Staff Update 

 

Dr. Poyer gave the Medical Staff update, noting that physician meetings are held bi-weekly. Dr. 

Poyer reported that transfer data is reviewed on a monthly basis. 170 transfers were reviewed 

from last month and only 2 – 3 were identified as possible cases that could have stayed at 

MHSC. 

 

Dr. Poyer reported that MHSC currently has one staff member out on quarantine.  Rock Springs 

has had zero positive COVID students from school districts one and two.  Sweetwater County 

continues to have very low COVID number, with hopes that this trend continues.  MHSC is 

working diligently with community organizations to ensure a seamless back-to-school process.   

 

 

Informational Agenda  

 

There were no questions on the informational agenda.  

 

Quality Committee will be presenting to the Board in October. 

 

 

 

 

94/250



 

  Page 3 of 3 

Confidential   10/4/2020 

From the Director 

Mr. Kelsey presented that moving forward Ms. Jackson and Dr. Quickenden will provide a report 

of significant achievements and progress every other month to the Quality Committee of the 

Board, starting in October. 

 

Dr. Quickenden briefly discussed future changes to the Hospital Star Rating program.  The 

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS) are looking to simplify the Star Rating calculations.  

Hospitals have asked them to look into placing hospitals into peer groups along with adjusting 

the way the averages are calculated.  With the proposed changes, if they are all implemented,  

51% of hospitals would receive the same rating (1,743 hospitals), 45% of hospitals would shift up 

or down one star (1,477 hospitals), 5% would shift by two stars (143 up two stars, 37 down two 

stars), .2% would shift by three stars (1 go up, 7 go down), 1 hospital would go from 5 to 1 star. 

 

Dr. Quickenden also mentioned that the National Quality Forum is proposing 8-10 standards 

hospitals would attest to that state they are doing things to keep patients safe from COVID.   

 
Meeting Adjourned   Mr. Kelsey adjourned the meeting at 9:08 am  

 

Next Meeting    October 21, 2020 at 08:15 am via ZOOM 

 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

_____________________________________________      

Robin Fife, Recording Secretary 

95/250



Quality Committee of the Board 

Quality, Risk, Safety, & Accreditation Summary  

September 2020 

 

Three Priorities FY 2021 

1. HCAHPS/Patient Experience 

2. High Level Disinfection  

3. Culture of Safety Survey Results and Action Plans 

 

1) Star Rating 

a. There are seven categories within the Star Rating and they are as follows: mortality, 

readmission, safety of care, efficient use of medical imaging, timeliness of care, patient 

experience (see next bullet) and effectiveness of care. Each of these seven categories 

contain several data metrics. Data within the following categories continues to trend in 

right direction: mortality. Opportunities for improvement exist within the efficient use of 

medical imaging category. OP-10 Abdomen CT with and without Contrast – Project 

Team is working on improvements of process at this time, will continue to monitor. June 

and July’s data within the readmission category has increased, an in-depth analysis of the 

data is being conducted to identify potential gaps. An opportunity for improvement exists 

within the safety of care category, specifically for the CDI (Clostridioides difficile 

infection) measure, Infection Preventionist working on improvements with nursing 

departments.  

b. Within the Timeliness of Care category, Ed-2b: ED Median Admit Decision Time to ED 

Departure Time has seen an increase in the data over the past few months. The project 

team is aware and is identifying and developing thresholds for each part of the part of the 

Patient Flow process. Once thresholds are developed and expectations of meeting his 

threshold are set, will analyze data and further identify opportunities for improvement. 

Within the Effectiveness of Care category, we are seeing fluctuations with the data for 

Core Sep1 – Early Management Bundle, Severe Sepsis/Septic Shock. Scorecards 

identifying opportunities for improvement continue to be sent to physicians and nurses. 

Sepsis team developed new visual tool to ensure all elements of bundle are met in a 

timely manner and rounding and education have taken place. The sepsis project team 

continues to work towards their new goal related to improving compliance with ordering 

and obtaining blood cultures within specified timeframe. Improvement work continues 

for Core OP-23 – Head CT/MRI Results for Stroke Pts within 45 minutes of Arrival.  

c. Patient Experience-HCAHPS: The “Overall Inpatient HCAHPS Dashboard” is the survey 

data that affects our Star Rating and Value Based Purchasing reimbursement program. 

This survey includes OB, ICU, and Med-Surg. Data will look different beginning next 

month, as the data strategy and improvement strategy has changed with switching to new 

vendor, Press Ganey. 

i. Med Surg increased their scores in each domain from Q1 to Q2 2020. ICU and 

OB ended Q2 2020 with lower scores overall.    

96/250



 

2) Risk/Safety 

a. There were 20 occurrence reports for August. 12 were medication related, of which 2 

were also weight related. One medication related event should also be counted as a good 

catch. There were 2 falls and 2 possible breaks in sterile field. The other 4 occurrence 

reports were miscellaneous events.  

b. Safety – An interdisciplinary team is working to create a new safety committee, with 

hopes that meetings will kick off in October or November. The Patient Safety Plan is 

close to being finished and will likely come to Quality Committee of the Board in 

October for review and approval. The Culture of Safety Survey was administered in June, 

and results from the survey were entered into Agency for Healthcare Research in Quality 

(AHRQ) Data Analysis Tool in July and first part of August. Members of Quality and 

Senior Leadership are analyzing the data, as well as putting together a presentation and 

an executive summary. This presentation will likely be ready in October as well. After 

presentation of this information, the next step is to develop initiatives related to our 

opportunities for improvement.  

3)  PI Standards 

a. Our PI Standards within the dashboard include data metrics defined by Centers for 

Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and The Joint Commission (TJC), as well as 

priorities identified by MHSC on the Performance Improvement and Patient Safety 

(PIPS) plan.  

4) Accreditation 

a. We are currently in our Joint Commission triennial survey window and a survey will 

likely occur in the next two weeks. CSR Committee continues to meet weekly in order to 

prepare. Joint Commission rounding and tracers have increased in frequency. There are 

some standards that need work to come into compliance and this work is underway. 

“Joint Points” continue to be shared with the hospital and clinics and we have increased 

the frequency of these as well to five times per week.   

 

 

 

 
 

 

97/250



HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE CHAIR REPORT TO THE BOARD SEPTEMBER 2020  

 Ed Tardoni 

The Human Resources Committee met in a Zoom format this month.   

HR DATA FOR THE MONTH 

The usual HR reports are included in the Board packet.  The turnover and rehire rates continue to be 

better than national averages. 

POLICY ACTIVITY 

The HR Committee continued activity on the following policies: 

POLITICAL ACTIVITY POLICY 

The committee considered a new policy on political activity.   By unanimous vote, the committee sends 

the policy to the Board for consideration with a due pass recommendation. 

ADDITONAL POLICY DISCUSSIONS 

The HR Committee wishes to continue the hold on the following until finalization of the Medical Staff 

Bylaws.  To summarize the following items are linked and language dependent on each other: 

 Termination and Appeals 

 Introductory Period 

 Corrective Action 

 Medical Staff Bylaws 

 Board Appeals Procedure  

The committee was updated on progress related to making all of these policies consistent.  The intent is 

to have a package of revised wording available for presentation to the board upon release of the above 

for consideration. 

ADDITONAL DISCUSSIONS 

An unsolicited proposal was brought before the committee for discussion.  It involved a no cost service 

for employees related to the IRS Earned Income Tax Credit.  Upon investigation and discussion, the 

committee concluded that the same service could be obtained from the IRS at no cost.  The brochure 

language demonstrated that only about forty employees had a possibility of being helped.  However, it 

would result in about half of the employees winding up on a list for solicitation for insurance products.  

In short, the program was a marketing tool for insurance products that would compete with our benefit 

package.  The program was rejected for consideration. 

NEXT MEETING 

The HR Committee meets the third Monday of the month. The next meeting will be October 19, 2020 at 

3:00 P.M most likely by Zoom 

 

98/250



 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Human Resources Committee Meeting – Minutes Draft 
Monday, September 28, 2020 
Zoom 
 
Trustee Members Attending by Zoom: Barbara Sowada & Ed Tardoni 
Members Present by Zoom: Amber Fisk, Irene Richardson, Suzan Campbell 
Guests by Zoom: Amy Lucy, Kristy Nielson, Kari Quickenden, Tami Love, Ann Clevenger 
 
Ed called the meeting to order. Amber said she had an additional item for the agenda. Suzan sent out a 
political activity policy. The motion to amend the agenda to include the policy was made by Barbara, 
second by Irene. Motion carried.  
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
I. MINUTES APPROVED: 
 
The motion to approve the minutes for the August 17, 2020, meeting was made by Barbara, second by 
Amber. Motion carried.  
 
II. TURNOVER REPORT: 
 
Amber said the packet shows the overall hospital turnover as of the end of August 2020. The top 
turnover is reception. Barbara asked for clarification of some numbers. Amber said there could be an 
error in some of the numbers and said it may be due to some formulas in the Excel spreadsheet. Amy 
will check the numbers, verify the calculations, and provide an update. Ed said the update should be 
included in the packet. Amber said the 18% rehire rate is incredible. Amber asked if the Barbara and Ed 
want to see the clinic numbers shown separately. They said they do want that information broken out. 
Amber said she is happy to provide the information in the way that is most helpful. There was discussion 
around why we report length of service for separations. Amber said typically supervisors figure out the 
fit isn’t right. Amber said separations are typically due to performance (on time, schedule, work ethic, 
etc.). That is why the intro periods are so important. Irene said that is why we are looking at an 
extension of the intro period policy.  

 
III. OPEN POSITIONS: 
 
Amy reviewed openings and the current status.  
 
IV. EMPLOYEE POLICIES: 
 

a. Workplace Violence Prevention Policy – Amber sent out Suzan’s e-mail and draft. Ed 
asked for the intent. Suzan said we currently have a policy called Workplace Violence. This will replace 
that one. She said this has a focus on prevention. Barbara asked if there is any language about patients 
and initiating workplace safety. She also asked if there is information included in the patient’s bill of 
rights. She asked Suzan to review and make the language match. Barbara said there was mention of a 
written workplace plan. She asked if the policy and plan should be ready to go at the same time. Suzan 
said she just wanted to know if the Committee wants to replace the plan. Suzan will review and said the 
bill of rights needs some work for The Joint Commission anyway. Ed clarified and said this draft takes a 

99/250



 

different viewpoint and set up for prevention. There was discussion of Tami’s highlighted comments. 
The copy in the packet is not the latest thing Suzan sent out. Tami included wording from David Beltran 
in Security. The motion to adopt the security response language as presented by Tami was made by 
Amber, second by Barbara. Motion carried. Ed said he wanted to discuss the definition of weapons. The 
original policy had a definition by OSHA. Ed sent comments to everyone that everything would qualify as 
a weapon under that definition. Ed suggested using the language in the current policy. He said it is 
consistent with the OSHA definition of violence. The motion to approve the format in front of the 
Committee right now was made by Suzan, second by Barbara. Motion carried. Barbara asked when the 
policy will go to the Board. Suzan said we are not in a big hurry. Ed said the hospital staff will check the 
patient’s bill of rights, generate a workplace violence prevention plan, and make two changes as 
discussed. The Committee will review again at the October meeting. 

 
b. Political Activity Policy – Ed said the group sent something out at the last minute. Suzan 

said she sent it out the prior Thursday and then sent again earlier in the day to make sure it was seen. 
Suzan said we did not have a policy. Marty Kelsey asked for it so Suzan found information from other 
hospitals. She asked if the Committee thinks we need it or if this is what they were looking for. Barbara 
asked if it is needed. Amber said there was an incident and it was addressed. Amber thinks it is a good 
idea to have it. Suzan feels it is ready. The motion to approve the political activity policy and forward to 
the Board for review was made by Barbara, second by Irene. Motion carried. Ed said there are to be no 
changes made to it before it goes in the board meeting packet. If there are changes, it comes back to the 
Committee to review. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
V. EITC TAX CREDIT PROGRAM FOLR EMPLOYEES: 
 
Irene said the Wyoming Hospital Association (WHA) is always looking for new vendors. She said it is very 
important we support the vendors because they support the WHA. A company offers an opportunity to 
see if any employees have earned income benefits. Irene wanted to bring this by the Committee to see 
if there is something we should offer to our employees. There is no charge to the employee. Amber said 
we are not at a place where we are interested in offering additional benefits. She thinks offering a 
professional expert to staff is a good thing. Ed shared his thoughts. He said the IRS offers this for free. He 
said he sees some downside to it. Ed expressed concern of board members in these committee 
meetings being too influential. Barbara said Ed shared comments she was thinking about. Ed thanked 
Irene and Amber for bringing it forward. The Committee agreed this is not something we want to pursue 
at this time. 
 
VI. COMMITTEE MEMBER REPORTS: 
 

Ed welcomed Ann and asked if she had any questions. He reviewed the process and said staff is in 

charge. He said Board members are here to ask questions.  

 
VII. NEXT MEETING DATE: 
 
The next meeting is Monday, October 19, 2020. 
 
Ed thanked everyone for participating. The meeting adjourned at 4:19 PM. 

100/250



Human Resources Committee Meeting 
Monday, September 28, 2020 

Amended 
3:00 PM – Zoom meeting  

AGENDA 
 

Old Business  
I. Approval of minutes 
II. Turnover Report - Amber 
III. Open Positions –Amy 
IV. Employee policies– Suzan 

a. Workplace Violence Prevention policy 
b. Others needing discussion – Political Activity (sent 9/24/20) 

New Business  
V. EITC Tax Credit Program for Employees - Amber and Irene 
VI. Committee member reports, other discussion(s) – as needed 
VII. Determination of Next Meeting Date (Auto-Scheduled for (10/19/20) 

 
 

101/250



Top Position(s) /  Turnover 2020 %
Clinic Collections Clerk/Recp. 6 40%
Registered Nurse 6 5%
EVS TECH 5 20%

Top Department(s) / Turnover 2020 %
Clinic 9 18%
EVS 7 14%
Nutrition Services 5 10%
Health Information Management 4 8%

Top Reasons / Turnover 2020 %
Discharged 16 33%
Resigned 9 18%
Other Employment 9 18%
Moving Out of Area/Relocation 5 10%
Retired 2 4%

Length of Service 2020 %
Less than 90 days 9 18%
91 - 365 days 14 29%
1-2 Yrs. 10 20%
3-5 Yrs. 8 16%
6-10 Yrs. 4
11-20 Yrs.
21-41Yrs. 4 8%
Total 49

Corrective Action % Discharged
Counseling
Verbal Warning
Written Warning 4% 100%
Final Written Warning 14% 100%
Administrative Leave

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY
2020 Overall  Turnover Data (As of 08/31/2020)

0%

5%

10%

15%

0
5

10
15

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%

Cl
in

ic

EV
S

N
ut

rit
io

n
Se

rv
ic

es

He
al

th
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
M

an
ag

em
en

t

0

10

Clinic Collections
Clerk/Recp.

Registered Nurse

EVS TECH

102/250



Total 
Employees 536

536

Separations
New 

Employees 536
January 4 4 533

February 9 6 530
March 9 8 529

April 1 4 532
May 7 1 526
June 7 3 522
July 3 8 527

August 9 8 526
September

October
November
December

Total 49 42 9%

Overall Turnover
2009 96

Separations 2010 98
Involuntary 16 2011 79

Voluntary 33 2012 104
Total 49 2013 113

2014 88
2015 97
2016 86

Classifications 2017 116
RN 6 2018 96

Classified 43 2019 93
Total 49 2020 49

Rolling 12 Separations %
Jan 19 - Jan 20 109 20%
Feb 19 - Feb 20 107 20%
March 19 - March 20 107 20%
April 19 - April 20 103 19%
May 19 - May 20 105 20%
June 19 - June 20 105 20%
July 19 - July 20 94 18%
Aug 19 - Aug 20 92 17%

Rehire Rate Rehires %

July 19 - July 20 14 15%
Aug 19 - Aug 20 17 18%

2020 Separations - Hospital Wide

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

0

50

100

150

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Overall Turnover 2009 - 2020

Series1

103/250



Top  Position(s) /  Turnover 2020 %
Clinic Collections Clerk/Recep 6 5%
Registered Nurse 1 5%

Top Reason(s) / Turnover 2020 %
Discharged 5 56%
Resignation 2 22%

Length of Service 2020 %
Less than 90 days 3 33%
91 - 365 days 1 11%
1-2 Yrs. 2 22%
3-5 Yrs. 3 33%
6-10 Yrs.
11-20 Yrs.
21-30 Yrs.
Total 9

Counseling
Verbal Warning
Written Warning
Final Written Warning 1% 100%
Disciplinary Suspension

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY - CLINIC DATA
2020 Clinic Turnover Data (as of 08/31/2020)

Corrective Action

0%

500%

Less
than 90

days

91 -
365
days

1-2 Yrs. 3-5 Yrs. 6-10
Yrs.

11-20
Yrs.

21-30
Yrs.

0%

100%

Discharged Resignation

0%

1%

1%

2%

Counseling Verbal
Warning

Written
Warning

Final Written
Warning

Disciplinary
Suspension

Clinic Collections
Clerk/Recep

Registered Nurse

104/250



2020 Separations - Clinic

Separations
New 

Employees
Total 

Employees 110
January 0 0 110

February 1 1 110
March 2 2 110

April 1 0 109
May 1 0 108
June 0 0 108
July 1 1 108

August 3 3 108
September

October
November
December

Total

Separations Overall Turnover
Involuntary 5 2014 20 26%

Voluntary 4 2015 11 18%
Total 9 2016 16 14%

2017 26 23%
2018 13 12%

Classifications 2019 6 5%
RN 1 2020 9 8%

Classified 8
Total 9

Rolling 12 Months 
Jan 19 - Jan 20 7 6%
Feb 19 - Feb 20 8 7%
March 19- March 20 10 9%
April 19 - April 20 6 6%
May 19 - May 20 10 9%
June 19 - June 20 9 8%
July 19 - July 20 10 9%
Aug 19- - Aug 20 13 12%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

Jan 19 - Jan 20 Feb 19 - Feb 20 March 19- March
20

April 19 - April
20

May 19 - May 20

Rolling 12 months

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

0
5

10
15
20
25
30

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Overall Turnover

105/250



Job Title Req 

Number

Hiring Manager Department Departm

ent 

Status

Schedule Shift Hours

Clinical

Lab Asst / Phlebotomst I 2618 Mary Fischer LABORATORY Active Regular Full Time Variable variable

Lab Asst / Phlebotomst I 2619 Mary Fischer LABORATORY Active Regular Part 

Time

Variable variable

Medical Assistant 2625 Leslie Taylor CLINIC Active Regular Full Time Variable

Medical Assistant 2626 Leslie Taylor CLINIC Active Regular Full Time Variable

Reg. Resp. Therapist 2359 Crystal Hamblin CARDIOPULMONARY Active Regular Full Time Variable

Ultrasound Tech. 2587 Tracie Soller ECHOCARDIOGRAPH

Y

Active Regular Full Time Days M-F

Non-Clinical

Central Supply Aide 2633 Angel Bennett CENTRAL SUPPLY Active Regular Full Time Days Rotating

Clin Collections Clerk/Recept 2545 Tasha Harris RADIATION 

ONCOLOGY

Active Regular Full Time Days

Collections Clerk 2609 Ron Cheese PATIENT FINANCIAL 

SERVICES

Active Regular Full Time Days M-F 8-4:30

Director Information Svcs 2616 Tami Love INFORMATION 

TECHNOLOGY

Active Regular Full Time Days

Door Monitor 2607 Amber Fisk HUMAN RESOURCES Active Temporary Variable

EVS Technician 2586 Corinna Rogers HOUSEKEEPING Active Regular Part 

Time

Variable variable 

Nursing

Registered Nurse - Chemo 2631 Tasha Harris MEDICAL ONCOLOGY Active PRN Days

 All Active Facility;  All Active Department;  All Active ; Recruiters:All; Hiring Manager:All; JobStatus:Active - Posted; Optimize To Print:No; Display Job Summary:No; Custom Fields:No Custom 

Fields; Dates:6/1/2019 To 9/18/2020 

106/250



From: Suzan Campbell
To: Ed Tardoni; Barbara Sowada; Irene Richardson; Tami Love; Kristy Nielson; Kari Quickenden; Amber Fisk
Subject: New Workplace Violence Prevention policy DRAFT
Date: Tuesday, September 15, 2020 12:14:10 PM
Attachments: new workplace violence policy.docx

Good morning,  attached is a draft of the Employee Policies-Workplace Violence Prevention.  If
approved this policy will replace the current Employee Policies-Workplace Anti-violence.  Violence
against healthcare workers is a huge concern across the country and it is rising at alarming rates. I
have attached a couple of documents from OSHA  regarding workplace violence and healthcare
workers  and  I have asked RM, HR and Security to look the documents over and then work through
the guidelines, checklist and assessments as a group to assess the hospital and see what other steps
we need to take to make the hospital a safe environment for our staff.
I have highlighted a section of the workplace violence prevention policy  I need assistance with so I

would request that we work through the draft policy at the HR Committee meeting Monday the 21st.
  Suzan
 

Suzan Campbell, JD
WSB # 5-2644
In House Counsel MHSC
1200 College Drive
Rock Springs, WY 82901
307-352-8162
sucampbell@sweetwatermemorial.com
 
This message is being sent by or on behalf of a Lawyer.  It is intended for the exclusive use of
its intended recipient(s) and may contain information that is privileged or confidential or
otherwise legally exempt from disclosure.  If you are not the intended recipient or an
employee or agent responsible for delivering this message to the intended recipient, you are
not authorized to read, print, retain, copy or disseminate this message or any part of it.   If you
have received this message in error, please notify us immediately by email, discard any paper
copies and delete all electronic files of the message.  If you are not sure as to whether you are
the intended recipient, please respond to the above email address.
 
 

107/250


[bookmark: _GoBack]EMPLOYEE POLICIES-WORKPLACE VIOLENCE PREVENTION 

PURPOSE

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC) is committed to preventing workplace violence and to maintaining a safe work environment for our employees, contractors, students, and volunteers. 

Notices will be posted throughout the hospital which will state that “threats of or actual violence directed toward staff is not permitted and will not be tolerated. Assaults on healthcare workers is unacceptable behavior and Hospital Security will be called if a staff member is threatened with violence or is intimidated, coerced or mistreated.”

POLICY

 MHSC has adopted the following guidelines to deal with workplace violence which has been defined by OSHA as “any act or threat of force against an employee that could result in a physical injury, psychological trauma, or stress.”  MHSC will also implement a Workplace Violence Prevention Plan to further address workplace violence against healthcare workers.  

Patients or Visitors

All patients, visitors, community members and business associates should be treated with courtesy and respect at all times. However, intimidation, threats of violence and incidents of actual violence by patients or visitors to staff will not be permitted and is not acceptable behavior and will be reported as soon as possible to a supervisor and/or security personnel.  Security will take action to protect the staff member which may include ???? Is this what we do? How should we handle it?  ED will be different than other departments 

Employees

All employees, customers, vendors and business associates should be treated with courtesy and respect at all times. Employees are expected to refrain from fighting, "horseplay" or other conduct that may be dangerous to others. Conduct that threatens, intimidates or coerces another employee, customer, vendor or business associate will not be tolerated. MHSC resources may not be used to threaten, stalk or harass anyone at or outside the workplace. MHSC treats threats coming from a patient as it does other forms of violence.

Indirect or direct threats of violence, incidents of actual violence, and suspicious individuals or activities should be reported as soon as possible to a supervisor, security personnel, human resources (HR), Risk Management or any member of senior management. When reporting a threat or incident of violence, the employee should be as specific and detailed as possible. Employees should not place themselves in peril, nor should they attempt to intercede during an incident. 

Employees should promptly inform the HR department of any protective or restraining order that they have obtained that lists the workplace as a protected area. Employees are encouraged to report safety concerns with regard to intimate partner violence. MHSC will not retaliate against employees making good-faith reports. MHSC is committed to supporting victims of intimate partner violence by providing referrals to the company's employee assistance program and community resources and providing time off for reasons related to intimate partner violence.

Weapons

MHSC prohibits the possession of “dangerous or deadly” weapons by Employees on Hospital property at all times, including hospital parking lots and hospital vehicles. A “dangerous or deadly weapon” is one that is likely to cause death or great bodily harm.  

However, Hospital security officers, who have been properly trained and certified to carry and use/discharge a Taser, may carry a Taser while on duty. 

Investigations and Enforcement

MHSC will promptly and thoroughly investigate all reports of threats of violence or incidents of actual violence and of suspicious individuals or activities. The identity of the individual making a report will be protected as much as possible. MHSC will not retaliate against employees making good-faith reports of violence, threats, or suspicious individuals or activities. To maintain workplace safety and the integrity of its investigation, MHSC may suspend employees suspected of workplace violence or threats of violence, either with or without pay, pending investigation.

Any employee found to be responsible for threats of or actual violence or other conduct that is in violation of these guidelines will be subject to prompt disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

Workplace Violence Prevention Plan 

To further provide a safe working environment for our staff, MHSC will draft and implement a written program for workplace violence prevention, which will be incorporated into our employee safety and health program. The building blocks for developing an effective workplace violence prevention program include:

 (1) Management commitment and employee participation,

(2) Worksite analysis,

(3) Hazard prevention and control,

(4) Safety and health training, and

(5) Recordkeeping and program evaluation.



EMPLOYEE POLICIES-WORKPLACE VIOLENCE PREVENTION  

PURPOSE 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC) is committed to preventing workplace 
violence and to maintaining a safe work environment for our employees, contractors, students, 
and volunteers.  

Notices will be posted throughout the hospital which will state that “threats of or actual 
violence directed toward staff is not permitted and will not be tolerated. Assaults on 
healthcare workers is unacceptable behavior and Hospital Security will be called if a staff 
member is threatened with violence or is intimidated, coerced or mistreated.” 

POLICY 

 MHSC has adopted the following guidelines to deal with workplace violence which has been 
defined by OSHA as “any act or threat of force against an employee that could result in a 
physical injury, psychological trauma, or stress.”  MHSC will also implement a Workplace 
Violence Prevention Plan to further address workplace violence against healthcare workers.   

Patients or Visitors 

All patients, visitors, community members and business associates should be treated with 
courtesy and respect at all times. However, intimidation, threats of violence and incidents of 
actual violence by patients or visitors to staff will not be permitted and is not acceptable behavior 
and will be reported as soon as possible to a supervisor and/or security personnel.  Security will 
take action to protect the staff member which may include ???? Is this what we do? How should 
we handle it?  ED will be different than other departments  

Employees 

All employees, customers, vendors and business associates should be treated with courtesy and 
respect at all times. Employees are expected to refrain from fighting, "horseplay" or other 
conduct that may be dangerous to others. Conduct that threatens, intimidates or coerces another 
employee, customer, vendor or business associate will not be tolerated. MHSC resources may 
not be used to threaten, stalk or harass anyone at or outside the workplace. MHSC treats threats 
coming from a patient as it does other forms of violence. 

Indirect or direct threats of violence, incidents of actual violence, and suspicious individuals or 
activities should be reported as soon as possible to a supervisor, security personnel, human 
resources (HR), Risk Management or any member of senior management. When reporting a 
threat or incident of violence, the employee should be as specific and detailed as possible. 
Employees should not place themselves in peril, nor should they attempt to intercede during an 
incident.  

108/250



Employees should promptly inform the HR department of any protective or restraining order that 
they have obtained that lists the workplace as a protected area. Employees are encouraged to 
report safety concerns with regard to intimate partner violence. MHSC will not retaliate against 
employees making good-faith reports. MHSC is committed to supporting victims of intimate 
partner violence by providing referrals to the company's employee assistance program and 
community resources and providing time off for reasons related to intimate partner violence. 

Weapons 

MHSC prohibits the possession of “dangerous or deadly” weapons by Employees on Hospital 
property at all times, including hospital parking lots and hospital vehicles. A “dangerous or 
deadly weapon” is one that is likely to cause death or great bodily harm.   

However, Hospital security officers, who have been properly trained and certified to carry 
and use/discharge a Taser, may carry a Taser while on duty.  

Investigations and Enforcement 

MHSC will promptly and thoroughly investigate all reports of threats of violence or incidents of 
actual violence and of suspicious individuals or activities. The identity of the individual making 
a report will be protected as much as possible. MHSC will not retaliate against employees 
making good-faith reports of violence, threats, or suspicious individuals or activities. To 
maintain workplace safety and the integrity of its investigation, MHSC may suspend employees 
suspected of workplace violence or threats of violence, either with or without pay, pending 
investigation. 

Any employee found to be responsible for threats of or actual violence or other conduct that is in 
violation of these guidelines will be subject to prompt disciplinary action up to and including 
termination of employment. 

Workplace Violence Prevention Plan  

To further provide a safe working environment for our staff, MHSC will draft and implement a 
written program for workplace violence prevention, which will be incorporated into our 
employee safety and health program. The building blocks for developing an effective workplace 
violence prevention program include: 

 (1) Management commitment and employee participation, 

(2) Worksite analysis, 

(3) Hazard prevention and control, 

(4) Safety and health training, and 

(5) Recordkeeping and program evaluation. 

109/250



EMPLOYEE POLICIES-WORKPLACE VIOLENCE PREVENTION 

PURPOSE 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC) is committed to preventing workplace violence and to 
maintaining a safe work environment for our employees, contractors, students, and volunteers.  

Notices will be posted throughout the hospital which will state that “threats of or actual violence directed 
toward staff is not permitted and will not be tolerated. Assaults on healthcare workers is unacceptable 
behavior and Hospital Security will be called if a staff member is threatened with violence or is 
intimidated, coerced or mistreated.” 

POLICY 

 MHSC has adopted the following guidelines to deal with workplace violence which has been defined by OSHA 
as “any act or threat of force against an employee that could result in a physical injury, psychological trauma, or 
stress.”  MHSC will also implement a Workplace Violence Prevention Plan to further address workplace 
violence against healthcare workers.   

Patients or Visitors 

All patients, visitors, community members and business associates should be treated with courtesy and respect 
at all times. However, intimidation, threats of violence and incidents of actual violence by patients or visitors to 
staff will not be permitted and is not acceptable behavior and will be reported as soon as possible to a supervisor 
and/or security personnel.  Security officers will take action to protect the staff member which may include 
verbal commands to de-escalate the situation. If the officers feel they need backup they will contact Rock 
Springs Police Department (RSPD) or have someone contact RSPD for assistance.  If the officers need to take 
action to protect themselves and others they will do whatever means necessary to neutralize the situation 
without causing bodily harm to self and others 

Employees 

All employees, customers, vendors and business associates should be treated with courtesy and respect at all 
times. Employees are expected to refrain from fighting, "horseplay" or other conduct that may be dangerous to 
others. Conduct that threatens, intimidates or coerces another employee, customer, vendor or business associate 
will not be tolerated. MHSC resources may not be used to threaten, stalk or harass anyone at or outside the 
workplace. MHSC treats threats coming from a patient as it does other forms of violence. 

Indirect or direct threats of violence, incidents of actual violence, and suspicious individuals or activities should 
be reported as soon as possible to a supervisor, security personnel, human resources (HR), Risk Management or 
any member of senior management. When reporting a threat or incident of violence, the employee should be as 
specific and detailed as possible. Employees should not place themselves in peril, nor should they attempt to 
intercede during an incident.  

Employees should promptly inform the HR department of any protective or restraining order that they have 
obtained that lists the workplace as a protected area. Employees are encouraged to report safety concerns with 
regard to intimate partner violence. MHSC will not retaliate against employees making good-faith 
reports. MHSC is committed to supporting victims of intimate partner violence by providing referrals to the 
company's employee assistance program and community resources and providing time off for reasons related to 
intimate partner violence. 

 

110/250



Weapons 

MHSC prohibits the possession of “dangerous or deadly” weapons by Employees on Hospital property at all 
times, including hospital parking lots and hospital vehicles. A “dangerous or deadly weapon” is any object used 
in a threatening or intimidating manner. 

Hospital security officers, who have been properly trained and certified to use/discharge a Taser, may carry a 
Taser while on duty.  

Investigations and Enforcement 

MHSC will promptly and thoroughly investigate all reports of threats of violence or incidents of actual violence 
and of suspicious individuals or activities. The identity of the individual making a report will be protected as 
much as possible. MHSC will not retaliate against employees making good-faith reports of violence, threats, or 
suspicious individuals or activities. To maintain workplace safety and the integrity of its investigation, MHSC 
may suspend employees suspected of workplace violence or threats of violence, either with or without pay, 
pending investigation. 

Any employee found to be responsible for threats of or actual violence or other conduct that is in violation of 
these guidelines will be subject to prompt disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. 

Workplace Violence Prevention Plan  

To further provide a safe working environment for our staff, MHSC will draft and implement a written program 
for workplace violence prevention, which will be incorporated into our employee safety and health program. 
The building blocks for developing an effective workplace violence prevention program include: 

 (1) Management commitment and employee participation, 

(2) Worksite analysis, 

(3) Hazard prevention and control, 

(4) Safety and health training, and 

(5) Recordkeeping and program evaluation. 

111/250



Submitted by Wyoming Hospital Association – Josh Hannes and Howard Labow 
 
Founded in 1979 and headquartered in Chicago, with bi-lingual enrollment representatives throughout 
the U.S., NES is the nation’s premier provider of Government Tax Credits/Voluntary Benefits to the 
healthcare industry (see attached flyer).  NES currently services over 1900 healthcare facilities and 
hospitals from coast to coast and we are in partnership with several state healthcare associations. 
Though not alone, the healthcare industry is constantly challenged by the impact of employee 
turnover. We recognize you are always exploring new ways to retain your valued employees. In 
furtherance of this objective, our efforts are focused on placing more money in your employees' 
pockets by educating them and providing hands-on guidance about claiming the Earned Income Tax 
Credit. This can mean thousands of dollars each year for a large percentage of the 
employees. Providing information on the credits from the Government will go a long way to help 
employees improve their lives while they are living on the low end of the wage scale… ultimately 
enhancing employee satisfaction and stabilizing retention…all at no cost to the hospital.  
 
The Federal Government will also REFUND any earned income credit that was not claimed on an 
employee's tax returns for the past three years. 
Below are links regarding this employee tax credit program:  
https://www.fool.com/retirement/2018/03/16/this-valuable-tax-break-could-put-6431-back-in-
you.aspx 
https://www.huffingtonpost.com/sally-greenberg/eitc-awareness-day-millio_b_14420300.html 
 
NES also offers voluntary benefits, underwritten by Allstate, which have been designed to be of great 
benefit for lower paid healthcare employees (aides, dietary, housekeeping) who often live paycheck to 
paycheck.  Employees are offered an opportunity to purchase various low cost insurance benefits on a 
voluntary basis, with no cost to the hospital.  These benefits will provide protection/coverage for the 
substantial out of pocket high deductible expenses that are included in both employer group plans and 
the Government exchange policies.  
 
We have actually replaced Colonial Life with Allstate in countless facilities across the U.S. for the 
following important reasons:  
***  Allstate offers the employee more bang for their dollar than Colonial Life.  
***  NES/Allstate provides the employee education/assistance with the Earned Income Credit  current 
and “previous years” monies…whereby we are able to help secure valuable found money for many 
lower paid employees, who often live paycheck to paycheck.  This service is provided at no cost to the 
facility.  Numerous employees over the years have been very grateful for the assistance in recovering 
past years’ IRS monies due them.  
 
 

112/250



 

113/250



 

114/250



F&A COMMITTEE CHAIR REPORT TO THE BOARD SEPTEMBER 2020  

 Ed Tardoni (filled in as chair for Richard Mathey ) Marty Kelsey was invited to set in.  

The Finance and Audit Committee met in a Zoom format this month.   

F&A DATA FOR THE MONTH 

The usual F&A reports are included in the Board packet.  

AUDIT REPORT 

The auditors reviewed this year’s draft audit report with the committee.  They complimented hospital 

staff both on their cooperation and accuracy.  They recognized that the Covid situation presented 

accounting challenges.   They stated that hospital staff met those challenges successfully. 

The auditors will present to the Board at the October meeting. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES FOR BOARD CONSIDERATION. 

FY 21-17  

 Unbudgeted expenditure in the amount of $113,890 

Tasha Harris and Dr. Binks presented on this.  There is a strong positive revenue stream associated with 

the expenditure.  It also will allow patients to be treated at home instead of traveling to Salt Lake City 

for treatment.  The committee, by unanimous vote, sends FY 21-23 to the Board with a due pass 

recommendation. 

FY 21-23 

Budgeted expenditure in the amount of $35,936 

Leslie Taylor presented on this.  It is an item of equipment necessary for the MHSC Neurologist who is 

scheduled to be on board on November 9, 2020.  There is a slight positive revenue stream associated 

with the equipment.  It is estimated that one hundred and fifty procedures per year will be done using 

this equipment.  The committee, by unanimous vote sends FY 21-23 to the Board with a due pass 

recommendation 

STATE LAND INVESTMENT BOARD CAPITAL PROJECTS 

A considerable amount of capital has been approved by the Board related to awarded SLIB grants.  The 

CEO has been authorized, by board vote, to proceed with the purchases and has done so.  The 

committee discussed how to best document these expenditures and keep them consistent with 

standard procedures.   Accordingly, an extensive package of capital forms using an SLIB extensions have 

been included in the October Board packet. The committee consensus is that the Board should consider 

a vote acknowledging receipt of the details of these purchases. 

NEXT MEETING 

The next meeting will be October 25, 2020 at 1600 hours.  Meeting will be by Zoom 

 

115/250



116/250



117/250



118/250



119/250



120/250



121/250



122/250



123/250



124/250



125/250



126/250



127/250



128/250



129/250



130/250



131/250



132/250



133/250



134/250



135/250



136/250



137/250



138/250



139/250



140/250



141/250



142/250



143/250



144/250



145/250



146/250



147/250



148/250



149/250



150/250



151/250



152/250



153/250



154/250



155/250



156/250



157/250



158/250



159/250



160/250



161/250



162/250



163/250



164/250



165/250



166/250



167/250



168/250



169/250



170/250



171/250



172/250



173/250



174/250



175/250



176/250



177/250



178/250



179/250



180/250



181/250



182/250



183/250



184/250



185/250



186/250



187/250



188/250



189/250



190/250



191/250



192/250



193/250



194/250



195/250



196/250



197/250



198/250



199/250



200/250



201/250



202/250



203/250



204/250



205/250



206/250



207/250



208/250



209/250



210/250



211/250



212/250



213/250



214/250



MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Board of Trustees 
From:  Wm. Marty Kelsey 
Date:  September 29, 2020 
Subject: Chair’s Report…September Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 
 
Jim Horan reviewed the current maintenance metrics. No identifiable issues were presented. 
 
Central Plant Project…Jake reported that the key contractors were meeting with the goal of 
coming up with a plan to complete this project (which is way behind schedule). Jake said he 
believes they can adequately test the chillers even with the late completion date. It was 
suggested that perhaps the bonding company should be contacted to put some pressure on the 
contractor to complete this project ASAP. The Committee approved a change order in the 
approximate magnitude of $12,000 to have a chain link fence constructed around the cooling 
towers for security reasons. This will be forwarded to the full Board for approval. 
 
HVAC and UVC Project…Groathouse Construction Company has been retained to serve as the 
Construction Manager at Risk for this project. Bid packages are in good shape. MHSC should 
receive a GMP (Guaranteed Maximum Price) before the end of September. 
 
MOB Entrance Project…This is a design/bid project, rather than a CMAR project. Bids are 
scheduled to be opened on October 1st. 
 
Laboratory Renovation and Addition Project…Irene and Tammy reviewed the rules regarding 
whether or not this is an eligible project. The “go-no go” decision date is October 1st. They 
believe at this point that it is very likely an eligible project. At the September Board meeting, 
the estimated cost was presented at $4.47 million. 
 
Pharmacy Chemo Mixing Room Issue…Some discussion took place regarding whether or not the 
air pressures/fumes poses a health and safety risk. Jake opined that perhaps an Industrial 
Hygienist could be retained to provide an opinion. Irene will decide whether or not it is 
necessary to retain an Industrial Hygienist. 
 
Status reports were given on the Pharmacy Compounding Room Project, the OB Bathtubs 
Renovation Project, the Grounds Lean-To Project, and the Emergency Room Outside Drainage 
Project. Also, the Bulk Oxygen issue was briefly re-visited. 

215/250



 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 

September 15, 2020 

 
 

The Building and Grounds Committee met in regular session via Zoom on September 15, 2020, 

at 3:30 PM with Mr. Marty Kelsey presiding. 

 

 

In Attendance:  Mr. Marty Kelsey, Trustee - Chair 

Dr. Barbara Sowada, Trustee 

Ms. Irene Richardson, CEO 

Ms. Tami Love, CFO 

Mr. Jim Horan, Facilities Director 

Mr. Gerry Johnston, Facilities Supervisor 

   Mr. Jake Blevins, ST&B Engineering 

   Mr. Will Wheatley, Plan One Architects 

 
    

Mr. Kelsey called the meeting to order. 

 

Ms. Richardson made a motion to approve the agenda.  Dr. Sowada seconded; motion passed. 

 

Dr. Sowada made a motion to approve the minutes from the July 22, 2020 meeting, Mr. Horan 

seconded; motion passed. 

 

Maintenance Metrics 

 

Mr. Horan presented the maintenance metrics.  All metrics are normal for the month with active 

work orders being down slightly for the month.  

 
 

Old Business – Project Review 

 

Central Plant Expansion 

 

Mr. Blevins said he was onsite one week ago and also three weeks ago. He said the answer from 

the contractor three weeks ago was “three weeks out” which would put them done today. He said 

he had a pointed conversation with them this week and the answer was the owners of BHI and KK 

had a “good conference call.” Mr. Blevins said he believes BHI got attorneys involved and put a 

demand letter out. The answer as of this week is KK is supposed to be done September 30 and 

want us out for a walk-thru on September 25. Mr. Blevins is unclear of the status of controls. Jarvis 

is full tilt on the project. Mr. Blevins asked Mr. Johnston and Mr. Horan if they have seen Jarvis 

and his staff onsite. Mr. Johnston said he has not seen them here for 1½ weeks. The Committee 

discussed the completion of the side stream and Mr. Blevins said the owner training piece is part 

of the close out process. ST&B will be doing the functional testing and assisting Jarvis and the 

installation guys with that. The commissioning process helps them understand if they have what 

they are looking for as they run them through those tests. He said he is just trying to report back to 

Mr. Kelsey for something to take back to the Board. Mr. Kelsey said we should wait a little bit 

until we are closer to the end of the month. He asked about efficacy of testing the chillers. Mr. 

Blevins reviewed another option and said he thinks we can work thru the functional testing of the 

216/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 15, 2020 Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 2 

other opposite end of the spectrum of the winter season. Mr. Kelsey asked about feelings of odds 

of having substantial completion by September 30. Mr. Blevins said he is not going to go 90% or 

better. He said he feels the owners of BHI want their staff off this project. He wants to do more 

Q&A with Jarvis on status of completion on his portion. Mr. Kelsey asked him to send a memo to 

the senior leadership team before the 30th and copy Dr. Sowada and Mr. Kelsey with the status of 

the project. Mr. Kelsey said obviously we have little if any leverage. He suggested giving the bond 

company a call. Mr. Blevins said there is not added cost they are looking to come after the Hospital 

for and there are not actual damages at this point. Mr. Kelsey said that was good to hear and 

thanked Mr. Blevins for his report.  

 

CARES Act Projects 

 

HVAC & UVC – Mr. Blevins provided an update. The general contractor, Groathouse, walked 

last week. Bid packages 1, 2 and 3 are behind us. Bid package 4 is essentially out for bid and 

responses are due today. Mr. Blevins said we may have a GMP by the end of the week. He said 

this is also inclusive of the UV project scope. If we need to separately track those costs for grant 

reporting, we need to give that direction to him. Ms. Richardson asked Mr. Blevins to send the 

GMP info to her and she will forward to the Board. Mr. Blevins said we should be able to present 

the contract for legal review by the end of the week, too.  

 

MOB Entrance – Mr. Wheatley said that project got final approval from the State today and the 

public bid is out with scheduled opening October 1. He said the City will start review for electrical 

only and the State will issue a final letter to construct. He said it was record timing for review by 

the State. Mr. Wheatley will get some asbestos testing done and results should be back sometime 

next week. Mr. Kelsey said he was under the understanding this would be under a CMAR project. 

Mr. Wheatley said, for the scale of this one, we could or could not, but it wouldn’t influence much 

on this project. Mr. Kelsey asked for confirmation we have a liquidated damages clause in the 

contract if going past the completion date. Mr. Wheatley said we do.  

 

Laboratory – Ms. Richardson said even though we got Board approval to move forward, we are 

being cautious with things changing with the way SLIB is administering money.  We don’t want 

to be on the hook for something we can’t use CARES Act money for. She said she reached out to 

our auditors and asked what their thought was and they are very cautious and conservative. She 

said Ms. Love and the HFMA group were on a call with another accounting firm less conservative 

that said these type of capital projects would qualify. Ms. Richardson said she also reached out to 

Senator Barrasso and the WHA and she thinks we are okay. She said we also had Ms. Suzan 

Campbell review the HHS guidelines. She said there is language for use to “prevent, prepare for, 

and respond to coronavirus.” She said she thinks that based on Ms. Campbell’s opinion we can 

legitimately use the money for a lab remodel. The auditors said if we can have our legal counsel 

give us an opinion on this and justify it, then we can feel better about this. The HHS guideline will 

be coming out by October 1 and we may get more guidance there. Ms. Richardson said she just 

wanted to make sure we do our due diligence. She feels that this is a Covid project. Mr. Horan said 

if you look at the plan, you definitely see it is definitely coronavirus-geared. Mr. Kelsey asked if 

we are moving ahead with the design. Mr. Wheatley confirmed and said he feels the CMAR 

process would help with keeping the process moving. He reviewed some of the other project 

processes going on currently around the state. We said we would wait until October 1 to see if we 

would get any further guidance. Right now, she said she feels comfortable enough moving forward 

with the project. If there is anything different that comes up or if she gets conflicting information, 

217/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 15, 2020 Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 3 

she will bring that forward. She said this would be a good, legitimate project that would be good 

for us. Mr. Wheatley said it is estimated to be about $4.4M for the project.  

 

Pharmacy Chemo Mixing Room – Mr. Horan said this is the one that is in the MOB. He said we 

discovered there were some issues with the air pressurization and some of the ductwork. He said 

Mr. Kelsey asked him about a month ago if this is a real safety concern and asked if it should be 

fast-tracked. Mr. Blevins understands our concerns are around odors and managing pressure. He 

said there was some discussion about establishing a completely new space and commandeering 

space immediately above to vent to the roof. Mr. Kelsey said his main concern was health and 

safety but he was wondering if it was Covid-related or something we really needed to jump on. 

Mr. Blevins said he could not speak to the severity and we would have to get an industrial hygienist 

involved to answer some of those questions. Dr. Sowada asked if this is something The Joint 

Commission will weigh in on when they visit. Mr. Horan said the pressurization is monitored by 

gauges that are readily observable and it could raise a question if they walk by at the right time. 

Mr. Kelsey said health and safety is a critical component of this discussion. He said he would be 

interested in having an industrial hygienist take a look at this. He asked senior leadership to weigh 

in on this. Ms. Richardson said we will work with Mr. Blevins to see if we can find an industrial 

hygienist. She said she will provide  a recommendation to the Committee.  

 

Pharmacy Compounding Room – Mr. Johnston said the project will start in the next two to three 

weeks. We have prices for the doors, just not for the controls for the doors.  

 

Grounds Lean-To – Mr. Horan said it’s almost completed. The only thing left to be done is the 

concrete apron and they are pouring at this time. He said that hopefully, by the next time we meet, 

the concrete will be cured and all will be in order.  

 

Bulk Oxygen Renovation and Grading – Mr. Horan said Airgas had a change to the project that 

was substantial. He asked if we can revisit this after TJC visit. He likes to have some questions to 

float to TJC to engage them and this may be one of those he is going to draw their attention to and 

ask if it is an issue and what do they think about it.  

 

Replacement Roofing for Power House – Mr. Kelsey said he recalled Mr. Horan saying that he 

might consider asking for board authorization in late winter to maybe get that project bid out. Mr. 

Horan said that is correct and he asked to table this at this time.  

 

OB Bathtubs to Showers – Mr. Horan said Mr. Wheatley gave us a proposal for the design. The 

State requires stamped drawings for anything that has anything to do with egress pathways and 

patient use. It is an infection issue and usage issue. Ms. Love said her concern is we are up to our 

neck in projects and we would like to put this off for a little while longer. She said this has been 

on our radar for a couple of years now and asked if it would hurt to put it off right now to take care 

of other issues that are related to Cares Act money. Mr. Kelsey said everyone has a lot on their 

plate and the Committee agreed to wait.  

 

Emergency Room Outside Drainage – Mr. Horan said because of the nature of the project he had 

a little engineering done to make sure we are doing it correctly. It will be a very small concrete 

project and Mr. Johnston will be managing this. We will put it out to bid. He said it will probably 

be about $8K-10K. Mr. Horan will get back to the Committee on how it turned out. 

 

218/250



 

 

Minutes of the September 15, 2020 Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 4 

New Business 

 

Mr. Kelsey said he did not have any new business and asked if anyone else wanted to add anything. 

He asked if there was anything for the good of the order. Mr. Blevins said there is an open change 

order request on the central plant on whether or not we want to add fencing.  He said it is for a 

fence to enclose the cooling towers with a barb strand on top of it and he understands it is in 

response to security concerns. Mr. Blevins said there is egress from the plant into this yard. Mr. 

Wheatley said some panic based hardware is available that would assist with safe egress from the 

building. Mr. Blevins said it sounds like there is some refinement we need to do and he requested 

approval of the project contingent on some assistance from Mr. Wheatley on the life-safety aspects 

and awareness it may require some additional funds of approximately $2,000. Mr. Kelsey asked 

for a recommendation from senior leadership. The motion to move forward with the fence and 

adding the additional dollars as discussed to move the change order to the Board was made by Ms. 

Richardson; second by Dr. Sowada. Motion carried.  

 

With no further business, the meeting adjourned. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Submitted by Tami Love 

219/250



COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE CHAIR REPORT TO THE BOARD SEPTEMBER 2020  

 Ed Tardoni 

The Compliance Committee met in a Zoom format this month.  

REVIEW OF DOCUMENTS 

The usual compliance reports were reviewed and may be found in the board packet. 

A Compliance Probe Audit of Professional Billing Services 

April Prado presented documentation of this recently completed audit. Forty-four patient charts from 

twenty-two providers were audited.  The audit was conducted based on published standards and 

methods.  All forty-four charts were found to be 100% compliant. 

Additional Comments 

The passing of Rich Tyler resulted in the need for some catching up by staff with computer-based 

tracking and monitoring software.  The committee was updated on progress in this area. 

NEXT MEETING  

The next meeting of the committee will be  held October 22, 2020 at 1530 hours by Zoom. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

220/250



 

     Board Compliance Committee Meeting 

     Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

September 24th, 2020 

 
  

Present via Zoom: Irene Richardson, Suzan Campbell, Noreen Hove, Ed Tardoni, Marty Kelsey,  
April Prado  

     Minutes 
 

The meeting was called to order at 3:30pm by Ed Tardoni. 
 
Two “Mission Moments” were shared. The first by Irene who shared a story that Nicole Halstead RN had 
shared with her. Nicole was shopping in Wal-Mart and had a shirt with RN on it. Another customer came 
and asked her if she worked in the ER or Med Floor and she no, she worked in Dialysis. The customer 
went on to say that Dr. Grey had saved his mom’s life and that his mom would not be here if not for her. 
He also said that an RN named Dani was also amazing and that they were more than happy with the 
care his mom received. Ed shared that his friend was just in Lab and Urology and everything went 
smoothly and they had nothing to complain about.  
 
The September agenda was approved as written, Noreen made the motion and Suzan seconded it. The 
meeting minutes from August were approved as written. Marty made the motion and Irene seconded it.  
 

Old Business 
 Noreen stated that there was no old business to discuss. 
 

New Business 
 Noreen reported that since the passing of our IT Director, she has not been receiving regular 
reports. Stacy Nutt will be the interim director and Noreen was able to meet with her and Kim 
Gunderson to discuss Fair Warning and HIPAA violations. Noreen said that they have a game plan for 
these reports and she should start receiving them now. Suzan noted that she also hasn’t been receiving 
reports and Noreen said that they would fix this.  
 

Reports 
Behavioral Health- Noreen reported that we had 14 titled behavioral health patients. 2 were in seclusion 

and both of them had documentation issues. A flow sheet has been created for documentation and 

Noreen is hoping for an improvement in September’s reporting. Ed had a question about Behavioral 

Health patients; With the pandemic, are we seeing in increase in BH patients? Noreen said that that we 

are but she doesn’t know if it is directly related to COVID-19 or not.   

HIPAA- Noreen stated there were no HIPAA violations reportable for the month of July. August there 

were two that were referred to Human Resources for investigation. Ed asked if there was anything that 

could be released about the two HIPAA violations and Noreen answered no, only that they required 

further investigation with H.R.. She also added that our Fair Warning program works amazingly well at 

looking at who was in charts and catching possible breaches. 

Grievances- Noreen shared that the Grievance Committee reviewed 2 cases. Each of the cases were 

reviewed and resolved in a timely manner. 

  

221/250



 

Audits- The committee was given the audit report on “Professional Billing Services” for review. April 

reported that the Grievance Audit was finished and would be sent for their review as well. Ed asked 

about the attitude of the people that we are meeting with towards the audit. He wanted to know how 

they view this process. April reported that for the most part, the attitude has been positive. The 

employees seem to view these as a good thing and seem to know that if a mistake is found, they are not 

in trouble and it will be an area of improvement. April did report that she has been struggling to get an 

outstanding audit done as the Director will not respond to meeting with her. Overall though, the 

attitude has been positive.  

Additional Discussion 
Marty asked if The Joint Commission had been onsite yet. It was reported that they have not made their 
visit yet. Irene added that they usually come on a Monday, Tuesday or Wednesday because they stay for 
three days. We are currently just waiting and preparing for them to come. Marty mentioned that he 
would like to know when they are here and Irene will make sure that they are notified.  
   
Adjournment   The meeting adjourned at 3:50p.m. 

 

Next Meeting   The next meeting was not announced.  

 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

April Prado, Recording Secretary 

 

222/250



Reports for Board Compliance Committee   9-24-2020 

1. 14 titled behavioral patients. 2 were in seclusion both had document issues.  A flow sheet has 

been created to follow to help with these documentation issues. 

 

2. There were no HIPPA violations reportable for the month of July. August there were two that 

were referred to Human Resources for investigation. 

 

3. The Grievance Committee reviewed 2 cases. Each of the cases were reviewed and resolved in a 

timely manner. 

 

 

4.  Ongoing Audits by April Prado 

a.  

223/250



 

Compliance Probe Audit of Professional Services Billing 
 

Purpose: 
Ensure the accuracy of professional services billing for MHSC.   

Introduction: 
A probe audit has been conducted to review MHSC’s professional services billing in several areas. Those 

areas will be outlined below.    

 

Method and Sample: 
Data for this audit was collected from MHSC’s eMDs program. 44 patient charts were selected at 

random from 22 hospital employed providers that met the following requirements; employed by MHSC 

and actively seeing patients for at least six months in the calendar year 2019. The randomly selected 

charts included two patients from each provider. After selection, the charts were audited using the 

“Internal Chart Audit Checklist” found in our compliance manager system, Healthicity. This checklist 

includes 44 billing, coding, and payment questions. Some questions are set to establish the diversity of 

our sampling while others have desired answers for compliance. These questions and our scores appear 

later in this report (see pages 3-7). Information from the CMS Standards for Evaluation and 

Management Services (E/M) was also studied and reviewed in preparation for this audit. That 

information can be found on the CMS website; www.cms.gov 

 

Objective: 
1. Provide a diverse sample of patient charts for review. 

2. Show compliance with professional services billing in the following areas; 

a. Patient name and date of service (DOS) appear on every page of the chart. 

b. The medical history supports the selected diagnosis. 

c. The treatment plan is documented.  

d. The documentation supports the level of services billed. 

e. Services were billed with the correct date of service. 

f. The providers signature appears on all clinic notes. 

g. A signed HIPAA form was in the chart. 

 
Results: 
To show diversity in sampling, 25% of the patient charts were “problem focused” with 1-5 areas being 
evaluated by the provider, 31.8% were “expanded focused” with 6-8 areas being evaluated by the 
physician, 40.9% were “detailed expanded” with 9-12 areas being evaluated by the physician and 2.3% 
were “complex expanded” with 13 or more areas being evaluated by the physician. 
 
For compliance in the areas stated above (#2, a-g); MHSC received 100%, in all areas, for all 44 charts 
reviewed.  
 

 

 

224/250



 

Findings: 
Based on the results of this audit, MHSC is compliant in the reviewed areas of professional services 

billing. This audit will be marked a passing grade with no further recommendations at this time.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

225/250



 

 

Internal Chart Audit  

Answer Summary 

ID Question 

80 
Did the HPI include less than 3 elements?  

13.6% Yes 

81 
Did the HPI include 3 elements?  

31.8% Yes  

82 
Did the HPI include 4 elements? 

43.2% Yes 

83 
Did the HPI include more than 4 elements?  

18.2% Yes 

84 
Was there a ROS?  

90.9%Yes  

85 
Was 1 system reviewed?  

2.3%Yes 

86 
Were 2-9 systems reviewed?  

52.3%Yes  

87 
Were 10 or more systems reviewed?  

38.6%Yes 

88 
Was patient's personal, family & social history (PFSH) verified?  

70.5%Yes  

226/250



 

ID Question 

 

90 

Were all 3 histories reviewed?  

75% Yes  

91 
Was the exam Problem Focused (1-5 elements)?  

25% Yes  

92 
Was the exam Expanded Problem Focused (6-8 elements)?  

31.8% Yes 

93 
Was the exam Detailed (more than or equal to 9 elements)?  

40.9%Yes 

94 
Was the exam Comprehensive (13 plus elements)? 

2.3% Yes 

95 
Was the decision- making Straight Forward (one self -limiting or minor problem)?  

20.5% Yes 

96 

Was the decision -making Low Complexity (two or more problems or one stable chronic 

illness)?  

34.1% Yes 

97 

Was the decision- making Moderate Complexity (one or more chronic illness worsening, two 

or more stable chronic illnesses, or an acute problem with systemic symptoms)?  

43.2% Yes 

98 

Was the decision- making High Complexity (one or more chronic illnesses with severe 

worsening, a threat to life or bodily function)?  

2.3% Yes 

227/250



 

ID Question 

99 
Does the medical history support the selected diagnosis?  

100% Yes 

100 
Was the treatment plan documented?  

100% Yes 

101 
Was the interpretation/report of diagnostic tests completed?  

34.1% Yes 

102 
Was the HPI completed by the physician?  

95.5% Yes 

103 
Does the documentation support the level of service billed?  

100% Yes 

104 
Were services billed with the correct date of service (DOS)?  

100% Yes 

105 
Was Form A completed on time?  

100% Not Applicable  

106 
Was Form A updated within the last 6 months?  

100% Not Applicable 

107 
Was the Form A updated within the last 6 months?  

100% Not Applicable 

108 
Was Form B completed on time?  

100% Not Applicable 

228/250



 

ID Question 

109 
Was Form B updated with the last visit?  

100% Not Applicable 

110 
Was Form C completed on time?  

100%Not Applicable  

111 
Was Form C updated with the last visit?  

100% Not Applicable 

112 
Was the patient insurance information up to date?  

97.7% Yes 

113 
Was the HIPAA form signed?  

100% Yes 

114 
Were the clinical records in chronological order?  

100% Yes 

115 
Was the physician's signature on all clinic notes?  

100%Yes 

116 
Was the (Medical Assistant, Technician or Nurse's) signature on all clinic notes?  

100% Yes 

117 
Was the date of service (DOS) on the clinic notes?  

100% Yes  

 

118 

Was the patient's name on the clinic notes?  

100% Yes 

229/250



 

ID Question 

119 
Were the corrections in the chart initialed and crossed out properly?  

2.3% Yes, 97.7% Not Applicable  

120 
Was there an addendum attached to the clinic note?  

20.5% Yes, 79.5% Not Applicable 

121 
Was there a late entry attached to the clinic note?  

9.1% Yes, 90.9% Not Applicable 

 

 
 

 

230/250



 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

Governance Committee Meeting 

September 3, 2020 

Zoom Meeting 

 

Voting Members Present: Richard Mathey, Irene Richardson, and Barbara Sowada 

 

Call Meeting to Order 

Richard Mathey called meeting to order at 9:10 pm. 

 

Discussion 

Agenda was created during the meeting. 

Minutes of last month’s meeting had previously been approved. 

Old business:   

1. The following policies were discussed. 

a. Guidelines for Negotiation of Physician Employment Agreements/Contracts and Guidelines for 

Negotiation of Non-Physician Providers Employment Agreements/Contracts were discussed. 

Both policies have been preliminarily approved by the Governance Committee and are waiting to 

make sure they are in alignment with the Termination and Appeals policy, which has yet to be 

completed. 

b. Maintenance of Board and Board Committee Meeting Minutes policy. Committee recommends 

this policy is ready for its first reading by the Board of Trustees at its October meeting. 

New Business 

1. Hospital policies were discussed. Questions were raised as to whether all the policies are current and 

needed or whether some are out of date, duplicates, not followed, etc. and does this create risk to 

the organization. Irene will ask Suzan to begin a review of policies. It is to be determined whether the 

policy review and reorganization will become a Governance or Compliance function. 

2. Board Bylaws will be reviewed/revised in October. Will start with medical staff section. 

 

With no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 10:30 pm. 

Submitted by Barbara J. Sowada, Ph.D. 

 

231/250



 

1 
 

Maintenance of Board and Board Committee Meeting Minutes 
 

Statement of Purpose 
By law and regulatory requirements, the Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

(Hospital) is responsible for the maintenance and retention of their records. Effective records 

management includes timely access to accurate and reliable information, assures transparency and 

accountability to the public, preserves the Hospital’s history, and preserves essential information.  

Definitions 
Board means Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

Committee means any standing or ad hoc committee of the Board  

Custodian means the executive assistant of the CEO, who is responsible for the maintenance, care, and 

keeping of the public records. 

Meeting means any meeting duly convened, constituted and held by the Board; meetings convened by 

another entity to which the Board has been invited; and any meeting by one of the Board’s Committees. 

Minutes means the written record of the proceedings of the meeting, including actions, decisions, 

commitments and major discussion points  

Maintenance means the permanent and orderly preservation of minutes in either physical or digital 

mode  

Retention means the time period the minutes are required to be maintained. 

 

Policy 
Meeting minutes of the Board are the legal and official record of the Board’s actions and provide 

evidence of the Board’s interactions. Meeting minutes of Board Committees also provide a lasting 

record of actions and decisions by these Committees. 

It is the policy of the Board that its meeting minutes and those of its Committees shall be recorded and 

maintained in a manner that complies with Wyoming State statute and other regulatory requirements 

pertinent to governmental hospitals.1  

Procedure 
1. There shall be an official record, or minutes, of the proceedings of every meeting.  

2. Meeting minutes should include:  

a. Date of the meeting  

b. Time the meeting was called to order  

c. Names of the meeting participants and absentees  

d. Corrections and amendments to previous meeting minutes  

                                                           
1 W.S. 16-4-401 to 16-4-408 (2011) 

232/250



 

2 
 

e. Additions to the current agenda  

f. Whether a quorum is present  

g. Motions taken or rejected  

h. Voting-that there was a motion and second, and the outcome of the vote  

i. Actions taken or agreed to be taken  

j. Next steps  

k. Items to be held over  

l. New business 

m. Open discussion or public participation 

n. Next meeting date and time  

o. Time of adjournment 

3. The Board Secretary shall delegate the recording and drafting of Board meeting minutes to the 

executive assistant of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). 

4. For committees where someone other than the executive assistant of the CEO takes the 

minutes, the Committee chair is responsible for assuring that the CEO’s executive assistant has 

all the Committee meeting material for the upcoming Board meeting packet.  

5. Board meeting minutes are official once they have been approved by the Board and signed by 

the Board Secretary. Committee meeting minutes are official once they have been approved by 

Committee members.  

6. The minutes of executive sessions are confidential and are in the custody of the executive 

assistant of the CEO. 

7. Public meeting notice, as well as the meeting agenda, handouts and documents that were 

referred to during the meeting shall be attached to the official copy of the minutes. 

8. Storage and retention of all official records of the Board shall comply with Wyoming State 

statutes2 and are delegated to the executive assistant of the CEO. 

a. Minutes of all Board meetings shall be permanently retained in physical form. 

i. To protect from damage and destruction, physical copies of the minutes and 

their attached documents shall be retained in a safe, secure file cabinet in the 

office of the Hospital’s administration. 

ii. Digital copies of the minutes and their attached documents shall be uploaded 

and retained in the board portal. 

b. Minutes of all Committee meetings shall be retained for three years. 

i. Digital copies of the minutes and their attached documents shall be uploaded 

and retained in the appropriate Committee section of the board portal.  

ii. The administrative staff associated with the Committee shall be responsible for 

uploading each month’s meeting material into the board portal for storage. 

9. Board and Committee minutes are controlled from unauthorized access. 

a. Digital minutes are protected from unauthorized access through passwords. 

b. Access to paper minutes is under the purview of the executive assistant of the CEO. 

c. Minutes that are in the public domain shall be provided for public review without 

charge on equipment made available by the Hospital in its office. Copies of the minutes 

may be requested; the Hospital may set a fee to cover costs of copying. 

                                                           
2 W.S. 17-16-1601 and 17-19-1601 (2011) 

233/250



 

3 
 

10. Official minutes of all Board meetings will be part of the public material on the Board of 

Trustee’s section of the Hospital’s website. 

 

 

234/250



235/250



236/250



237/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Document #00054874.0 

1 

Supplier Customer 

 
 

Experian Health, Inc. 
720 Cool Springs Blvd., Suite 200 
Franklin, TN 37067 
(615) 661-5657 or (888) 661-5657 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
1200 College Drive 
Rock Springs, WY 82901-5868 
 
 
 

 

Master Customer Agreement 
 
This Master Customer Agreement (as amended, supplemented or modified from time to time, the “Agreement”) covers the products and services listed 
below (“Products and Services”) and is between Experian Health, Inc. (“Experian Health”) and Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (“Customer,” and 
together with Experian Health, the “Parties”).   This Agreement shall be effective as of the date of signature by Experian Health (“Effective Date”). 
 
THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO EXPERIAN HEALTH'S STANDARD TERMS & CONDITIONS OF SALE, AS REVISED OR AMENDED FROM TIME 
TO TIME (THE “TERMS & CONDITIONS”), AND ITS BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT, ATTACHED AS SCHEDULE A HERETO AS REVISED 
OR AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME. The Terms & Conditions, which are incorporated by reference into this Agreement, are attached as Exhibit B hereto 
and Customer acknowledges receipt, review and acceptance thereof.  Customer agrees to and intends to be bound by the Terms & Conditions. Capitalized 
terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings given to them in the Terms & Conditions. 
 

PRODUCT OFFERINGS AND FEES 
 
PRODUCT OFFERINGS AND FEES. Product offerings and fees specified herein apply to a single facility installation. Experian Health agrees to provide 
the products and services selected below for the facility/facilities listed on Exhibit A hereto. Customer agrees to provide further details specified in the 
facility list and administration section in Exhibit A. HIS/PMS system(s) applicable to this Agreement include QuadraMed Affinity. 
 

  Fees (Unit Price) 

Product Description Qty Implementation Subscription Transaction 

Patient Estimates (Combined Estimates) With 
Touchless Estimates uses information from a provider's 
chargemaster physicians' fee schedule and payer 
contracted rates by procedure and applies eligibility and 
benefits information from the patient's health insurance 
plan. Fees are per installation, per connection to a single 
patient database and two chargemasters and physician 
fee schedule with up to 40 payers, 10 plans per payer. 
Additional payers can be purchased at an additional 
charge. Includes set up of Touchless Estimates (50 
templates); which will be completed after full 
implementation of base Patient Estimates product. 
Additional templates can be purchased if necessary. 

1 $0.00 $40,800 Estimates may run an 
Eligibility Verification 

Transaction to incorporate 
benefit data when there is 
not an existing eligibility 
transaction available for 
use. These transactions 

will be billed as set forth in 
the Agreement. 

Additional location or chargemaster integration for 
Patient Estimates. 

1 $5,000 $3,600 

Self-Service Patient Estimates provides the ability for 
consumers to access real-time estimates which extract 
information from a provider's chargemaster and payer 
contracted rates by procedure and applies eligibility and 
benefits information from the patient's health insurance 
plan. 

1 $0.00 $7,200 

eCare NEXT Eligibility Set-Up for Patient Estimates 
Only provides an eCare NEXT platform set-up with 
eligibility data to be used with the Patient Estimates tool. 

1 $0.00 $0.00 
The Eligibility Verification 
Transaction Fee shall be 
billed as provided below. 

Patient Estimates HIS Migration 1 $10,000 $0.00 $0.00 

Product-Level Analytics allows users to access 
analytical reporting for multiple Experian Health products 
on demand in an easy-to-read, user friendly format. This 
analytics offering is included with the purchase of the 
product and provides additional insight into a variety of 
KPI?s and metrics to assist with optimal use of the product 
to drive operational and financial outcomes. 

1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Fees referenced above are stated at unit cost value.  Totals presented below contain extended costs.  

Total 1st Year Fees (excluding transaction fees) $15,000 $51,600  

Future Recurring Fees (excluding transaction fees) N/A $51,600 
 

 
 
PASS-THROUGH FEES.  Fees exclude pass-through fees (“Pass-Through Fees”) from state and federal governmental entities (“Governmental Entities”), 
Medicaid and Medicare Managed Care Organizations (“MCOs”), third-party payers, communication tariffs, and/or other similar fees. Without prior notice, 
Pass-Through Fees will be billed monthly in addition to all other Fees at the cost that Experian Health pays to obtain transaction data. Notwithstanding 
any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, Experian Health shall have the right to increase the Pass-Through Fees to offset any increases in 
rates, changes, or other costs from Governmental Entities, MCOs and other third parties, including without limitation Medicaid and Medicare administrators, 

238/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Document #00054874.0 

2 

or any increase in the cost of providing services hereunder resulting from rules, regulations and operating procedures of any federal, state or local agency 
or regulatory authority. The Pass-Through Fees are not subject to approval by Experian Health. 
 
IMPLEMENTATION FEES. Implementation fees relate to the initial implementation and delivery of the product offering(s). These fees represent a one-
time cost billed at contract execution. 
 
SUBSCRIPTION FEES. Subscription fees relate to the ongoing availability of the product offering(s) to Customer. These fees are presented on an annual 
basis but billed on a monthly basis for the duration of this Agreement. Billing begins the earlier of: i) Customer’s first productive use or ii) the ninth full 
calendar month following the Effective Date. 
 
TRAINING AND CUSTOM PROGRAMMING FEES. Experian Health shall provide on-site training for all of the products selected above at the rate of 
$2,000 per trainer per eight-hour day. Online training, to the extent available for a given Product, shall be provided at no cost to Customer. The training 
shall be scheduled at such dates and times that are acceptable to Experian Health and Customer. Further, custom programming is available, to the extent 
requested in writing by Customer, for a fee set forth in an amendment to this Agreement. 
 
TRANSACTION FEES. Transaction Fees are billed per each successful transaction processed. A ‘'successful’' transaction shall be defined as an electronic 
transaction that returns a valid payer, data source, or business associate response to Customer from Experian Health as an inquiry sent to Experian Health 
from Customer’s HIS/PMS system(s). Transactions become billable to Customer, once Customer is eligible for training and will be billed on a monthly 
basis for the duration of this Agreement. 
 
ELIGIBILITY VERIFICATION TRANSACTION FEES. The Eligibility Verification transaction fee ("Eligibility Transaction Fee") includes eligibility verification 
transactions across all product platforms, including eCare NEXT®, IntelliSource, EDI, OneSource, BatchSource and Claims as well as any other 
transactions triggered by another Product, including Patient Estimates and ClaimSource.  The Eligibility Transaction Fee shall be equal to the sum of the 
Monthly Base Rate plus the Excess Usage Fee, if any, and shall be billed based on Customer’s selection below. These fees are billed on a monthly basis 
beginning the earlier of: i) Customer’s first productive use or ii) nine (9) months following the Effective Date ("EV Billing Date"). The Eligibility Transaction 
Fee does not include Pass-Through Fees. In no event will the Eligibility Transaction Fee be less than the Monthly Base Rate for Customer’s selected 
pricing tier. Prior to the EV Billing Date, Customer shall be billed at the Excess Usage Rate corresponding to Customer’s selection below. 
 
Beginning on the first anniversary of the Effective Date, Customer may change pricing tiers to a lower tier (“Downward Price Change”) once per calendar 
quarter by providing written notice to Experian Health (“Price Change Notice”). Customer may change pricing tiers to a higher tier at any time (“Upward 
Price Change”) by providing a Price Change Notice.  Any Price Change shall be effective the first day of the calendar month following Experian Health’s 
receipt of the Price Change Notice. 
 
 
 

Eligibility Verification Transaction Fee 

Pricing Tier 

(Select One) 
Monthly Base Rate Monthly Max Transactions Excess Usage Fees 

1  $150 per month 1,000 transactions per month 
$0.17 per transaction in excess of 1,000 
transactions per month 

2  $280 per month 2,000 transactions per month 
$0.16 per transaction in excess of 2,000 
transactions per month 

3  $390 per month 3,000 transactions per month 
$0.15 per transaction in excess of 3,000 
transactions per month 

  
 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 
 

BILLING TERMS.  Customer agrees to the following billing terms: Net 30 from date of invoice.  
 
STATEMENT OF WORK. The Statement of Work (“SOW”) attached hereto as Schedule B is incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this 
Agreement. 
 
TERM OF AGREEMENT AND RENEWAL. Experian Health reserves the right to rescind the fee structure and terms if this Agreement is not executed 
within 45 days of the date this Agreement was submitted to Customer.  This Agreement shall continue for a term of 24 months from the Effective Date 
(“Initial Term”) and will automatically renew for an unlimited number of 12-month periods (''Renewal Term”). This Agreement may be terminated by either 
Party effective at the end of the Initial Term or at the end of any Renewal Term (if applicable) with a 90-day written termination notice. Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary in the Agreement, Customer may terminate this Agreement with written notice to Experian Health effective as of, or any time after, 
Customer’s go-live date with Experian Health as governed by the Cerner Sales Order between Cerner and Customer pursuant to which Customer will 
purchase Experian Health’s PE product from Cerner. 
 
This Agreement may be executed by digital signature and in any number of counterparts, each of which is an original, but all counterparts of which 
constitute the same instrument. 
 
 
 
 
 

{signatures on next page} 
 

239/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Document #00054874.0 

3 

 

 
  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, an authorized representative of each of the Parties has executed this Agreement as of the dates written below. 
 
EXPERIAN HEALTH, INC. 
 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
 

 
 
Signed By:  

 
Signed By:  

 
Print Name: Jeff Corley 

 
Print Name:  

Title: Senior Director - Operations Title:  

Date:  Date:  

240/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Document #00054874.0 

4 

EXHIBIT A 
FACILITY LIST AND ADMINISTRATION 

 
Primary Facility Information 

 
Name:  Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County  

Address: 1200 College Drive, Rock Springs, WY, 82901-5868 

NPI #:    

Tax ID#:    

Tax Exempt:  No 

(If yes, please attach a copy of your certificate of exemption.) 

Facility Main Phone Number:  

Company Website:   

Type of Ownership:   Partnership __    Sole Owner __    Nonprofit __    Corporation __    LLC __ 

Years in Business: 

 
Contact Information 

 
Product Admin./Superuser  

Contact:    

Phone:     

Email:    

Onboarding/Implementation  

Contact:    

Phone:    

Email:     

Billing  

Contact:    

Phone:    

Email:     

Training  

Contact:    

Phone:   

Email:   

 

   

ADDITIONAL FACILITY INFORMATION 

 
1. Name & Address:  

Tax ID: 

NPI Number: 

 

2. Name & Address:  

Tax ID: 

NPI Number: 

 

3. Name & Address:  

Tax ID: 

NPI Number: 

 

 

  

 
  

241/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Document #00054874.0 

5 

 
 
I. SCOPE, TERMINATION AND SURVIVAL. 

 
1.1 Scope. The Terms and Conditions contained herein shall apply to the Master Customer Agreement between Customer and Experian 

Health (“Agreement”) and all addendums and amendments to the Agreement and all quotations and offers. These Terms and 
Conditions apply in lieu of any course of dealings between the parties or usage of trade in the industry. Acceptance of the Agreement 
is conditioned on Customer’s acceptance of the Terms and Conditions, irrespective of whether the Customer accepts these conditions 
by a written acknowledgement, by implication, or acceptance and payment for Products and Services ordered hereunder. Capitalized 
terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings given to them in the Agreement. 

1.2 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated as follows: 
A. For Cause.   

 Breach. In the event of a material breach of any term, condition, obligation or covenant under this Agreement, other than 
the obligation to pay the fees, the non-breaching Party shall give the breaching Party written notice describing the breach.  
The Party receiving the notice shall have thirty (30) days (the “Cure Period”) in which to cure the breach.  If the breach is 
not cured within the Cure Period, the non-breaching party may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to the breaching 
Party stating the effective date of termination.  This remedy shall be in addition to any other remedy available at law or in 
equity.  

 Non-payment. Customer is fully responsible for the payments of any charges not disputed in accordance with Section 2.2 
(“Undisputed Fees”) for the period during which Products and Services are provided. If Customer fails to pay Undisputed 
Fees when due, Experian Health reserves the right to suspend the Products and Services without further notice to Customer.  
Additionally, if Customer fails to pay Undisputed Fees when due, Experian Health may terminate the Agreement immediately 
without notice to Customer.  

 Furthermore, either Party shall have the right to terminate the Agreement immediately upon written notice to the other Party 
if either Party or its direct or indirect parent company (i) ceases to conduct its business in the ordinary course, (ii) becomes 
legally insolvent, suffers or permits the appointment of a receiver for its business or assets or (iii) avails itself to or becomes 
subject to any proceeding under any bankruptcy, insolvency or debtor’s relief law of any applicable jurisdiction. 

 Change in Circumstance. Experian Health shall have the right to terminate the Agreement and/or any Product or Service 
offered hereunder upon reasonable advance notice if Experian Health is no longer offering or providing support for such 
particular Product or Service. 

 Calculation of Early Termination Charges. If Customer terminates this Agreement other than for cause prior to the end 
of the applicable term, Customer will pay an early termination fee, which represents Experian Health’s reasonable liquidated 
damages and not a penalty, in a lump sum equal to the remaining contractually committed fees, including any unbilled or 
unpaid fees, for the remainder of the then-current term.  

1.3 Survival.  Those provisions of this Agreement that, by their nature, are intended to survive termination or expiration of this Agreement 
will remain in force and effect, including without limitation Sections 2.5, 8, 9, 10, 24, 25 and 26. 

 
II. BILLING AND PAYMENT TERMS. 

 
2.1 Fees: Customer agrees to pay all fees (including without limitation, monthly fees, implementation fees, license fees, subscription fees 

and transaction fees), for the Products and Services as set forth in the Agreement. 
2.2 Billing:  Customer agrees that payment is due net thirty (30) days from the date of invoice.  In the event any dispute arises involving 

any of the items contained on Experian Health’s invoice, Customer agrees to notify Experian Health of said dispute within fifteen (15) 
days of receipt of the invoice in question but will not withhold payment on undisputed charges.   

2.3  Fee Increases: Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, Experian Health shall have the right to increase 
or modify the fees, other charges and financial terms of the Agreement. Experian Health agrees that any such increase will not exceed 
the lesser of (i) the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers, Medical Sector for the calendar year preceding the date of the 
increase as stated at http://www.stats.bls.gov/cpi or (ii) four percent (4%). Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to 
the contrary, Experian Health shall have the right to at any time without prior notice to pass through any fees from state and federal 
governmental entities (“Governmental Entities”), Medicaid and Medicare Managed Care Organizations (“MCOs”), third-party payers, 
communication tariffs, and/or other similar fees.  

2.4  Late Payment: If Customer fails to make payment with respect to any invoice by its due date such invoice shall be deemed delinquent 
and a finance charge equal to 1.5% per month totaling 18% per year), or the maximum rate permitted by applicable law, if less, of all 
outstanding balances shall be payable for each month, or portion thereof, during which the delinquency remains outstanding. 
Customer agrees to pay promptly all costs and expenses, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of settlement 
incurred by Experian Health to collect any outstanding balances due hereunder.   

2.5    Taxes: Unless Customer provides Experian Health proof of exemption from taxation, Customer shall be responsible for any taxes 
imposed by federal, state, local or regulatory authority, taxes payable as a matter of law with respect to Customer’s purchase of the 
Products and Services whether such tax is imposed now or later by the applicable authority, including but not limited to assessments, 
personal property, ad valorem, excise, telecommunications and sales and use. Customer shall not be responsible for other taxes, 
including federal or state income or similar taxes, based on Experian Health’s income or assets, unemployment compensation, 
worker’s compensation, Federal Insurance Contributions Act, Federal Unemployment Tax Act or other taxes, costs, or expenses 
incurred by Experian Health in providing the Products and Services.  Experian Health shall calculate the taxes payable by Customer 
and include those taxes on the invoices delivered to Customer.  Customer will promptly pay, and indemnify Experian Health against, 
all such taxes and duties, unless Customer provides Experian Health satisfactory evidence of an applicable tax exemption prior to the 
Effective Date. 

2.6 Multi-Facility Installation. Implementation fees shall apply as provided in the Agreement. Implementation fees cover initial installation 
of the applicable Products and Services at the facilities and/or locations listed on Exhibit A attached hereto.  Customer hereby 
acknowledges and agrees that any additional facilities, locations and/or affiliate organizations shall execute an addendum or 
amendment to this Agreement and additional implementation fees may apply. 

 

EXHIBIT B 
STANDARD TERMS & CONDITIONS OF SALE 

 

242/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Document #00054874.0 

6 

III. LICENSED RIGHTS. 
 

3.1 Grant: Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and for so long as Customer is not in breach of the terms and conditions, 
Experian Health grants Customer a limited, nonexclusive, non-assignable, and non-transferable license to use the Products and 
Services, including any corresponding documentation, at the location(s) designated on Exhibit A for Customer’s internal purposes for 
the Initial Term and any Renewal Term (“License Term”). The License Term will remain in effect until the Agreement is terminated. 
These license grants also apply to any user documentation provided by Experian Health (“Documentation”).   

3.2 Limitation: The Customer may not: (1) reverse engineer the Products; (2) use the Products to provide time-sharing or service-bureau 
services, either for profit or not, except as stated above; (3) allow third-parties to access or use the Products or Test Data (“Test Data” 
shall refer to any data to which Customer has access through Experian Health’s test databases); (4) give copies of the Products or 
Test Data to any other party including parent or sister company(ies), subsidiaries, or contractors; and (5) reproduce the Products, Test 
Data, or user Documentation except as stated above.  Customer will not copy or modify the Products except as expressly permitted 
in this Agreement.  Customer will not alter any trademark, copyright notice, or other proprietary notice on the Products or 
Documentation, and will duplicate each such trademark or notice on each copy of the Products and Documentation. All Products used 
to provide the Services and all Test Data are herein identified as proprietary to Experian Health, its licensors or vendors as applicable, 
and may not be copied, reproduced, modified, reverse engineered, translated, decompiled, disassembled, emulated, sublicensed, 
rented, leased, conveyed, assigned or used in any way other than as specifically authorized in this Agreement except to the extent 
and for the express purposes authorized by applicable law notwithstanding this limitation. All copies and partial copies of the Products 
and Test Data will remain the property of Experian Health.   

3.3 Changes to Services:  Experian Health reserves the right at any time to (i) change, add, or modify any Product or Service or the 
manner in which such Product or Service is delivered or (ii) withdraw any Product or Service. 

 
IV. SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS. Customer acknowledges and agrees that certain Products require high speed Internet connectivity and personal 

computers capable of running Microsoft Internet Explorer (9.0 or higher) (“System Requirements”), which System Requirements Experian Health 
may change from time to time upon notice through its website, and that the procurement and maintenance of such System Requirements are 
the responsibility of the Customer. 

 
V. DATA. 

 
5.1 ID(s) and Passwords. Upon execution of this Agreement, Experian Health will assign unique logon ID(s) and passwords(s) (“Account 

Data”) to Customer to allow Experian Health to authenticate user identity and transmit data electronically.  Experian Health shall retain 
title to the Account Data and reserves the right to change any Account Data at any time, for any reason.  Customer agrees to i) keep 
confidential and not to disclose any Account Data to third parties, and ii) use only Account Data that was issued to Customer by 
Experian Health. Customer assumes full responsibility for selection and use of any Account Data as may be permitted or required by 
any Product. Customer shall be responsible to ensure that each user granted access to Account Data: (i) is fully aware of all of its 
obligations under this Agreement (ii) maintains the secrecy and security of the Account Data assigned to such user and iii) does not 
disclose Account Data to any other party. Customer shall be responsible for any use or access of the Products through its Account 
Data, whether such access was authorized or not. The use of the Account Data assigned to any user shall be deemed to constitute 
the acts of such person, and Experian Health shall be entitled to rely upon the data input without any obligation to identify or otherwise 
verify any person who gains access to the Products by means of such Account Data. Customer agrees that terminated users will be 
immediately removed from Customer’s system, including but not limited to removal from access through the single log-in. Experian 
Health is responsible for obtaining, disseminating, and using beneficiary’s data according to HIPAA and CMS guidelines. Experian 
Health agrees that the password is hidden from the user by the single-login solution and that a password-expiration policy is in place 
and electronically enforced with a 90-day or less expiration timeframe.  Experian Health agrees at all times to ensure sufficient security 
measures to associate each Experian Health transaction with a specific user. If Customer accesses Experian Health via a single log-
in solution, Customer shall have the ability to associate each transaction to a particular end-user. Upon request by Experian Health 
or any payer, governmental or commercial, Customer agrees to provide the name and NPI number of any end-user associated with 
any transaction and any other details, as requested. If Customer violates any provision of this Section 5.1 and/or other CMS data 
privacy and security rules Experian Health may, in its sole discretion, immediately revoke access to Experian Health data.  Experian 
Health reserves the right to periodically audit, but no more than once per month, Customer’s ability to associate each transaction to a 
particular end-user. 

5.2 Data Authority. The state or federal government, commercial payer and/or various data source’s records are the final authority on 
eligibility, benefits, claims or other patient data. The data Customer and Experian Health may exchange pursuant to this Agreement 
may change as a result of changes in law or regulation, or actions taken in accordance with the terms and conditions of certain health 
care benefits contracts, or changes made to those contracts.   

5.3 Non-Guarantee of Reimbursement. Experian Health does not warrant the accuracy or completeness of the data it sends to Customer 
as it is returned directly from a payer or data source.  Acceptance by Customer of the data Experian Health sends electronically does 
not constitute guarantee of reimbursement.  Experian Health exercises no control whatsoever over any third-party content, data and 
information entered into or displayed by the Products or any third-party content, data and information passing to/from Customer via 
the Products. Customer’s use of any third-party content, data and information obtained via the Products is at Customer’s own risk and 
Experian Health specifically disclaims any warranty or responsibility for the accuracy or quality of third-party content, data and 
information obtained or provided through such use.  Experian Health shall have no responsibility or liability with regard to actions of 
third parties, including but not limited to disputes concerning payment of claims, eligibility status of a patient, or any other payer-
submitted information.  Information submitted by a payer through Experian Health is no guarantee of payment and does not constitute 
a promise to pay; eligibility information is subject to change and waiting periods may apply. Experian Health does not warrant the 
accuracy or completeness of Test Data. 

5.4 Medicaid Eligibility. Medicaid eligibility information is restricted to an approved Medicaid provider having a valid Medicaid provider 
number for the sole purpose of verification of Medicaid eligibility status and data for Medicaid recipients requiring medical service(s). 
The Medicaid providers have the ability to contract for Medicaid eligibility verification without regard to other network services available 
from the contractor. Medicaid eligibility and other verification information may be available from the state via telephone or personal 
computer dial-up at no cost. Medicaid eligibility and other verification information in the state of Georgia may be available from the 
state of Georgia via telephone or personal computer dial-up at no cost. 

 
VI. SYSTEM TESTING. Experian Health reserves the right to process test system inquiries on Customer’s behalf in order to monitor service 

performance and quality assurance, but Customer shall not be responsible for any fees associated with such monitoring. 

243/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Document #00054874.0 

7 

 
VII. DATA RETENTION. Experian Health stores response data within Experian Health OneSource® for up to seven (7) days and within Experian 

Health BatchSource® and Experian Health IntelliSource® for up to three (3) months, provided, however, in no event shall Medicare data be 
stored online in excess of thirty (30) days. Experian Health shall have no liability or responsibility to deliver stored data to Customer. 

  
VIII. PROPRIETARY RIGHTS AND CONFIDENTIALITY. Customer, and on behalf of its employees, agents, vendors and clients, recognizes, 

acknowledges, and hereby agrees that Experian Health and its licensors and vendors, as applicable, retain a proprietary interest in the Products 
and Services provided hereunder, including Test Data, and also to any and all copies, versions and derivative works of the same.  Customer, 
and on behalf of its employees, agents, vendors and clients, shall not use or disclose the Products and Services, Test Data, or any equipment, 
provided hereunder except for purposes consistent with this Agreement. To the extent that Experian Health’s employees or agents obtain access 
to Customer’s proprietary information (i.e., a patient’s Protected Health Information), Experian Health shall use the information for the sole 
purpose of providing the Products and Services offered under this Agreement. Experian Health shall not disclose such proprietary information 
to any third party except where the third party is contractually obligated to Experian Health to facilitate the delivery of Products and Services. 
Customer acknowledges that Experian Health has no obligation to disclose any of its payer edits to Customer and that Experian Health retains 
a proprietary interest in any payer edits provided hereunder. Customer also acknowledges and agrees that certain payers, fiscal intermediaries, 
government entities, and other third-party information suppliers may require compliance with obligations involving confidentiality, liability, and 
scope of use, as a condition of accessing their information. In the event such compliance obligations are directed to Experian Health then 
Experian Health will convey such written obligations to Customer as a requirement to access data. Customer also acknowledges and agrees 
that this Agreement and all pricing information and performance standards contained within and any of its related amendments, addendums, 
exhibits and schedules is considered confidential, competitive health care information and trade secrets and shall not be disclosed to any third 
party without the prior written consent of Experian Health. Customer agrees that if it has access to Test Data, then Customer will treat the Test 
Data with the same standard of care, which shall be no less than a reasonable degree of care, as Customer normally uses to protect its own 
confidential or proprietary information to avoid disclosure of such data to third parties. Customer further acknowledges that in order to facilitate 
the performance of this Agreement and the relationship between the Parties, Experian Health may disclose to Customer other “Confidential 
Information,” including without limitation, software (source code and object code), hardware, designs, inventions, ideas, applications, data, trade 
secrets, processes, techniques, work in process, “know-how,” product plans, consulting materials, company plans, business policies and 
financial information, all derivative improvements and enhancements to any of the above, and information of third parties as to which Experian 
Health has an obligation of confidentiality.  Customer agrees that it shall not use such Confidential Information except for purposes consistent 
with this Agreement and will not disclose such Confidential Information to any third party without the prior written consent of Experian 
Health.  This entire section shall survive the termination of this Agreement and Customer’s obligations of confidentiality as to trade secrets shall 
survive until such trade secret is no longer deemed a trade secret under law. 

 
  IX. WARRANTIES, REMEDIES, INDEMNITIES AND LIABILITIES.  Experian Health warrants that it has the authority to provide the Products and 

Services to Customer under this Agreement, and as of the Effective Date and to the best of Experian Health’s knowledge, the use of the Products 
and Services by Customer in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall not infringe upon the United States patent, trademark or 
copyrights of any third party. Customer’s sole and exclusive remedy and Experian Health’s sole and exclusive liability in the event of a breach 
of the foregoing representation or warranty is the indemnification set forth in Section 10 below. Experian Health warrants that the Products will 
perform in all material respects in accordance with the functional specifications set forth in the Documentation. In the event of a breach of the 
foregoing warranty, Experian Health shall use commercially reasonable efforts to repair or replace the affected Product.  Such effort shall be 
Customer’s sole and exclusive remedy and Experian Health’s sole and exclusive liability in the event of a breach of the foregoing warranty. 
EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED HEREIN, THE SERVICES AND PRODUCTS, INCLUDING TEST DATA, ARE PROVIDED “AS IS” 
WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY 
IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, NONINFRINGEMENT OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, ALL OF WHICH ARE 
EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMED. CUSTOMER AGREES THAT EXPERIAN HEALTH WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY CLAIM OR DEMAND 
AGAINST CUSTOMER BY ANY OTHER PARTY. DUE TO THE NATURE OF THE SERVICES BEING PERFORMED BY EXPERIAN HEALTH, 
IT IS AGREED THAT IN NO EVENT WILL EXPERIAN HEALTH BE LIABLE FOR ANY CLAIM, LOSS, LIABILITY, CORRECTION, COST, 
DAMAGE, OR EXPENSE CAUSED BY EXPERIAN HEALTH’S PERFORMANCE OR FAILURE TO PERFORM HEREUNDER WHICH IS NOT 
REPORTED BY CUSTOMER WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF SUCH FAILURE TO PERFORM. CUSTOMER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT, IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE SERVICES PROVIDED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, INFORMATION SHALL BE TRANSMITTED OVER LOCAL 
EXCHANGE, INTEREXCHANGE AND INTERNET BACKBONE CARRIER LINES AND THROUGH ROUTERS, SWITCHES AND OTHER 
DEVICES OWNED, MAINTAINED AND SERVICED BY THIRD PARTY LOCAL EXCHANGE AND LONG-DISTANCE CARRIERS, UTILITIES, 
INTERNET SERVICE PROVIDERS, AND OTHERS, ALL OF WHICH ARE BEYOND THE CONTROL AND JURISDICTION OF EXPERIAN 
HEALTH. ACCORDINGLY, EXPERIAN HEALTH ASSUMES NO LIABILITY FOR OR RELATING TO THE DELAY, FAILURE, 
INTERRUPTION OR CORRUPTION OF ANY DATA OR OTHER INFORMATION TRANSMITTED IN CONNECTION WITH THE PRODUCTS 
OR SERVICES PROVIDED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. Each party shall indemnify and hold the other party harmless from any and all losses 
and liability for damages, including court costs and reasonable attorney fees, sustained by the other party to the extent such losses and liabilities 
arise out of the negligent acts or omissions of the indemnifying party. The remedies set forth in this agreement constitute the sole and exclusive 
remedies for Customer at law and in equity. Experian Health’s maximum liability for the damages to Customer, from any cause whatsoever, and 
regardless of the form of action, whether in contract or in tort, including negligence, will be limited to the lesser of: (1) the total amount payable 
for the Products and Services during the twelve (12) months before the cause of actions arose or (2) the damages incurred. IN NO EVENT 
SHALL EITHER PARTY, ITS LICENSORS, SUPPLIERS AND/OR SUBCONTRACTORS BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY 
INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INDIRECT OR SPECIAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES FOR LOSS OF 
REVENUE OR PROFITS, COST OF CAPITAL, CLAIMS OF CUSTOMERS FOR SERVICE INTERRUPTIONS OR FAILURE OF SUPPLY, 
AND COSTS AND EXPENSES INCURRED IN CONNECTION WITH LABOR, OVERHEAD, TRANSPORTATION, INSTALLATION, OR 
REMOVAL OF EQUIPMENT OR PROGRAMMING OR SUBSTITUTE FACILITIES OR SUPPLY RESOURCES, EVEN IF SUCH PARTY HAS 
BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. The obligations under this section shall survive termination of this Agreement. 

 
X. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY INDEMNIFICATION. Experian Health will indemnify, defend and hold harmless Customer from any action or 

other proceeding brought against Customer to the extent that it is based on a claim that the use of the Products or Services delivered under this 
Agreement infringes any U.S. copyright or U.S. patent of a third party; provided that Customer gives Experian Health immediate notice in writing 
of a complaint, gives Experian Health sole authority to defend the same and gives Experian Health all available information assistance and 
authority in connection therewith. Experian Health will have control of the defense of such proceeding including appeals and of all negotiations 
for, including the right to effect the settlement or compromise thereof.  In the event of such a complaint or if in Experian Health’s reasonable 
opinion such a complaint is likely to be successfully made, Experian Health shall, at its option and expense, to the extent necessary to provide 
substantially equivalent and compatible Product and/or Service, procure for Customer the right to continue using the Product and/or Service, 

244/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Document #00054874.0 

8 

replace the same with non-infringing Product and/or Service, or modify the same so that it becomes non-infringing and conforms in all material 
respects.  In the event that the infringing Product and/or Service cannot be replaced or modified as set forth herein in a commercially reasonable 
manner, Experian Health may discontinue the Product and/or Service, or that portion of the Product and/or Service, and the access granted 
hereunder will terminate.  Experian Health will not have any liability to Customer if any such infringement, or complaint thereof, is based upon 
or arises out of (a) non-compliance with the design, plans or specifications furnished by or on behalf of Experian Health or the Documentation 
or this Agreement; (b) the use of the Product and/or Service in a manner for which the same was neither designated nor contemplated; (c) 
modifications made to the Products or Services by or on behalf of Customer; or (d) the claimed infringement of any patent in which Customer or 
any subsidiary or affiliate of Customer has any direct or indirect interest, by license or otherwise; or (e) if such claim or infringement or complaint 
arises out of the actions of or is brought by a non-practicing entity or other such “patent troll.”. THE FOREGOING ARE EXPERIAN HEALTH’S 
SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE OBLIGATIONS, AND CUSTOMER’S SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDIES, WITH RESPECT TO INTELLECTUAL 
PROPERTY INFRINGEMENT. 

 
XI. INSURANCE. Unless otherwise agreed, during the term of this Agreement, Experian Health agrees to maintain, at Experian Health’s expense, 

(i) Comprehensive General Liability Insurance in an amount not less than  $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 general aggregate, for 
bodily injury or property damage, (ii) Worker’s Compensation at statutory limits and Employer's Liability in an amount not less than $1,000,000 
each accident, disease employee and policy limit and (iii) Automobile Liability insurance in an amount not less than $1,000,000 combined single 
limit.  Prior to performing any Services on Customer’s premises, upon request, Experian Health shall furnish Customer with a certificate of 
insurance which evidence the minimum levels of insurance set forth herein. 

 
XII. BINDING EFFECT; NO ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective 

successors, assigns and legal representatives, whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise.  This Agreement may not be assigned by any 
Party hereto without the prior written consent of the other Party hereto; however, Experian Health may collaterally assign its rights under this 
Agreement to one or more lenders providing debt financing to Experian Health and Experian Health may assign this Agreement to a successor 
entity in the event of a sale of all or substantially all of its assets without notice to or consent of Customer.  

 
XIII. FORCE MAJEURE. Experian Health shall not be liable for delays in performance under this Agreement or for failure to perform hereunder by 

reason of any third-party’s failure to provide Experian Health with the data necessary for complete and proper transmission of the Services.  
Experian Health will not be liable to Customer for any failure or delay caused by any cause beyond the reasonable control of Experian Health, 
including but not limited to acts of God, acts of war, terrorism, riots, embargoes, acts of civil or military authorities, denial of or delays in processing 
of export license applications, fire, floods, earthquakes, internet outages, accidents, or strikes, whether or not such matters were foreseeable, 
and such failure or delay will not constitute a material breach of this Agreement. 

 
XIV. NOTICES. Any notices or communications required by this Agreement must be provided in writing and signed by an authorized representative 

of the notifying Party and delivered by United States mail or courier service, telefacsimile or electronic mail to such Party’s address as set forth 
below. Notice shall be deemed effective when delivered.  

  
To Experian Health:  Contract & Setup  
   720 Cool Springs Blvd., Suite 200 
   Franklin, Tennessee 37067 
   Fax: 877-442-2150 
   Email: contract&setup@experianhealth.com  
 
To Customer:   [Address & Contact Information listed on Customer Agreement Exhibit A] 

 
XV.  COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.  
 

15.1 Applicable Laws. Customer represents and warrants that it shall comply with all applicable local, state and national laws and 
regulations pertaining to its performance and obligations under the Agreement. Customer’s failure to comply with any applicable law 
or regulations shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement. 

15.2 Participation in Federally Funded Healthcare Programs.  Experian Health warrants that neither it nor any of its employees assigned 
to perform material Services under this Agreement have been convicted of a criminal offense related to health care or been listed as 
debarred, excluded, or otherwise ineligible for participation in a federal health care program. Experian Health will notify Customer if 
Experian Health becomes aware that it or any of its employees assigned to perform material Services under this Agreement have 
been excluded or is otherwise ineligible for participation in a federal health care program. 

15.3 Affirmative Action and Nondiscrimination. Experian Health warrants that it will not discriminate against any employee because of 
race, color, religion, sex, national origin, ancestry, age, marital status, handicap, unfavorable discharge from the military, or status as 
a disabled veteran as required for compliance with federal and state law. 

15.4 Books and Records. Experian Health shall allow the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services and the Comptroller 
General, or their duly authorized representatives, access upon written request to this Agreement and to the books, documents and 
records of Experian Health that are necessary to verify the nature and extent of costs of Services furnished under this Agreement.  
Experian Health also agrees that if either Experian Health or any entity under common control or ownership as Experian Health carry 
out any duties of this Agreement through a subcontract, with a value or cost of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) or more over a 
twelve (12) month period with a related organization, the subcontract must contain a clause to the effect that the related organization 
must make available, upon written request, to the Secretary, or upon request to the Comptroller General, or their duly authorized 
representatives, the subcontract and the books, documents and records of the related organization that are necessary to verify the 
nature and extent of the costs.  Such access shall be until the expiration of four (4) years after the Services are furnished under this 
Agreement. 

15.5 Business Associate Agreement. The Parties shall enter into a Business Associate Agreement substantially in the form attached 
hereto as Schedule A. 

 
XVI. RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES. Experian Health and Customer are separate and independent entities.  Both Parties are acting as independent 

contractors and none of the provisions of this Agreement is intended to create any partnership or joint venture. 
 
XVII.  COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which 

together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

245/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Document #00054874.0 

9 

 
XVIII.  TITLES AND CAPTIONS. All section titles or captions contained in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be deemed part of 

the context nor effect the interpretation of this Agreement. 
 
XIX. TRADE SECRETS. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as conferring by implication, estoppel or otherwise upon Customer, 

any rights under any trade secrets, or know how of Experian Health and no such rights shall arise from this Agreement or from any acts, 
statements or dealings resulting in the execution of this Agreement. 

 
XX. PRESUMPTION.  This Agreement or any section thereof shall not be construed against any Party due to the fact that this Agreement or any 

section thereof was drafted by said Party. 
 
XXI. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions 

shall continue to be of full force and effect. 
 
XXII.   FURTHER ACTION. The Parties hereto shall execute and deliver all documents, provide all information and take or forbear from all such action 

as may be necessary or appropriate to achieve the purposes of the Agreement and Amendments and Addendums, as applicable. 
 
XXIII.  PARTIES IN INTEREST.  Nothing herein shall be construed to be to the benefit of any third party, nor is it intended that any provision shall be 

for the benefit of any third party. 
 
XXIV. CHOICE OF LAW. This Agreement and all disputes will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the state of Delaware 

without regard to its conflict of law provisions. Exclusive venue and jurisdiction for any litigation arising out of this Agreement shall be subject to 
the local, state or federal courts in New Castle County, Delaware. 

 
XXV. DISPUTE RESOLUTION. No action regardless of form, arising out of this Agreement, may be brought by either Party hereto more than twelve 

(12) months after the event giving rise to the cause of action. 
 
XXVI.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT; AMENDMENTS. The Agreement and the Terms and Conditions together with any attachments, exhibits and other 

information, whether physically attached, incorporated by reference or referenced to a website contain the complete and exclusive understanding 
between the Parties regarding the subject matter herein and supersede any prior or contemporaneous agreements, oral or written.  No provision 
of the Agreement shall be modified or amended except in a writing signed by the Parties. 

 
XXVII.  WAIVER. Failure to exercise or enforce any right under this Agreement will not act as a waiver of such rights. 
 
XXVIII. COLLABORATION WITH EXPERIAN HEALTH MARKETING: Customer shall i) Participate in the marketing reference program with potential 

Experian Health customers via telephone and onsite meetings (no more frequently than twice per calendar month); ii) Collaborate with Experian 
Health Marketing team on press releases to promote new product adoption, and collaborate on product webinars, articles, case studies and 
potential conference speaking proposals/presentations to illustrate functionality, customer service and return on investment (“ROI”).

 
 
  

246/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
9/8/2020 10:21:07 AM       Document #00054874.0 

10 

SCHEDULE A 
BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 

 
THIS BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT (this “BAA”) is made part of the agreement between Experian Health, Inc. (“Experian Health”) and Memorial 
Hospital of Sweetwater County (“Customer,” and together with Experian Health, the “Parties”), pursuant to which Experian Health provides certain products 
and services (the “Products and Services”) to Customer (the “Agreement”), and will be effective upon the Effective Date, as defined in the Agreement. 
 
WHEREAS, Customer will provide patient health and financial information to Experian Health under the Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, Customer and Experian Health wish to amend the Agreement to comply with the requirements of the HIPAA Rules (as defined herein). 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency 
of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follow: 
 
1. DEFINITIONS. The below terms shall have the meaning indicated when capitalized and used in this BAA. Customer and Experian Health 

understand that unless otherwise provided in this BAA, capitalized terms have the same meanings as set forth in the HIPAA Rules. 
 

1.1 Designated Record Set shall mean “designated record set” as such terms is defined in 45 CFR 164.501, which is stored on the 
system operated and maintained by Experian Health under the Agreement or otherwise in the possession of Experian Health or its 
subcontractors. 

 
1.2 De-Identified Data means protected health information that has been de-identified in accordance with 45 CFR 164.514. 
 
1.3 Electronic Protected Health Information or “ePHI” shall mean PHI that is maintained or transmitted by Electronic Media. 
 
1.4 HIPAA means the administrative simplification section of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as codified 

at 42 U.S.C. §1320d through 42 U.S.C. §1320d-8. 
 
1.5 HITECH Act means the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (Title XIII, Subtitle D) and any applicable 

regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 
1.6 HIPAA Rules mean the Privacy Rule, Security Rule, Transaction Rule and applicable amendments by the HITECH Act. 
 
1.7 Individual shall have the same meaning as the term “individual” in 45 CFR § 160.103 and shall include a person who qualifies as a 

personal representative in accordance with 45 CFR § 164.502(g). 
 
1.8 Privacy Rule shall mean the Standards of Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information at 45 CFR Part 160 and 164, Subparts 

A and E, as amended by the HITECH Act and as may otherwise be amended from time to time. 
 
1.9 Protected Health Information or “PHI” shall have the same meaning as the term “Protected Health Information” in 45 CFR § 

160.103, limited to the information created or received by Experian Health from or on behalf of Customer. All references to PHI herein 
shall be construed to include ePHI. 

 
1.10 Secretary shall mean the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services or his designee. 
 
1.11 Security Rule means the Security Standards for the Protection of ePHI contained in 45 CFR 160, 162 and 164, as amended. 
 
1.12 Successful Security Incident means a Security Incident that results in unauthorized access, use, disclosure, modification or 

destruction of ePHI. 
 
1.13 Transaction Rule means the regulations contained in 45 CFR 160 and 162, as amended. 
 
1.14 Unsuccessful Security Incident means activities, including but not limited to, pings and other broadcast attacks on firewalls, port 

scans, unsuccessful log-on attempts, denials of service and any combination of the above, so long as no such incident results in 
unauthorized access, use or disclosure of ePHI. 

 
2. HIPAA COMPLIANCE. Experian Health agrees to comply with the following: 
 

2.1 Use of Protected Health Information: Experian Health shall not use any PHI other than as permitted by this BAA and: (i) as required 
to perform Experian Health’s obligations under the Agreement, (ii) as required for Experian Health’s proper management and 
administration or (iii) as permitted or Required by Law, including, without limitation, the requirements of the HIPAA Rules. 

 
2.2 Obligations and Activities: 

 
2.2.1 Appropriate Safeguards. Experian Health shall use appropriate safeguards to prevent the use or disclosure of PHI, other 

than as permitted by the Agreement or this BAA and will comply, where applicable, with the requirements of the Security 
Rule. 

 
2.2.2 Experian Health's Agents. Experian Health agrees to ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom it provides 

PHI received from, or created or received by Experian Health on behalf of Customer, agrees to the same or substantially 
similar restrictions and conditions that apply to Experian Health under this BAA. 

 
2.2.3 Data Aggregation Services. Experian Health may use PHI to provide Data Aggregation Services as permitted by the 

HIPAA Rules. 
 

247/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
9/8/2020 10:21:07 AM       Document #00054874.0 

11 

2.2.4 De-Identified Data. Experian Health may use De-Identified Data for any purpose. 
 
2.2.5 Reporting to Customer. Experian Health shall report to Customer, within the time period required by the HIPAA Rules and 

applicable state law, any use or disclosure of PHI not provided for by this BAA of which it becomes aware, including all 
breaches of Unsecured PHI. 

 
2.3 Disclosures of Protected Health Information: 

 
2.3.1 Disclosure to Workforce. Experian Health may disclose PHI to members of its “Workforce” (as such terms is defined under 

HIPAA at 45 CFR 160.103, as amended), solely for the purposes of performing its obligations under the Agreement, this 
BAA, and as necessary for Experian Health’s proper management and administration. 

 
2.3.2 Disclosure to Subcontractors. If Experian Health carries out any of its duties under the Agreement through a 

subcontractor whose duties, by their nature, involve use, custody, disclosure, or creation of, or afford access to, PHI, there 
shall be a written contract for such work and the contract shall contain substantially the same restrictions and conditions 
that apply to Experian Health as a business associate under the HIPAA Rules. 

 
2.3.3 Disclosure to Third Parties. Experian Health shall not disclose PHI to any other person or entity except as provided herein, 

as permitted by the Agreement, as permitted or Required by Law, or as approved by Customer. 
 

2.4 Access to Protected Health Information and Designated Record Sets. If Customer does not already have in its possession a 
patient’s PHI in a Designated Record Set, Experian Health shall provide copies to Customer of all or a portion of the PHI in the 
Designated Record Set then in Experian Health’s possession without unreasonable delay following receipt of Customer’s written 
request in order for Customer to: (a) make the PHI in the Designated Record Set available in accordance with 45 CFR Part 164.524 
and (b) amend the PHI in the Designated Record Set in accordance with 45 CFR Part 164.526. If an Individual requests access to, or 
an amendment of, the PHI in a Designated Record Set such request shall be the responsibility of Customer. Experian Health may 
charge Customer additional fees for any requests made under this Section 2.4. 

 
2.5 Accounting of Disclosures. Upon written notice by Customer to Experian Health that it has received a request for an accounting of 

disclosures of PHI regarding an Individual during the six (6) years prior to the date on which the accounting was requested, Experian 
Health shall make available, without unreasonable delay, to Customer such information then in Experian Health’s possession, custody 
or control (including such information, if any, in the possession, custody or control of Experian Health’s subcontractors) that is required 
for Customer to make the accounting required by 45 CFR Section 164.528. Experian Health may charge Customer additional fees for 
any requests made under this Section 2.5. 

 
2.6 Security Rule. Experian Health shall implement Administrative, Physical and Technical Safeguards that reasonably and appropriately 

protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of ePHI that Experian Health creates, receives, maintains or transmits on behalf of 
Customer as more fully set forth in the Experian Health OneSource Security Guide and policies published on Experian Health’s 
website. Experian Health shall report to Customer any Successful Security Incident involving Customer’s ePHI of which it becomes 
aware to the extent required by HIPAA Rules and as set forth at Section 2.10 below. To the extent required by the HITECH Act, 
Experian Health shall implement the safeguards, policies, procedures and documentation required by 45 CFR 164.308, 164.310, 
164.312 and 164.316. 

 
2.7 Disclosure to U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. To the extent required by the Privacy Rule, Experian Health shall 

make its internal practices, books and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI available to the Secretary to the extent required 
for determining Customer’s compliance with the HIPAA Rules. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no attorney-client, accountant-client or 
other legal privilege shall be deemed waived by Experian Health by virtue of this Section. 

 
2.8 Retention of PHI; Return/Destruction of PHI. Upon termination or expiration of the Agreement, Experian Health and its 

subcontractors shall, if commercially feasible, return or certify as destroyed all of Customer’s PHI (excluding any archival copies) that 
Experian Health has in its possession, if any. If such return or destruction is not commercially feasible, as determined by Experian 
Health in its sole discretion, the Parties agree that the requirements of this BAA shall survive termination of the Agreement and that 
Experian Health shall limit all further uses and disclosures of PHI to those purposes that make the return or destruction of such PHI 
infeasible. This Section 2.8 shall survive the termination or expiration of this BAA. 

 
2.9 Transaction Rule. Experian Health and Customer acknowledge that nothing in the Agreement or this BAA is intended to modify or 

violate the requirements contained in 45 CFR Part 162.915, as amended from time to time. 
 
2.10 Security Incidents. If Experian Health becomes aware of any Successful Security Incidents, Experian Health shall report the same 

in writing to Customer within 15 business days of such Successful Security Incident.  The Parties acknowledge and agree that this 
Section 2.10 constitutes notice by Experian Health to Customer of the ongoing existence and occurrence or attempts of Unsuccessful 
Security Incidents for which no additional notice shall be required.  

 
2.11 Duty to Mitigate. Experian Health and Customer agree to use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate, to the extent practicable, 

any harmful effects that become known to either Party related to the use or disclosure of PHI not provided for in this BAA. 
 
2.12 Data Breach. If Experian Health discovers, as determined in accordance with 45 C.F.R. § 164.410, that a Breach of Unsecured PHI 

of Customer has occurred or may have occurred, Experian Health shall notify Customer of the identification of each Individual who 
has been or is reasonably believed to have been affected by the Breach, along with any other information that Customer as a Covered 
Entity will be required to include its notification of the Individual under the HITECH Act and its implementing regulations, to the extent 
known or reasonably available to Experian Health.  

 
3. PROHIBITED USES AND DISCLOSURES. 
 

248/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
9/8/2020 10:21:07 AM       Document #00054874.0 

12 

3.1 Fundraising & Marketing. Experian Health shall not use or disclose PHI for fundraising or Marketing purposes unless permitted by 
the HIPAA Rules and the Agreement. 

 
3.2 Restrictions. Customer shall not request, and Experian Health shall not disclose, PHI to a health plan for payment or Health Care 

Operations purposes if the Individual has requested this special restriction, and Customer has informed Experian Health in writing of 
this request, and the Individual has paid out of pocket in full for the health care item or service to which the PHI solely relates, as 
required by 45 C.F.R. 164.522. 

 
3.3 Remuneration. Experian Health shall not directly or indirectly receive remuneration in exchange for PHI, unless Experian Health 

obtains a valid authorization from the Individual including specifications of whether the PHI can be further exchanged for remuneration 
by the receiving entity or as permitted by the HITECH Act, described in 45 C.F.R. 164.502 and 45 C.F.R. 164.508. Experian Health 
shall not directly or indirectly receive payment in exchange for making certain communications to individuals about a non-healthcare 
related or third-party product or service that encourages the recipient to purchase or use the product or service unless (i) the 
communication describes only a drug or biologic that is currently being prescribed for the recipient of the communication or (ii) 
Customer obtained a valid authorization from the Individual. However, Experian Health can make such a communication on behalf of 
Customer within the scope of the Agreement.  

 
4. CUSTOMER OBLIGATIONS. Customer agrees to obtain and maintain consent(s) and/or authorization(s), if required under applicable law, to 

permit Customer to disclose PHI to Experian Health as provided in the Agreement, including without limitation relating to prescription drugs. 
Customer shall provide Experian Health with a current list of designated representatives who shall be the only Customer representatives with 
authority to access PHI. Customer shall notify Experian Health in writing within 48 hours if any designated representatives are no longer 
employed by Customer or no longer should be allowed access to PHI. Customer shall notify Experian Health in writing of any limitations in its 
notice of privacy practices in accordance with Section 164.520 of the Privacy Rule if such limitation may affect Experian Health’s use or disclosure 
of PHI. Customer shall notify Experian Health in writing of any changes in, or revocation of, permission by an individual to use or disclose PHI, 
if such changes may affect Experian Health’s use or disclosure of PHI. Customer shall notify Experian Health in writing of any restriction on the 
use or disclosure of PHI that Customer has agreed to in accordance with Section 164.522 of the Privacy Rule or under the HITECH ACT if such 
restriction may affect Experian Health’s use of disclosure of PHI. Customer shall only use and/or disclose the Minimum Necessary PHI needed 
for Experian Health to provide the Products and Services in accordance with the HITECH Act and the Privacy Rule. 

 
5. TERMINATION. If either Party materially defaults in the performance of any of its duties or obligations under this BAA and such default is not 

cured within 30 days after written notice is given by the non-defaulting Party to the defaulting Party specifying the default, the non-defaulting 
Party may at its option terminate this BAA as of a date specified in the notice of termination (the “Termination Date”), which Termination Date 
must be after the date of the notice of termination. Upon Experian Health’s knowledge of a material violation of the HIPAA Rules by Customer, 
Experian Health shall provide notice and an opportunity for Customer to end the violation and may terminate this BAA if Customer does end the 
violation within 15 days of receipt of notice from Experian Health.  

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Experian Health may immediately suspend its performance of the Products and Services upon written notice to 
Customer if in Experian Health’s reasonable good faith judgment any Products and Services are being used contrary to the Agreement or this 
BAA. Experian Health may suspend such performance until Customer delivers to Experian Health an adequate assurance of future performance 
by Customer in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Agreement and this BAA. If Customer is unable to provide such assurance or 
to cure such contrary use within five (5) days of Experian Health’s written notice of suspension, Experian Health may terminate this BAA and/or 
the Agreement immediately upon written notice to Customer. 

 
6. CONFLICT WITH AGREEMENT; AMENDMENT. The Parties agree that any ambiguity in this BAA shall be resolved in favor of a meaning that 

permits the Parties to comply with HIPAA. If there is a conflict between the terms of this BAA and the terms of the Agreement, the terms of this 
BAA shall control. All of the other terms and conditions contained in the Agreement and not specifically amended hereby remain in full force and 
effect. If there is an inconsistency between the provisions of this BAA, the HIPAA Rules, the HIPAA Rules shall control. Where provisions of this 
BAA are different than those mandated in the HIPAA Rules but are permitted by the HIPAA Rules, the provisions of this BAA shall control. If 
there are subsequent changes or clarifications to the HIPAA or Privacy Rule the Parties will negotiate in good faith to amend this BAA to comply 
with such changes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if such changes or clarifications materially affect Experian Health, Experian Health may 
terminate the Agreement and this BAA by giving Customer at least 30 days’ prior written notice. 

 
7. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES. Nothing express or implied in this BAA is intended to confer, nor shall anything herein confer, upon any 

person other than the Parties and the respective successors and assigns of the Parties any rights, remedies, obligations, or liabilities whatsoever. 
 
8. DISCLAIMERS. IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, EXEMPLARY, INCIDENTAL, 

CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS BAA OR ANY BREACH OF THIS BAA, INCLUDING, 
WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES TO BUSINESS REPUTATION, LOST PROFITS, LOST DATA, BUSINESS INTERRUPTIONS OR OTHER 
ECONOMIC LOSS ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS BAA. THE DISCLAIMERS SET FORTH IN THIS SECTION SHALL APPLY 
WHETHER OR NOT FORSEEABLE, HOWEVER CAUSED, AND EVEN IF THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF 
SUCH DAMAGES.  

 
9. LIABILITIES. Customer agrees that Experian Health’s total aggregate liability under this BAA, from any cause whatsoever, and regardless of 

the form of action, whether in contract or in tort, including negligence, will be limited to the lesser of (1) the total amount payable for the Products 
and Services during the 12 months before the cause of action arose or (2) the damages incurred. Customer covenants that it will not sue 
Experian Health for any amount greater than such liability cap. Customer acknowledges that Sections 8 and 9 apply to the maximum extent 
permitted by applicable law and represent a fair allocation of the risk based on the prices Experian Health charges for the Products and Services. 

  

249/250



EHI New Customer Agreement-Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
9/8/2020 10:21:07 AM       Document #00054874.0 

13 

SCHEDULE B 
STATEMENT OF WORK 

 
(attached) 

 

250/250


	Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 16
	Federal Response to Liquidity Concerns
	Nat’l Health Expenditures Continue to Rise *
	Appendix�
	EMPLOYEE POLICIES-POLITICAL ACTIVITY
	Attachments
	new workplace violence policy
	Overall Turnover - Through August 2020 - UPDATED.pdf

